## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-15-2024 1:00 PM

# Sex Differences in Health Service Use for Mental and Substance Use Disorders Among Methamphetamine Users

Priyadarshini Thandrasisla, Western University

Supervisor: Silverman, Michael S., *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Coleman, Brenda L., *Sinai Health, Toronto* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Epidemiology and Biostatistics © Priyadarshini Thandrasisla 2024

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd





This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Thandrasisla, Priyadarshini, "Sex Differences in Health Service Use for Mental and Substance Use Disorders Among Methamphetamine Users" (2024). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 10423.

https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/10423

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## Abstract

Methamphetamine and associated health service use are rising globally, with psychiatric complications that may impact women and men differently. However, there are no recent population-level estimates of mental health and addictions (MHA) service use among methamphetamine users. This thesis explores the relationship between methamphetamine use and MHA service use across Ontario from 2017 to 2019 by identifying methamphetamine users through drug screen results and identifies differences in psychiatric health service use between women and men who use methamphetamine. Service use was higher in people with a positive test compared to those with a negative test, sex affected the relationship between methamphetamine use and MHA service use differently across psychiatric diagnostic categories, and men were at higher risk of MHA ED visits and hospitalizations compared to women. Sex did not affect the risk of outpatient visits or length of hospitalization. These findings can guide health system planning and harm reduction efforts.

## Keywords

Methamphetamine; amphetamine; mental health and addictions; sex; health service utilization; Ontario

## Summary for Lay Audience

Methamphetamine is a stimulant with significant health harms and its use is on the rise in Canada and internationally. This is also accompanied by a rise in mental health and addictions (MHA) service use for methamphetamine-related harms, including psychiatric complications such as depression and psychosis. Furthermore, evidence suggests that psychiatric complications of methamphetamine users can vary by sex, with authors of studies reporting that women who use methamphetamine may experience higher levels of mood and anxiety disorders, whereas more men may experience psychotic disorders. However, no studies report population-level findings on the rates of MHA service use associated with methamphetamine in Ontario and whether sex affects the rate of use. Therefore, this thesis aimed to understand: 1) the rate of mental health service use - including outpatient visits, ED visits, hospitalizations, and diagnostic categories 2) effect modification by sex on the rates of MHA service use, and 3) the sociodemographic and clinical factors associated with MHA use and total length of inpatient stay, within 12 months following a positive methamphetamine screen. Ontarians who had a methamphetamine/amphetamine urine/serum screen in 2017 or 2018 were identified through the Ontario Laboratory Information System (OLIS), a database with lab results for patients across Ontario. These individuals were included in the cohort and followed for 365 days to determine their rate of MHA service use, and for women and men in the cohort separately. Overall, service use was higher in people with a positive test compared to those with a negative test. Sex was identified as an effect modifier in the relationship between methamphetamine use and MHA service use across different psychiatric diagnostic categories. Men were at higher risk of MHA ED visits and hospitalizations compared to women. Sex did not affect the risk of outpatient visits or length of hospitalization. More information is needed on the effect of other sociodemographic on service use, including rurality and income quintile. These findings highlight the need for more research on the needs of methamphetamine users to guide health programming and interventions for harm reduction.

## Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank my co-supervisors, Dr. Michael Silverman and Dr. Brenda Coleman for their guidance and support during the completion of my project. I would like to thank Dr. Silverman for not only providing his clinical expertise and for giving me the opportunity to grow outside of my thesis by working on manuscripts, presentations, and project design, but also for his mentorship, kind words, and encouragement throughout. I would like to thank Dr. Coleman for providing her epidemiological expertise that was the foundation of this project and for always pushing me to do my best.

Next, I would like to extend thanks to Dr. Kelly Anderson for her support while I navigated and set up my project as an ICES student, without whom this project would not have been possible. I am also extending a thank you to Dr. Yun-Hee Choi for providing her statistical expertise every step of the way. A special thanks also goes out to Melody Lam from ICES, who provided feedback throughout the dataset creation process.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family for their continued emotional support throughout this process. To my friends – thank you for providing a shoulder to lean on and an ear to listen while I navigated this process. To my family – for your excitement and for always cheering me on throughout my education.

# Table of Contents

Abstractii
Summary for Lay Audienceiii
Acknowledgmentsiv
Table of Contents
List of Tablesix
List of Appendices
Chapter 11
1 Introduction
1.1 Overview of Thesis Topic1
1.2 Thesis Rationale and Objectives
1.3 The Role of the Student, Supervisors, and Committee Members
Chapter 2 4
2 Background and Literature Review
2.1 Mechanism of Action
2.2 Methods of Administration
2.3 Epidemiology of Use
2.3.1 Sex-Specific Trends
2.4 Effects of Methamphetamine Use7

		2.4.1	Medicinal Use	7
		2.4.2	Physical Harms	8
		2.4.3	Psychiatric Harms	9
		2.4.4	Treatment	4
	2.5	Correla	ates of Methamphetamine Use1	5
	2.6	Mental	Health Service Use Among Methamphetamine Users 1	6
		2.6.1	Literature Search	6
		2.6.2	Findings1	7
C	hapte	er 3		7
3	Met	thods		7
	3.1	Data S	ources and Record Linkage2	7
	3.2	Measu	res	9
		3.2.1	Outcome Measures	9
		3.2.2	Exposure and Baseline Characteristics	1
	3.3	Statisti	cal Analysis	2
		3.3.1	Descriptive Statistics for Baseline Characteristics	2
		3.3.2	Objective 1: Determining the Rate of MHA Outpatient Visits, ED Visits,	
			and Hospitalizations	3
		3.3.3	Objective 2: Identifying Sex Differences in MHA Service Use	6
		3.3.4	Objective 3: Identifying Factors Associated with MHA Service Use and	
			Total Length of Hospitalization	6

4	Res	ults		. 38
	4.1	Descri	ption of the Cohort	. 38
		4.1.1	Sociodemographic Characteristics	. 38
		4.1.2	Prevalent Mental Disorders and Prior Positive Tests	. 40
		4.1.3	Death Within the Cohort	. 45
	4.2	Object	ive 1: Rates of MHA Service Use	. 45
		4.2.1	Outpatient Service Use	. 45
		4.2.2	Emergency Department Use	. 46
		4.2.3	Hospitalizations	. 46
		4.2.4	Diagnostic Categories of MHA Visits	. 50
	4.3	Object	ive 2: Identifying Sex Differences in MHA Service Use	. 52
		4.3.1	Outpatient Use	. 52
		4.3.2	Emergency Department Use	. 53
		4.3.3	Hospitalizations	. 54
		4.3.4	Diagnostic Categories of MHA Visits	. 57
	4.4	Object	ive 3: Identifying Factors Associated with MHA Service Use and Total	
		LOS		. 64
		4.4.1	Factors Associated with MHA Service Use	. 64
		4.4.2	Factors Associated with Total LOS	. 65
5	Dis	cussion		. 67
	5.1	Summ	ary and Interpretation of Findings	. 67

	5.1.1	Sociodemographic Characteristics	57
	5.1.2	Objective 1: Rate of MHA Service Use	71
	5.1.3	Objective 2: Sex Differences in MHA Service Use	78
	5.1.4	Objective 3: Factors Associated with MHA Service Use and Total LOS 8	32
5.2	Study	Strengths 8	35
5.3	Study	Limitations	36
5.4	Implic	ations and Future Directions	37
5.5	Ackno	wledgements	38
Refere	nces		<del>)</del> 0
Appen	dices		18
Curric	ulum V	itae	31

# List of Tables

Table 4.1 Baseline sociodemographic, clinical characteristics, and standardized differences of
the cohort by exposure group. Standardized differences $> 0.10$ indicated a meaningful
difference between groups. Column percentages are reported for categorical factors
Table 4.2 Baseline sociodemographic, clinical characteristics, and standardized differences of
females and males in the cohort
Table 4.3 Age-adjusted rates (per person-year) and rate ratios of MHA service use by
methamphetamine/amphetamine test result
Table 4.4 Age-adjusted rates and rate ratios of health services use by diagnostic category
within 365 days after index date
Table 4.5 Age-adjusted rates per person-year and rate ratios of MHA service use for women
and men by methamphetamine test result
Table 4.6 Age-adjusted rates (per person-year) and rate ratios of psychiatric complications in
women and men by methamphetamine test result
Table 4.7 Relative risks of MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations for people
with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test
Table 4.8 Factors associated with total length of MHA hospitalization among people with a
positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: Codes used to identify people with a methamphetamine/amphetamine test 118
Appendix B: Codes used to identify and exclude people with stimulant prescription medications
Appendix C: ICD-10 and DSM codes used to define neurodevelopmental disorders 121
Appendix D. ICD-10 and DCM codes used to define substance-induced psychotic disorder.
Appendix E: ICD-10 and DSM codes used to define "other mental disorders" category 125
Appendix F Distribution of ages by methamphetamine/amphetamine test result 129
Appendix G Distribution of ages by sex for each exposure group

## Chapter 1

## 1 Introduction

This chapter provides a brief introduction to the thesis that provides an overview of the thesis topic, outlines its rationale and objectives, and describes the structure of the thesis and role of the student, supervisors, and committee members.

## 1.1 Overview of Thesis Topic

Methamphetamine use contributes to some of the most significant health harms associated with stimulants in Canada, and its use is on the rise.<sup>1</sup> Inpatient hospitalizations due to central nervous system stimulants (including methamphetamine) nearly doubled across Canada between 2007 and 2014<sup>1</sup>. Between 2003 and 2020, Crispo et al.<sup>2</sup> reported a 15-fold increase in the population-based rate of amphetamine-related emergency department (ED) visits in Ontario. Similarly, a recent Manitoba-based study<sup>3</sup> reported that health service contacts in the province due to methamphetamine increased between 2013 and 2018, noting seven-fold increase in methamphetamine-related emergency department (ED) visits and nearly a two-time increase in the rate of hospitalizations. In 2017, an estimated \$200 million in direct health care costs in Canada were due to stimulant use, including methamphetamine.<sup>1</sup>

Increasing trends have also been seen in the United States (US): The National Surveys on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) found that from 2015 to 2019, methamphetamine use in the US doubled among men and tripled among women.<sup>4</sup> Furthermore, from 2015 to 2019, there was a 43% increase in the number of people reporting past-year methamphetamine use and a 66% increase in the number of methamphetamine users who reported frequent use.<sup>4</sup>

In addition to physical harms such as arrhythmias, tooth decay, blood infections, and skin abscesses,<sup>5–8</sup> methamphetamine use is associated with increased psychiatric harms such as depression, suicidality, self-neglect, hostility, and symptoms of psychosis, including

hallucinations and delusions.<sup>9,10</sup> These psychiatric harms lead to increased methamphetamine-related mental health service use.<sup>11–17</sup>

Although the scientific literature broadly describes the risks of methamphetamine use in different population subgroups, these studies often have predominantly male participants, and few explore sex differences in prevalence of use and psychiatric diagnoses of methamphetamine users. Studies that do investigate sex differences in mental health presentations among methamphetamine users report conflicting findings, with some finding no differences in mental disorders between male and female users and others reporting more severe psychiatric symptoms among females than males.<sup>18,19</sup>

## 1.2 Thesis Rationale and Objectives

Despite the mental health effects of methamphetamine use and documented increases in methamphetamine use in recent years, there is a lack of recent literature estimating mental health and addictions (MHA)-related health service use by methamphetamine users. Furthermore, there is minimal information investigating sex differences in mental health service use among methamphetamine users. Therefore, this thesis had the following objectives:

1) What was the rate of mental health service use – including outpatient visits, ED visits, hospitalizations, and diagnostic categories – within 12 months following a positive methamphetamine screen?

2 Was there effect modification by sex on the rates of mental health service use within 12 months following a positive methamphetamine screen?

3) What were the sociodemographic and clinical factors associated with mental health outpatient visits, ED visits, hospitalizations, and total length of inpatient stay within 12 months following a positive methamphetamine screen?

# 1.3 The Role of the Student, Supervisors, and Committee Members

The data for this project was obtained from ICES, formerly known as the Institute of Clinical Evaluative Sciences, which is a not-for-profit organization that houses clinical and administrative health service data of patients across Ontario. This thesis is part of a larger project aimed at identifying methamphetamine users in the health administrative data and describing their medical, psychiatric, and health service-related outcomes. I created a project proposal and dataset creation plan – based on the methods of the larger project – where I outlined the background and rationale behind the project, outlined the required databases, defined the outcome measures and exposures, and described my analysis plan. My supervisors and committee members evaluated these documents and provided important feedback which guided my project design. My co-supervisor, Dr. Silverman, provided clinical expertise which helped me describe the background and rationale of the project, define my objectives, and select clinically relevant inclusion and exclusion criteria, exposure variables, and outcomes of interest. My co-supervisor, Dr. Coleman, provided expertise and feedback throughout my project, from project design and proposal creation to statistical analysis. As the responsible ICES scientist on my project, Dr. Anderson also provided key information and feedback on the design of my project and proposal submission to ICES. Upon consultation with Dr. Choi to ensure the appropriateness and feasibility of my statistical methods, I proposed a data analysis plan that was approved my co-supervisors and Dr. Anderson. Melody Lam, an analytic epidemiologist at ICES, created the dataset necessary for completion of this project. Upon receiving feedback from my co-supervisors and committee members, I ran the statistical analyses and described the results. All supervisors and committee members gave feedback on the writing and content of this thesis.

## Chapter 2

## 2 Background and Literature Review

This chapter will explore methamphetamine's pharmacology, followed by its adverse effects and epidemiology of use. Section 2.1 explains its mechanism of action on the central nervous system (CNS), followed by section 2.2 which explains the common methods of administration. Section 2.3 explores the epidemiology of methamphetamine use globally, in Canada, and in the United States. Section 2.4 describes physical and psychiatric harms of methamphetamine use. Section 2.5 describes the correlates of methamphetamine use identified in prior research studies, and finally, section 2.6 details systematic literature search to understand the current knowledge on mental health service use among methamphetamine users and identify the current gaps in literature.

### 2.1 Mechanism of Action

Methamphetamine is a potent psychostimulant used medically as a treatment for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), weight loss, and narcolepsy. However, it is also known for its euphoric and addictive properties. As a derivative of amphetamine, methamphetamine is sometimes referred to by the generic term 'amphetamine' or 'amphetamine-type stimulant'.<sup>20</sup> Methamphetamine acts on nerve endings to promote the release of neurotransmitters dopamine, serotonin, and norepinephrine, and prevents their reuptake into cells, causing intense euphoria.<sup>21,22</sup> Once its effects wear off, methamphetamine must be retaken to experience its highs.

## 2.2 Methods of Administration

Methamphetamine comes in three forms: powder, pills, and crystals, and can be administered for illicit use through smoking, injecting, snorting, or oral ingestion.<sup>23</sup> Smoking, injection, and snorting are the most common methods of illicit administration, reported by 66%, 24%, and 10% of users, respectively.<sup>23</sup> Smoking and injection provide the most rapid, intense, and short-lived highs, while snorting and oral ingestion provide slower, less intense highs.<sup>23</sup>

## 2.3 Epidemiology of Use

According to the United Nations (UN) World Drug Report 2022, there were an estimated 34 million people aged 15 to 64 years around the world who used amphetamine-type stimulants in 2020, the majority of whom used amphetamines or methamphetamines.<sup>24</sup> According the UN report, amphetamine use (including methamphetamine and prescription amphetamine stimulants) is estimated to be most prevalent in North America (3.9% of the population), followed by Australia and New Zealand (1.3%), Europe (~0.5%), Asia, and Africa (both ~0.4%).<sup>24</sup> While the global prevalence of past-year use in 2020 was similar to past-year use in 2010, (34 million versus 33 million, or 0.7% of the global population in both years), North American past-year use of amphetamine has increased from 1.3% of the population in 2010 to 3.9% in 2020.<sup>24</sup>

Recent population surveys suggest that the prevalence of methamphetamine use has been increasing among Canadians: the Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey reported that the past-year use of methamphetamine among people aged 15 years and older increased from 0.2% in 2015 to 0.5% in 2019.<sup>25</sup> Furthermore, among the general Canadian population aged 15 years and older, 2019 estimates indicated that both past-year and lifetime prevalence of methamphetamine use was higher among men compared to women (past year-use: 0.8% of all males versus 0.1% of all females; lifetime use: 4.1% of males versus 2.3% of females).<sup>25</sup> Methamphetamine is also a commonly used drug used among persons who inject drugs (PWIDs): authors of the Tracks Survey of people who inject drugs in Canada, 2017-2019 reported that 43% of PWIDs reported methamphetamine use within the past six months.<sup>26</sup>

Surveys also suggest that prevalence of methamphetamine use in the US has increased between 2015 and 2020. The results of the 2015 and 2021 NSDUH surveys indicate that the prevalence of past-year methamphetamine use among Americans aged 12 and older increased from 0.6% (0.9% of men and 0.4% women) in 2014 to 0.9% (1.2% of men and

0.7% of women) in 2020.<sup>27</sup> Past-year use also increased with older age – in 2020, 0.1% of youth aged 12 to 17 years reported methamphetamine use, while this estimate increased to 0.5% of adults aged 18 to 25 and 1.1% of adults aged 26 years and older.<sup>27</sup>

Harms arising from methamphetamine use are also on the rise. In Canada, methamphetamine use was associated with 44% and 53% of apparent stimulant toxicity-related deaths in 2018 and 2022, respectively.<sup>28</sup> In Ontario, the Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario estimated that methamphetamine contributed to 14 deaths in 2012, which increased to 217 deaths in 2017.<sup>29</sup> Similarly, methamphetamine overdose deaths doubled from 2.1 per 100,000 Americans in 2015 to 5.6 per 100,000 in 2019 as per data from the Centers for Disease Control.<sup>30</sup> Notably, it is thought that increases in fentanyl contaminants in the methamphetamine supply may have contributed to the increase in methamphetamine-related deaths.<sup>31, 32</sup>

#### 2.3.1 Sex-Specific Trends

The Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction telephone survey estimated that women made up 11% of all methamphetamine users in 2019. However, in other Canadian studies that recruiting from harm reduction sites or health care centres, women made up 35% of methamphetamine users.<sup>33,34</sup> This difference may be due to differences in study designs, with women being reluctant to disclose use on a telephone survey. It is also possible that a larger proportion of female drug users use harm reduction services and health services compared to men, leading to a larger proportion of women users being represented in these studies. Bach et al.<sup>35</sup> reported that methamphetamine use is also on the rise in both men and women. Their Vancouver study of 1,030 crystal methamphetamine use to good and 2017 (19% to 36% p<.001). Women reported a significant 22% increase in crystal methamphetamine use (14% of women in 2006 versus 36% in 2016, p <.001), while men reported a smaller but still statistically significant 15% increase (22% to 37%, p <.001).

Notably, in younger age groups, women may represent a larger proportion of methamphetamine users. In Manitoba between 2013 and 2018, nearly all

methamphetamine users aged 10 to 14 were female.<sup>3</sup> This trend continued in other age groups: females aged 15 to 19 years made up over 5% of methamphetamine users, while males in the same age group only made up 3% of users. Females aged 20-24 years made up over 10% of all methamphetamine users while males in the same age bracket made up less than 10%.<sup>3</sup> However, males accounted for the majority of users aged 25 years and older. In the US, the 2021 NSDUH surveyed 279,844 adults (51% women) regarding drug use and reported that among all Americans aged 12 years and older, women made up 37% of people who reported past-year methamphetamine use.<sup>27</sup> However, women made up 41% of methamphetamine users between the ages of 12 and 17 and 53% of methamphetamine users aged 18 to 25, and this percentage decreased to women only making up 33% of users among adults 18 and older, and 35% of adults 26 years and older. This potential trend between sex and age of methamphetamine users should be further studied.

### 2.4 Effects of Methamphetamine Use

This section describes the effects of methamphetamine use beginning with its medicinal uses, followed by brief descriptions of physical effects, focusing on cardiovascular harms, blood-borne infections and sexually transmitted infections, and tooth decay. Finally, the psychiatric harms that arise from illicit methamphetamine use will be described in further detail.

#### 2.4.1 Medicinal Use

While well-known for their recreational uses, amphetamines can be prescribed to treat ADHD. For example, methamphetamine is prescribed as a treatment for ADHD in the United States under the brand name Desoxyn.<sup>36</sup> Besides Desoxyn, other amphetamines are also prescribed by health care providers for ADHD, including Adderall (amphetamine salts), and Vyvanse (lisdexamfetamine).<sup>36</sup> Amphetamines can be used to treat obesity and promote weight loss: two examples of drugs used for this purpose include Desoxyn (approved to treat obesity, although rarely prescribed today) and Phentermine.<sup>37</sup> Finally, amphetamines like Adderall and Vyvanse can also be prescribed to treat excessive

daytime sleepiness experienced by patients with narcolepsy.<sup>38</sup> These drugs' side effects include decreased appetite, decreased fatigue, increased heart rate, dry mouth, and anxiety.<sup>36</sup>

#### 2.4.2 Physical Harms

#### 2.4.2.1 Cardiovascular Harms

Methamphetamine use is associated with cardiovascular harms. Excluding overdose and accident-related deaths, the number one cause of death among methamphetamine users is cardiovascular complications. Short-term use of methamphetamine increases heart rate and blood pressure, causes vasoconstriction, and can also lead to cardiac arrythmias.<sup>6,5</sup> Young people with a history of methamphetamine abuse have an elevated risk of myocardial infarction compared to their counterparts who do not use methamphetamine.<sup>5</sup> Chronic methamphetamine use is also associated with other serious cardiovascular conditions such as atherosclerotic plaque formation, pulmonary hypertension, and dilated cardiomyopathy, <sup>5</sup> as well as a 2-5-time increased risk of hemorrhagic stroke.<sup>39, 40</sup> Swor et al. found that compared to patients who had experienced an intracerebral hemorrhage, methamphetamine use was associated with significantly younger age of stroke onset and longer hospital stays.<sup>41</sup>

## 2.4.2.2 Blood-Borne Infections (BBIs) and Sexually Transmitted Diseases (STDs)

Illicit methamphetamine use is associated with an increased risk of acquiring blood-borne infections (BBIs) due to unsafe injection practices and increased risky behaviour among users. Unsafe needle sharing and unsterile injections can increase the risk of BBIs including human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus (HBV and HCV) among methamphetamine users.<sup>42</sup> Bacterial and fungal contaminants in the drug supply increase the risk of acquiring infectious diseases like infective endocarditis and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) soft tissue and skin infections among persons who inject methamphetamine.<sup>43</sup> Tactile hallucinations can cause users to have a sensation of insects crawling over their skin, leading to persistent

itching and scratching, open wounds, and skin abscesses that become infected with bacteria including MRSA and methicillin-susceptible *S. aureus*.<sup>7</sup> Methamphetamine's effects on mood also increases users' risky sexual behaviour (such as sex without a condom and multiple sexual partners),<sup>44</sup> increasing the risk of acquiring sexually transmitted infections and diseases (STIs and STDs) such as HIV, chlamydia, syphilis, and gonorrhea.<sup>45, 46</sup>

## 2.4.2.3 Tooth Decay

Methamphetamine misuse causes severe tooth decay informally known as 'meth mouth'. One key feature of this condition is dry mouth. The reduction in saliva and its enzymes are thought to leave teeth vulnerable to cavities and decay.<sup>8</sup> 'Meth mouth' also involves severe teeth grinding which wears down enamel and can lead to cracked, loose, or missing teeth.<sup>8</sup> Methamphetamine's acidic components can also dissolve enamel, leaving teeth vulnerable to cavities and infections.<sup>47</sup> Methamphetamine use also causes sugar cravings and consequent increased consumption of high sugar foods and drinks, leading to greater acid secretion by oral bacteria that further damages enamel.<sup>8, 47</sup> Gum disease is commonly seen in people who use methamphetamine; chronic methamphetamine use leads to severe gum disease, black, rotting teeth, and ultimately, tooth loss.<sup>8, 47</sup>

#### 2.4.3 Psychiatric Harms

Through its stimulation of the CNS, methamphetamine causes intense euphoria, alertness, and energy for 6 to 12 hours after use.<sup>6</sup> Acute use of the drug can cause irritability, agitation, aggression, violence, and increased sex drive.<sup>2024-09-26</sup> 11:59:00 AM

Chronic methamphetamine use is associated with anxiety, depression, insomnia, hallucinations, and paranoia.<sup>48</sup> Methamphetamine use can also cause significant damage to episodic memory and executive function, causing problems in long-term memory recall, distractedness, and impulsive behaviour.<sup>49</sup>

#### 2.4.3.1 Methamphetamine Use Disorder

Methamphetamine use disorder is diagnosed by a set of criteria for substance use disorders outlined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5). The DSM-5 classifies methamphetamine as a general "amphetamine-type substance". Furthermore, methamphetamine use disorder falls under the larger category of "stimulant use disorders" outlined by the DSM-5. Unlike the DSM-IV that separated diagnoses of stimulant abuse and stimulant dependence, the DSM-5 combined these two categories into a single diagnosis referred to as stimulant use disorder.<sup>50,51</sup>

Stimulant use disorder is defined in the DSM-5 by the following criteria:

- "The stimulant is often taken in larger amounts and over a longer period than was intended.
- 2) There is a persistent desire or unsuccessful efforts to cut down or control stimulant use.
- A great deal of time is spent in activities necessary to obtain the stimulant, use the stimulant, or recover from its effects.
- 4) Craving, or a strong desire to use the stimulant.
- 5) Recurrent stimulant use resulting in a failure to fulfil major role obligations at work, school, or home.
- Continued stimulant use despite having persistent or recurrent social or interper-sonal problems caused or exacerbated by the effects of the stimulant.
- Important social, occupational, or recreational activities are given up or reduced be-cause of stimulant use.
- 8) Recurrent substance use in situations in which it is physically hazardous.
- 9) Substance use is continued despite knowledge of having a persistent or recurrent physical or psychological problem that is likely to have been caused or exacerbated by the substance.
- 10) Tolerance.
- 11) Withdrawal."

The presence of 2-3 of these criteria over a 12-month period meets the threshold for diagnosis with a mild stimulant use disorder, meeting 4-5 of these criteria is classified as moderate stimulant use disorder, and 6 or more is classified as having a severe stimulant use disorder.<sup>51</sup>

For the purposes of describing studies in this literature review, the use of the terms "methamphetamine dependence" and "methamphetamine abuse" will be used as they appeared in their original publications and defined if necessary.

#### 2.4.3.2 Methamphetamine-Induced Psychosis

A well-known consequence of methamphetamine use is methamphetamine-induced psychosis, which affects an estimated 26% to 46% of methamphetamine-dependent users.<sup>52</sup> According to the DSM-5,<sup>50</sup> substance-induced psychotic disorder can be diagnosed when an individual reports:

- 1) "Prominent hallucinations or delusions;
- Hallucinations or delusions develop during or within a month of intoxication or withdrawal from a substance or medication known to cause psychotic symptoms;
- Psychotic symptoms are not actually part of a psychotic disorder (such as schizophrenia, schizophreniform disorder, schizoaffective disorder) that is not substance-induced (i.e., if psychotic symptom onset was prior to substance or medication use, or persists longer than one month after substance intoxication or withdrawal, then another psychotic disorder is likely);
- 4) Psychotic symptoms do not only occur during a delirium; and
- 5) The symptoms cause significant social, occupational, or other forms of distress or impairment that impact important areas of functioning."

Methamphetamine-induced psychosis can lead to violence, delusions, and visual and tactile hallucinations.<sup>48,53</sup> More specifically, methamphetamine users can experience 1) paranoid delusions, the belief that a group or person is attempting to harm them; or 2) grandiose delusions, the belief that they have unique, important powers, wealth, or identity. While less commonly reported, methamphetamine-induced psychosis can also

involve negative affective symptoms including lack of facial expressions and minimal body language.<sup>54</sup>

#### 2.4.3.3 Correlates of Methamphetamine-induced Psychosis

A systematic review by Arunogiri et al.<sup>55</sup> of 20 studies looking at risk factors of methamphetamine-induced psychosis found that both quantity of methamphetamine use and severity of dependence were correlated with psychosis among users.

There is also conflicting evidence regarding the association between a family history of psychosis or substance abuse and the risk of developing methamphetamine-induced psychosis. A study of 37 stimulant users (81% of whom primarily used methamphetamine) found that having a family history of psychosis or family history of schizophrenia is thought to increase an individual's risk of developing methamphetamine-induced psychosis. Ding et al. carried out interviews of 189 adult methamphetamine users in a rehabilitation centre and identified 35.4% who had experienced methamphetamine-related psychosis in their lifetime.<sup>56</sup> They found that adverse childhood experiences – which includes physical abuse, sexual abuse, or having a battered mother, incarcerated household member, or family members experiencing substance abuse - were significantly associated with increased risk of methamphetamineinduced psychosis in adulthood.<sup>56</sup> However, Arunogiri et al. found that 3 out of 5 studies in their systematic review that examined the relationship between family history of psychiatric illness and psychosis found no link, while 2 other studies each identified that family history of psychotic illness and family history of schizophrenia were correlated to persistent psychosis and lifetime substance-induced psychotic disorder, respectively.

## 2.4.3.4 Comorbid Psychiatric Diagnoses Among Methamphetamine Users

The prevalence of comorbid psychiatric conditions (mood disorders, anxiety disorders, and non-substance-related psychotic disorders) among methamphetamine users may be as high as 36% to 48%.<sup>57,58</sup> Among 100 methamphetamine users interviewed in a study by Akindipe et al., 16% reported a current mood disorder.<sup>57</sup> Similarly, Lisa et al.<sup>59</sup>

interviewed 93 methamphetamine users and reported that 14% of them met the DSM-IV criteria for current major depressive disorder. Comparative rates of current depression were found by Glasner-Edwards et al.,<sup>58</sup> who reported that 15% of methamphetamine users met the criteria for current major depressive disorder.

Comorbid anxiety disorders and symptoms have also been reported among people who use methamphetamine. Akindipe et al.<sup>57</sup> found that 7% of methamphetamine users in their study had an anxiety disorder. Other studies have found a higher prevalence of anxiety disorders: for example, Lisa et al.<sup>59</sup> identified that 11.8% of users had comorbid anxiety disorder, 12% had post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and 5% had obsessivecompulsive disorder (OCD). Glasner-Edwards et al.<sup>58</sup> reported an even greater prevalence: 23% of methamphetamine users had a current anxiety disorder, which included generalized anxiety disorder (12% of users), PTSD (6%), and OCD (8%). Despite each of these studies using structured interviews and DSM-IV criteria to identify anxiety disorders, the differences in prevalence estimates indicate the need for further studies to understand the prevalence of anxiety disorders in methamphetamine users.

The prevalence of primary psychotic disorders (such as schizophrenia, schizophreniform disorder, schizoaffective disorder) may range from 4.9% to 13.0%.<sup>58, 57</sup> However, estimating prevalence of primary psychotic disorders in methamphetamine users is challenging due to their similarity in presentation to methamphetamine-induced psychosis – both primary and substance-induced psychotic disorders can involve hallucinations, paranoia, and delusions.

#### 2.4.3.5 Sex Differences in Psychiatric Harms

The 2021 NSDUH<sup>27</sup> reported that 0.6% of Americans aged 12 years and older reported methamphetamine-related substance use disorder. Females were less likely than males to have a substance use disorder of any kind.<sup>27</sup>

Some studies suggest that there are sex differences in psychiatric harms arising from methamphetamine use. Among a sample of 103 men and 25 women in sober living homes who were dependent on methamphetamine, significantly more women reported experiencing symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD), panic disorder, psychosis, somatization, and bulimia than men.<sup>60</sup> Similarly, an interview and survey-based study of methamphetamine-dependent men and women found that significantly more women had PTSD, mental stress disorder, and substance use disorder at discharge compared to men.<sup>61</sup>

Impulsivity is another characteristic associated with methamphetamine use. Cservenka & Ray<sup>62</sup> found that among a community sample of 133 men and 44 women who used methamphetamine, women reported higher levels of impulsivity than men as measured by the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale, although this difference was not statistically significant (p=.07). However, another study found that there were no sex differences in impulsivity among 62 methamphetamine users.<sup>63</sup>

#### 2.4.4 Treatment

Treatment of the psychiatric harms of methamphetamine use can range from verbal reassurance by health care providers or cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), to pharmaceutical treatments that include the use of anxiolytic and antipsychotic prescription medications. Benzodiazepines can be used to manage anxiety and irritation that arises from methamphetamine use. Recent preliminary data suggests that a tapering dose of lisdexamfetamine may be helpful in treating acute methamphetamine withdrawal.<sup>64</sup> Although there are currently no standardized treatments or evidence-based guidelines for the treatment of methamphetamine-induced psychosis, randomized controlled trials have shown that antipsychotics such as haloperidol, olanzapine, risperidone, and quetiapine may be effective at reducing its symptoms.<sup>65, 66, 67</sup>

Addressing symptoms of psychosis in the long-term focuses on reducing methamphetamine use. There are no approved pharmacological treatments for methamphetamine dependence; however, recent studies suggest that mirtazapine, bupropion, and naltrexone may potentially be effective in reducing methamphetamine use.<sup>68, 69, 70</sup> One evidence-based approach to treating methamphetamine dependence is the Matrix Model – a comprehensive outpatient program that includes a combination of individual and family counselling, 12-Step Facilitation, CBT, education, and support

groups for addiction.<sup>71, 72, 73</sup> However, it is resource-intensive, requires a rigid schedule, and is specialist-run.<sup>74</sup> Nevertheless, it is an effective program that is proven to help reduce methamphetamine use among those dependent on the drug.

## 2.5 Correlates of Methamphetamine Use

While there are many studies examining the factors associated with general substance use, there are few that examine the sociodemographic and clinical correlates and factors associated with methamphetamine use. Among youth under 19 years of age, studies report that history of opiate use, alcohol use, smoking, family history of drug use, family history of alcohol abuse, and risky sexual behaviour are associated with methamphetamine use.<sup>75,76</sup> A longitudinal birth cohort study by Boden et al.<sup>77</sup> examined childhood and adulthood predictors of methamphetamine use. Among children and adolescents, being male, reporting attention problems, alcohol use disorder, and deviant peer affiliations were identified as predictors of methamphetamine use in adulthood. Boden et al. identified history of substance use disorder, stress, and unemployment as adult correlates of methamphetamine use.

Similarly, Radatz et al.<sup>78</sup> identified other sociodemographic and behavioural characteristics as factors associated with methamphetamine use. In their 2014 study, they identified that male sex was associated with adolescent methamphetamine use. Another factor associated with adolescent methamphetamine use that they identified was 'community risk': a composite risk factor that includes perceived ease of access to drugs and neighbourhood crime. Furthermore, they identified 'individual risk' as a predictor of methamphetamine use, a composite factor that includes perceived harms of drug use, antisocial behaviour, attitudes towards drug use, and age at initiation into drug use.

Correlates of methamphetamine use among men and women have been identified by various studies. A study of 1,056 PWIDs in Tijuana, Mexico identified a significantly higher proportion of women reported methamphetamine compared to men.<sup>79</sup> Being younger than 35 years of age was correlated with methamphetamine use among women, while being homeless, having sex with another male, and being younger than 35 years of

age were correlates of methamphetamine use among men.<sup>79</sup> One study of 1,984 PWIDs<sup>35</sup> in Vancouver identified sex work, shared syringes, having unprotected sex, and history of experiencing physical violence as being associated with crystal methamphetamine use in both men and women. Past experiences of sexual violence were correlated with methamphetamine use among women, whereas homelessness, having sex with men, and being HIV positive were associated with methamphetamine use among males. In their Chicago-based study, Garofalo et al.<sup>80</sup> reported that risky sexual behaviour, lower selfesteem, and psychological distress were correlates of methamphetamine use among men aged 16 to 24 years who have sex with men.

# 2.6 Mental Health Service Use Among Methamphetamine Users

#### 2.6.1 Literature Search

To understand what is known about mental health service use among methamphetamine users and identify knowledge gaps, a systematic literature search was conducted in June 2023 using PubMed, EMBASE, CINAHL, and PsycINFO databases via the OVID platform. Articles about methamphetamine were identified through the search terms (methamphetamine OR amphetamine). Studies focusing on the psychiatric effects of methamphetamine use were identified through the search terms (mental illness OR mental health OR psych\*). Finally, studies investigating health service use were identified through the search terms (hospitaliz\* OR hospitalis\* OR inpatient OR admission OR outpatient OR visit OR emergency department OR urgent care). These groups of search terms were linked using the AND operator.

All studies focused on methamphetamine/amphetamine-type stimulant users that examined mental health service use outcomes (including history of health service use, number of visits, hospitalizations, and length of stay) were included. The health care settings that were the focus of this search were outpatient clinics, emergency departments (EDs), hospitalizations, and rehabilitation centres. Studies with a pediatric population with a mean participant age less than 12 years were excluded. Interventional studies, case reports, case studies, case series, and studies with animal models were excluded. Studies that focused on non-methamphetamine stimulant use only (eg ecstasy, synthetic cathinones, etc) were excluded. Finally, studies that focused on specific sub-populations such as veterans, infants, or pregnant women only were excluded.

#### 2.6.2 Findings

Seventy-two articles met the inclusion criteria. The majority of studies were based in the United States (n=32) or Australia (n=14). Only 4 studies were Canadian. Other countries represented included Switzerland, Iran, Germany, England, India, and Japan. Most studies relied on diagnostic codes in chart reviews, databases, or self-reported drug use to identify methamphetamine-related presentations. Only 23 studies involved the use of laboratory toxicology screens to identify/confirm methamphetamine use.

Overall, methamphetamine-related mental health service use has been increasing over the past 20 years. Generally, males made up the majority of methamphetamine users in the included studies, whereas female methamphetamine users accounted for larger proportions among younger age groups who used methamphetamine.<sup>81,82</sup> The mean/median ages of methamphetamine users in these studies were between the ages of 30 to 35 years. No studies investigated sex difference in mental health and addictions (MHA) service use specifically or the association between rurality and MHA service use. Factors that were commonly associated with methamphetamine use included younger ages (approximately 20 to 30 years of age), being male, and having low income.<sup>83–85</sup>

#### 2.6.2.1 Outpatient MHA Service Use

Five studies reported outpatient mental health service use-related outcomes. Generally, authors of these studies reported the proportion of the sample with prior outpatient mental health and addiction service use. Population-level rates of outpatient health care use were not reported in any of the included studies, nor were sex differences or trends in outpatient health service use.

Among people with methamphetamine use disorder, authors of one study<sup>86</sup> in a singlepayer public health care system in Taiwan reported that outpatient mental health service use significantly increased post-diagnosis compared to pre-diagnosis. Outpatient mental health service use may also vary among methamphetamine users based on medical specialty: one study of 484 people with methamphetamine dependence found that 34% of patients had seen an outpatient counsellor or psychologist, while only 23% had seen an outpatient psychiatrist.<sup>87</sup> Similarly, among people with amphetamine-related psychosis, only 36% reported past use of community mental health services.<sup>85</sup> Outpatient mental health referrals were only reported by one study: Chivaurah et al.<sup>88</sup> reported that 32.8% of people who presented to an ED with amphetamine-related symptoms were referred to community mental health services.

Use of outpatient mental health services may also vary based on methamphetamine use and prevalent mental health disorders: McKetin et al.<sup>87</sup> found that outpatient mental health service use decreased during periods of high frequency of methamphetamine use.<sup>85</sup> Similarly, those with amphetamine-induced psychosis were less like to have accessed outpatient mental health care compared to those with non-drug psychosis.<sup>85</sup> However, in another study by Lee et al.<sup>89</sup>, methamphetamine users who died by suspected suicide were found to be more likely to have used outpatient psychiatric services in the 3 months prior to their death compared to their living counterparts.

#### 2.6.2.2 Emergency Department Use

The included studies reported that both the proportion of methamphetamine-related ED visits and the proportion of mental health-related ED visits among methamphetamine users are increasing.<sup>83,12,90,86,91</sup>

The included studies found that methamphetamine-related ED visits and MHA-related ED among methamphetamine users have been on the rise. One Australian study<sup>87</sup> of 484 methamphetamine users estimated that methamphetamine led to an additional 29700 to 151800 ED visits in 2013, and that comorbid MHA disorders among methamphetamine users was an important predictor of presentation to EDs. Tardelli et al.<sup>11</sup> reported a 5.5-fold increase in the percentage of amphetamine-related ED visits in Toronto between

2014 and 2021 (1.5% and 8.3%, respectively). The proportion of these visits with a cooccurring MHA disorder increased from 25% to 55%. Authors of a similar study of by Harnett et al. of two EDs in London, England found that the percentage of patients who self-reported methamphetamine use increased 8.5-fold from 2% in 2005 to 16% in 2018.<sup>92</sup> Neuropsychiatric symptoms were the most commonly reported among the cases in this study: agitation (42%), anxiety (35%), hallucinations (17%), and psychosis (15%). An increasing trend in ED visits was also seen in an American study<sup>91</sup> using national ambulatory data: the rate of psychostimulant-related ED visits increased between 2008 and 2018 from 2.2 visits/10,000 population to 12.9 visits/10,000 population, ,with psychiatric concerns accounting for 50% of visits. In Hawaii, there was a significant increase in the percentage of amphetamine-positive patients vising an ED (13% in 2007 to 19% in 2011, p<.001).<sup>83</sup> Importantly, an Australian study also reported a seven-fold increase in the number of amphetamine-related presentations between 2011 and 2015 (24 cases versus 175 cases), with the majority of cases related to psychiatric symptoms/disorders; however, the percentage of cases were not reported by the authors.<sup>93</sup>

The average age of people in these studies typically included individuals who were 30 to 35 years old. Men made up the majority of methamphetamine users who visited the ED and generally, methamphetamine users were more likely to be male.<sup>84,85,94</sup> However, women made up larger proportions of ED visits among younger age groups. For example, McFaull et al.<sup>82</sup> reported that among methamphetamine-related injuries and poisoning cases that presented to a Canadian ED, females made up 71% of visits among those aged 10-14 years, and 64% of those aged 15-19 years.<sup>82</sup> Similarly, in one study<sup>81</sup> of 100 methamphetamine-related presentations to the ED in Australia, over one-quarter of women were in the 21-25 years age group, compared to only 10% of men.

Mental health and addiction-related visits made up an estimated 18% of all methamphetamine-related ED encounters.<sup>95,96,97</sup> The majority of studies only reported demographics of methamphetamine users, however, Indig et al.<sup>98</sup> reported that men with amphetamine-related ED visits were significantly more likely to have an MHA diagnosis compared to women (aOR, 95% CI = 7.9, 6.5-9.7 versus 6.4, 4.8-8.5, respectively). In the included studies, symptoms and disorders most frequently associated with

methamphetamine-related ED presentations included psychotic disorder (12-13%)<sup>84, 93</sup>, psychosis (16-46.6% of presentations)<sup>71,74,78,79</sup>, agitation (28-48% of presentations)<sup>92,95,99,100</sup>, aggression (8-65.7% of presentations)<sup>88,95,98,99,101</sup>, and suicidal ideation (10.5-47% of presentations).<sup>12,95</sup> Common prior mental health diagnoses included personality disorders, schizophrenia, depression, ADHD, bipolar disorder, and anxiety.<sup>81,88,90,96,99,102</sup> The risk of ED presentation was significantly higher among those with previous psychiatric health service use or a documented psychiatric diagnosis.<sup>103,104</sup>

Notably, studies<sup>12,105</sup> report that suicidal ideation and suspected suicide attempts may be significantly increasing among methamphetamine users who present to the ED. Murphy et al.<sup>84</sup> found that among patients with methamphetamine-related presentations, 29% had a history of a suicide attempt. Interestingly, in a study by Pasic et al.<sup>94</sup> of adult methamphetamine users and non-users, self-harm and suicide attempts made up 40% of methamphetamine-related psychiatric ED visits and 67% of non-related visits. In this same study, Pasic et al. found that methamphetamine users who presented to the psychiatric ED were less likely to have a history of suicide attempts compared to patients who did not use methamphetamine. The reasons for this difference were unclear, although it may be due differences in the characteristics of the convenience sample of users and non-users included in the study: significantly more users were male compared to non-users (85% versus 62%), users were significantly younger than non-users (mean age 31.4 years versus 36.9 years, respectively), and significantly fewer users had a past psychiatric diagnosis or hospitalization compared to non-users. In a nested-case control study by Lee et al.,89 nearly 30% of 745 methamphetamine users who died by suicide reported use of ED services within 3 months prior to their deaths – a significantly higher proportion compared to their living age- and sex-matched counterparts. Importantly, women may represent a larger proportion of cases of suicide and self-harm in younger ages: McFaull et al. found that women made up 75% of cases of self-harm among methamphetamine users aged 10-19 years old.<sup>82</sup> This was despite the fact that females only made up 71% and 64% of users between 10 to 14 years of age, and 15 to 19 years of age, respectively. However, among those aged 20-49 years, men made up 70% of methamphetamine users, and correspondingly, male methamphetamine users represented 67% of cases of self-harm in this age group.

#### 2.6.2.3 Hospitalizations

Studies<sup>11,12,14–16</sup> across different countries generally showed an increase in mental healthrelated hospitalizations by methamphetamine users. McKetin et al.<sup>87</sup> estimated that methamphetamine use accounted for an 28,400 to 80,900 psychiatric admissions in Australia in 2013. In a retrospective chart review, Nathani et al.<sup>14</sup> reported an increase in the number of psychiatric admissions associated with amphetamine use from 352 (11% of total psychiatric admissions) in 2006 to 528 admissions (15% of total psychiatric admissions) in 2015. Similarly, a South African study by Sara et al.<sup>15</sup> described an increase in admissions for amphetamine-induced psychosis between 2000-2009 from 2 to 24 admissions/day. At a California medical centre, however, Richards et al.<sup>12</sup> reported that the percentage of psychiatric admissions decreased from 58.1% of methamphetamine presentations in 1996 to 41.2% in 2016. Looking at Canadian data, Callaghan et al.<sup>16</sup> detailed a rise in methamphetamine-related hospitalizations from approximately 30-50 admissions/month in 1996 to over 200/month by early 2005, a third of which had a primary diagnosis of mental and behavioural disorders. In a Toronto hospital, Tardelli et al.<sup>11</sup> reported that total inpatient admissions for amphetamine use increased from 76 in 2014 (63% with a co-occurring mental disorder) to 303 in 2021 (72% with a co-occurring mental disorder). They also reported that amphetamine-related hospitalizations with cooccurring psychotic disorder increased from 16% of admissions to 35% of admissions.<sup>11</sup> Among presentations to psychiatric EDs, one-third<sup>106,107</sup> to one-half<sup>12,95</sup> of methamphetamine-related presentations led to psychiatric admissions. Studies that reported methamphetamine MHA-related hospitalizations varied in duration: some studies reported hospitalization over a 1-month window while the longest study reported methamphetamine-related hospitalization trends over 15 to 20 years.

Common causes of MHA hospitalization among methamphetamine users were management of psychosis, psychotic disorder, depression, and suicidality.<sup>83,93</sup> Low income, drug treatment, and comorbid mental disorders were found to be associated with of psychiatric admission.<sup>87</sup> More frequent methamphetamine use was also associated with increased presentation to psychiatric hospitals.<sup>87</sup> Few studies investigated trends in admission by sex or sex differences in mental health symptoms. Two studies reported sex differences in admission and had conflicting findings: Leamon et al.<sup>107</sup> found that female methamphetamine users were significantly more likely than men to be admitted to the psychiatric ward, while McKetin et al.<sup>87</sup> reported that sex was not associated with psychiatric admission. However, both these studies differed greatly in geographic region (Australia versus United States), sample size (60 versus 484), and year (1996 versus 2013). Plüddeman et al.<sup>96</sup> reported that among methamphetamine users who presented to psychiatric hospitals, men were twice as likely to present with aggression compared to females, while women were significantly more likely to present with mood issues.

Two American studies<sup>94,97</sup> reported no differences between the rates or proportion of psychiatric hospitalization of methamphetamine users and non-users, while one study<sup>108</sup> in Iran found that methamphetamine users were significantly more likely to be admitted to a psychiatric hospital compared to people who do not use methamphetamine. Conversely, another study by Schultz et al.<sup>83</sup> in Hawaii reported that significantly fewer methamphetamine users underwent psychiatric hospitalization compared to patients who did not use methamphetamine. Although patients' mean ages in these studies were similar (early to mid 30s), three of these settings looked at proportions or rates of hospital admission from an ED, while another looked at hospital admissions among those receiving outpatient drug treatment. Another reason for differences in findings between these studies could be due to regional differences in treatment practices, such as encouraging symptom resolution while waiting in an ED rather than being hospitalized soon after symptom onset to decrease health resource use.

Prior psychiatric admissions were reported by 25-41% of methamphetamine users who were admitted to hospital.<sup>109,110</sup> Common prior psychiatric diagnoses among people who were hospitalized included personality disorders, psychotic disorders (including schizophrenia), depression, ADHD, and anxiety.

Average length of stay in psychiatric ward/hospital reported in studies ranged from 2.5 days to 2.5 months. These five studies focused on patients being treated in public

22

hospitals with methamphetamine/amphetamine-induced psychoses and despite all using the DSM-IV or DSM-5 criteria for diagnosis and similar sample demographics (~ 65-77% male, mean age 30-35 years), there was a wide range in mean duration of stay. For example, Herbst et al.<sup>111</sup> found that the mean length of stay among patients with amphetamine-induced psychosis was 2.5 days. Thomas et al. and Medhus et al.<sup>112</sup> reported similar mean duration of treatment, respectively, of 7.4 days<sup>113</sup> and 6 days. Ali et al.<sup>114</sup>, however, found that among 150 inpatients with methamphetamine-induced psychosis, the mean length of stay was 16.7 days. In Fasihpour et al.'s 2013 study,<sup>115</sup> authors found that average length of stay for methamphetamine users after admission was on average, 21.4 days. However, Iwanami et al.<sup>116</sup> found that mean length of stay for people with methamphetamine-induced psychosis was much longer at 2.5 months. Being male, current hospitalization with first-episode methamphetamine-induced psychosis, and having more severe symptoms of psychosis were associated with significantly longer lengths of stay.<sup>114</sup>

#### 2.6.2.4 Rehabilitation Settings

Seven articles were based in rehabilitation settings, four of which were based in the United States, two in Germany, and one in England. Information pertaining to patients' MHA symptoms experienced and age and sex trends in symptoms was extracted. Information detailing the number of admissions and discharges was not extracted.

Five studies reported the percentages of patients admitted to rehabilitation centres for methamphetamine use who experienced psychiatric symptoms. These symptoms included depression (19.3-57% of users)<sup>117–119,120</sup>, anxiety (9-40.4%)<sup>118,120</sup>, suicidality (6-9%)<sup>117,119–121</sup>, psychotic disorder (5.4-7%)<sup>118,119</sup>, and hallucinations (6.6-19-34.8%).<sup>119–121</sup>

Studies that included patients seeking outpatient rehabilitation for methamphetamine use found similar proportions of people who had experienced suicidal thoughts. Among 83 methamphetamine users in outpatient methamphetamine treatment, Copeland & Sorenson<sup>119</sup> reported that 6% of methamphetamine users seeking treatment between 1995 and 1997 experienced suicidal ideation. Among a chart review of 500 methamphetamine users in an American outpatient rehabilitation clinic between 1989 and 1995, 6.9% reported experiencing suicidal thoughts at the time of admission.<sup>117</sup> Similarly, 8.6% of methamphetamine users in outpatient rehabilitation in Hser et al.'s study<sup>120</sup> reported experiencing serious thoughts of suicide in the past 30 days. Christian et al.<sup>121</sup> also reported a similar proportion: 8% of 1,016 people entering outpatient rehabilitation for methamphetamine dependence between 1999 and 2001 reported experiencing suicidal thoughts in the past 30 days.

Women who use methamphetamine may experience significantly more MHA-related symptomatology. In their 2005 study, Hser et al.<sup>120</sup> reported that among 1,073 patients in outpatient or inpatient rehabilitation for methamphetamine abuse across California, women were significantly younger than men and significantly more women than men had experienced severe depression (p=.002), concentration or memory problems (p=.0006), or thoughts of suicide in the past 30 days. Significantly more women than men in this sample received mental health services (p<.05) over the course of the treatment. Franke et al.<sup>61</sup> also found key sex differences in MHA disorders among their sample of 108 inpatient methamphetamine users (22 female, 86 male): at both admission and discharge, significantly more women than men in their sample reported PTSD (p<.001), current/lifetime mental health disorder (p<.001), and non-addiction-related psychiatric comorbidities (p<.001). These results highlight a need to further investigate any sex differences in MHA symptoms among methamphetamine users.

Two studies focused on adolescent use of rehabilitation centres for methamphetamine dependence.<sup>122,123</sup> Although both sample sizes (90 vs 912 methamphetamine users) and sex (30% female vs 58% female) differed greatly between studies, both studies were set in outpatient centres and included methamphetamine users whose mean age was 16 years. In both these studies, females were more likely to use methamphetamine compared to males. Of the two studies, only Rawson et al.<sup>122</sup> collected information on psychiatric symptoms: depressive symptoms and auditory hallucinations were significantly more common in adolescent females compared to adolescent males (54% vs. 46%, p =.000 and 60% vs. 40%, p =.010, respectively). Reasons for these sex differences in symptoms are unclear; however, it is important to note that in their sample, Rawson et al. found that females were significantly more likely than men to report methamphetamine as their

preferred drug of use, while men preferred marijuana or alcohol.<sup>122</sup> This may contribute to symptoms such as increased hallucinations, which are associated with stimulant use rather than depressants like marijuana or alcohol.

#### 2.6.2.5 Summary of Sex-Specific Trends

Overall, studies found that the average methamphetamine user was a male in their early 30s. Typically, males made up the majority (approximately 70%) of methamphetamine users in the samples of the included studies, although the percentage of males ranged from just under 50% to as high as 91%. However, females made up a larger portion of adolescent methamphetamine users, suggesting that younger females are more at risk of methamphetamine use.

Studies' findings conflicted on the relationship between sex and MHA symptoms and diagnoses. Some included studies in rehabilitation and inpatient settings reported that female methamphetamine users were more likely to have experienced MHA symptoms than males,<sup>17,61,120</sup> yet one other study in an ED department reported that males were more likely to have prior MHA diagnoses.<sup>98</sup> The role of MHA symptoms or diagnoses is not clear, this did not necessarily always translate to more admissions among women, with one study by Leamon et al.<sup>107</sup> reporting that women were more likely to be hospitalized than men, while McKetin et al.<sup>87</sup> did not find a difference in admission by sex. These findings could be due to differences in sample demographics, with females representing 39% of users in Leamon et al.'s study, but only 27% in McKetin et al.'s study. Most studies that reported the lengths of hospitalizations did not make comparisons by sex; however, based on one study described earlier by Iwanami et al.<sup>116</sup> of people with methamphetamine-induced psychosis, males may have longer hospital stays.

#### 2.6.2.6 Limitations

There was a great degree of heterogeneity between the studies that met the inclusion criteria for this literature search. Cross-sectional studies, case-control studies, and longitudinal studies were included. Fewer than half of these studies used urine or serum screens to identify methamphetamine users, and furthermore, some studies only had urine/serum screen results available for a portion of their sample. Other studies used selfreported information, medical records, national or regional databases, or a combination of these to identify methamphetamine users. Furthermore, due to differences in data sources of the studies (eg chart review versus provincial or national databases of health service use), sample sizes ranged from as small as 15 methamphetamine users in one study to over 2000 users in another.

While studies reported that psychiatric diagnoses were usually made through DSM-IV or DSM-5 criteria, other studies had a mixed methods design and included patient interviews and medical chart review to understand the symptoms experienced by methamphetamine users and their diagnoses. Importantly, most of the literature on MHA service use reported ED visits or hospital admissions – relatively few studies reported outpatient MHA service use. Furthermore, most studies only reported proportion of males and females in their sample, but few compared MHA service use by sex. Considering the heterogeneity in the study designs, samples sizes, psychiatric symptom diagnosis/reporting, and relative lack of information on outpatient MHA service use, this thesis will provide estimates of MHA service use in Ontario by 1) identifying methamphetamine users through use urine and serum drug screens and 2) using standardized health administrative databases to quantify their use of outpatient visits, ED visits, and MHA hospitalizations within 365 days of a positive test result.

# Chapter 3

## 3 Methods

This chapter reviews the methods used in this thesis. Section 3.1 outlines the study population and data sources used. Section 3.2 describes the outcome measures, exposures, and covariates. Finally, Section 3.3 describes the statistical analysis techniques that were used to address the project objectives.

## 3.1 Data Sources and Record Linkage

The data used for this project were obtained from ICES, an Ontario-based non-profit research institute that houses clinical and administrative health databases, as well as population-based health surveys and patient records, to understand health service use, health outcomes, and inform health policy. Under section 45 of the Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA), the use of personal health care data is authorized for research to inform health system evaluation and planning in Ontario without review by a Research Ethics Board. The ICES databases used in this project are described below:

- <u>The Registered Persons Database (RPDB)</u> contains population sociodemographic information of Ontarians who have been registered under the Ontario Health Insurance Plan (OHIP) at any point in time and have been issued a unique health card number (HCN).<sup>124</sup> This database was used in this project to obtain each individual's age at index date, sex, postal code, and income quintile.
- <u>The Ontario Health Insurance Program (OHIP)</u> database contains information on billings made by physicians for insured health services provided to Ontario residents.<sup>125</sup>
- 3. <u>The Ontario Laboratories Information System (OLIS)</u> is a provincial repository created by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. It contains hospital, community, and public health lab test orders and results that are accessible to authorized health care providers and researchers.<sup>125</sup> Over 90% of community labs and nearly 60% of all provincial labs report to OLIS. As of December 31, 2017,

8.5 million Ontario residents lived in a geographic region in Ontario where laboratory results would likely be captured by hospitals reporting to OLIS.<sup>126</sup>

- <u>The Narcotics Monitoring System (NMS)</u> captures information on all prescriptions for controlled medications dispensed by Ontario pharmacies<sup>127</sup>. Controlled medications listed by the federal Controlled Drugs and Substances Act include opiate analgesics such as morphine and codeine, and other controlled substances including amphetamines, barbiturates, and benzodiazepines.
- 5. <u>The Ontario Mental Health Reporting System (OMHRS)</u> reports information about adults assigned to a designated adult psychiatry inpatient bed in Ontario<sup>128</sup>. Information on admissions, discharges, and outcomes during an individual's inpatient stay is collected using a standardized tool called the Resident Assessment Instrument — Mental Health (RAI-MH©) version 2.0. This database also contains information on mental health service history, medications, and mental state indicators.
- 6. <u>The Discharge Abstract Database (DAD)</u> contains administrative, clinical, and demographic information on hospital discharges from acute inpatient institutions, day surgery, and chronic, rehabilitation, and psychiatric institutions<sup>129</sup>. One hundred sixty-six hospitals reported to DAD in 2016-2017 and 170 reported to DAD in 2017-2018<sup>130</sup>. Any psychiatric hospitalizations not included in OMHRS were captured by the DAD.
- <u>The National Ambulatory Care Reporting System (NACRS)</u> records hospital- and community-based ambulatory care visits across Ontario, including care received in emergency departments and outpatient clinics.<sup>131</sup> From 2017 through 2019, 191 facilities in Ontario reported data to NACRS.<sup>132</sup>
- <u>The Community Health Centre (CHC) dataset</u> contains information on visits made by patients to health care providers (including doctors and nurse practitioners) at community health centres. Patients are not enrolled at CHCs, and approximately 14% of people who visit CHCs are not insured by OHIP.

An individual's data (including full name, date of birth, postal code, and HCN) are collected by ICES and then assigned a unique ICES key number (IKN). The unique IKN can then be used to link an individual's health information across ICES datasets. Health

information is then de-identified for the purposes of project dataset creation, where personal identifiers such as their full name and complete date of birth and postal code are removed from the data. The datasets described above were linked for each Ontario resident at least 12 years or older who took a methamphetamine/amphetamine urine or serum test between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2018 (inclusive). 2017 was chosen as the earliest year of inclusion of people with methamphetamine/amphetamine tests because in the years prior to 2017, fewer hospital and community laboratories reported test results to OLIS. December 31, 2018 was chosen as an end date for inclusion into the cohort to limit our follow-up window to the period prior to the imposition of COVID-19 lockdown restrictions that limited health service access.<sup>133–135</sup> The age restriction (12+) was chosen to align with the survey population of the American NSDUH, which surveys non-institutionalized Americans aged 12 years and older about their drug use.

The codes used to identify methamphetamine/amphetamine urine and serum drug screens are detailed in appendix A. The index date for those who tested positive was the date of their first positive urine or serum screen within the ascertainment window. For those who only had negative urine or serum screens, a random test date in the ascertainment window was chosen as their index date. Any records with invalid OHIP number, missing or invalid age (>105 years), missing or invalid sex, recorded death on or before index date, and non-Ontario residents were excluded from the study. Furthermore, individuals who had filled a prescription for Vyvanse, Adderall, Dexedrine, or other amphetamines within 120 prior to their first positive screen were identified through the NMS and excluded from the study due to the risk of a false positive methamphetamine screen while taking these drugs. A full list of these drugs can be found in Appendix B.

## 3.2 Measures

### 3.2.1 Outcome Measures

The outcome of interest for this project was mental health service use including outpatient visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations. More specifically, the primary objectives of this project were to determine:

- 1. The <u>rate of outpatient MHA</u> service use within 365 days following the first positive methamphetamine screen within the observation window.
- 2. The <u>rate of MHA ED visits</u> within 365 days following the first positive methamphetamine screen within the observation window.
- 3. The <u>rate of MHA hospitalizations</u> within 365 days following the first positive methamphetamine screen within the observation window.

Individual-level health records for those who had a urine/serum drug screen in the ascertainment window were linked to OMHRS, DAD, and NACRS to identify MHA-related service use. Mental health and addictions-related inpatient and ED discharges were identified in the DAD and NARCS databases, respectively, through MHA-related International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision, Canada (ICD-10 CA) codes. Similarly, inpatient admissions to psychiatric beds were identified in the OMHRS with DSM codes. Outpatient MHA-related visits were identified through OHIP diagnostic codes. Individuals in the cohort were followed for 365 days after index date. For individuals in the cohort who died within the 365-day follow-up period, the follow-up time was defined as the difference between index date and recorded death date.

The number of MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, hospitalizations, and total length of hospitalization within 365 days after index date were recorded for each person in the cohort. The total length of stay (LOS) was defined as the number of days between admission and discharge date. In cases of patients with multiple MHA hospitalizations within 365 of index date, the total LOS was the sum of the LOS of each individual hospitalization. In accordance with ICES definitions, the term 'hospitalization' in this thesis refers to an entire episode of care, defined as a "health problem from its first encounter with a health care provider through the completion of the last encounter".<sup>136</sup> For example, if a patient were transferred from one hospital to another for the treatment of one illness, this patient would have one hospitalization recorded and the LOS would be the number of days between the date of admission to the first hospital and date of discharge from the second hospital. It is possible that some patients were admitted to hospital within 365 days after index date, but were not discharged before their follow-up

period ended: these patients were flagged as their total LOS was limited by the end of their follow-up period. If they were discharged prior to the end of the follow-up period, they were flagged as "discharged".

MHA service use was also broken down into the following diagnostic groupings of psychiatric complications:

- 1. Schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders
- 2. Substance-induced psychotic disorders
- 3. Mood and anxiety disorders
- 4. Substance use disorders
- 5. Neurodevelopmental disorders
- 6. Deliberate self-harm
- 7. Other mental disorders

Percentages and rates of service use associated with each category listed above were reported. Importantly, deliberate-self harm is only recorded for ED visits and MHA hospitalizations, whereas the other categories include outpatient visits, ED, and hospitalizations. Schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders, mood and anxiety disorders, substance use disorders, and deliberate-self harm were defined as per the diagnostic grouping created by the Mental Health and Addictions group at ICES. Definitions for substance-induced psychotic disorders, neurodevelopmental disorders, and other mental health disorders were defined by the project team for this thesis specifically by compiling DSM, ICD, and OHIP DXCODES relevant to these conditions. Lists of codes used to define these categories can be found in Appendices C through E.

## 3.2.2 Exposure and Baseline Characteristics

The exposure of interest in this project was a positive drug screen for methamphetamine/amphetamine, which was obtained through OLIS. An individual who tested positive on a urine or serum drug screen anytime in 2017 or 2018 was a part of the methamphetamine-positive group and considered a methamphetamine user, while those

who nested negative throughout 2017 and 2018 were part of the methamphetaminenegative group and were considered a non-user.

The following baseline characteristics were recorded for each individual in the cohort:

- 1. Age in years at index date was obtained from the RPDB.
- 2. <u>Sex</u> was obtained from the RPDB.
- 3. Income quintile was obtained from the RPDB.
- 4. <u>Rurality</u> (rural or urban residence) was obtained from the RPDB.
- 5. <u>Prevalent mental disorders</u> (described below) within 5 years prior to index date was obtained through OHIP, OMHRS, DAD, NACRS, and CHC data.
  - a. Schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders
  - b. Substance-induced psychotic disorders
  - c. Mood and anxiety disorders
  - d. Substance use disorders
  - e. Neurodevelopmental disorders
  - f. Deliberate self-harm
  - g. Other mental disorders
  - h. Any prevalent mental disorder defined as anyone with at least one of: 1) schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders OR 2) mood and anxiety disorders OR 3) neurodevelopmental disorders OR 4) deliberate self-harm OR 5) other mental disorders
- 6. <u>Prior positive methamphetamine/amphetamine tests</u> (within 3 years prior to index date) were obtained from OLIS.

# 3.3 Statistical Analysis

All analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.4.

## 3.3.1 Descriptive Statistics for Baseline Characteristics

Characteristics of the study sample were reported for each exposure group: mean (standard deviation) and median (interquartile range) for continuous variables, as well as

counts and proportions for categorical variables. Standardized mean differences were calculated by dividing the difference in means (for continuous variables) or proportions (for categorical variables) by the pooled standard deviation to identify any differences between groups. To understand the age distribution of the study sample, age was also categorized into 5-year groups as defined by Statistics Canada<sup>137</sup> and the percentage of people that fell within each age group was reported by exposure group. Noting the large sample size, standardized differences were used to identify meaningful between-group differences. Austin (2009) demonstrated that a standardized difference between two binary variables is related to the phi coefficient, which represents the correlation between two binary variables. A standardized difference of 0.1 (10%) is roughly equivalent to a phi coefficient of 0.05; a standardized difference of greater than 0.1 indicated a meaningful difference between groups.<sup>138</sup>

Importantly, upon obtaining the distribution of the ages of the study sample, a larger percentage of people with a negative test were older than 74 years of age compared to those with a positive test, raising the concern of a large number of false positives. Therefore, age was restricted to those who were at least 12 years old up to a maximum of 74 years of age at the date of entry into the cohort.

# 3.3.2 Objective 1: Determining the Rate of MHA Outpatient Visits, ED Visits, and Hospitalizations

To obtain the rates of MHA service use in methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive individuals and methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative individuals, regression models were constructed. The outcome variables were the number of MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations, and the exposure variable was methamphetamine test result.

The number of MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations were count outcomes; therefore, the Poisson and negative binomial regression models were considered to model the data. First, summary statistics were calculated for the number of visits within 365 days of index date for each health care setting to understand the spread of the data and inform model choice. Within each health care setting, the variance of the number of visits was greater than the mean, indicating overdispersion of the data and violating the assumption of equal mean and variance of the outcome that is required for the Poisson model.<sup>139</sup> Noting this, the data were fit to the Poisson regression model as an initial starting point, and goodness-of-fit measures were examined to assess model fit. Model fit was first assessed based on the dispersion parameter, which is expressed as either the ratio of the 1) Pearson Chi-Square statistic or 2) the deviance to the degrees of freedom (DF). A dispersion parameter close to 1 suggests good model fit, while a ratio greater than 1 indicates overdispersion.<sup>140</sup> Generally, the Pearson Chi-Square statistic is preferred over the deviance.<sup>141</sup> In addition to the dispersion parameter, model fit was compared by the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC). Although the AIC value itself is uninterpretable, it can be used to select the best-fitting maximum likelihood based-models for a given dataset – the model that produces the smallest AIC value provides the best fit.<sup>142</sup>

The Poisson regression model for each outcome variable yielded a dispersion parameter greater than 1; therefore, a negative binomial regression was used to model the data. A negative binomial model assumes a conditional variance larger than the conditional mean, making it a suitable choice to model overdispersed data.<sup>140</sup> The negative binomial model produced dispersion parameters close to 1 for the number of visits within each health care setting. The negative binomial model also yielded smaller AICs than the Poisson model, indicating that it was an optimal fit for the data.

In cases of excessive zero counts in data, the Poisson and negative binomial models described above may lead to biased parameter estimates and incorrect inferences of results. These excessive zeros arise due to a mixture of two subgroups: one where individuals in the sample are at risk of the outcome, and one where they are not. In these cases, zero-inflated Poisson (ZIP) and zero-inflated negative binomial models (ZINB) can be used to model the data. Due to the large number of zeros in the dataset for ED visits and MHA hospitalizations, ZIP and ZINB models were also constructed and examined for optimal model fit based on the dispersion parameter and AIC. As described above with the Poisson regression model, the ZIP yielded a dispersion parameter greater than 1, whereas the ZINB yielded a dispersion parameter closer to 1 and a comparatively

smaller AIC value. Therefore, both the negative binomial and ZINB provided better model fit than the Poisson and ZIP models, respectively.

Both the negative binomial and ZINB had similar dispersion parameters and AIC values. An important consideration in the choice between these two models lay in the nature of the data and the research question: the outcome of interest was rates of MHA service use, and even healthy people may be at risk of MHA symptoms and require health care. In cases where both models produce similar goodness-of-fit values, the negative binomial may be favoured for ease of interpretability.<sup>143</sup> However, the goodness-of-fit statistics were more favourable for the ZINB model compared to the negative binomial model for ED visits, so the ZINB model was chosen to obtain rates of ED visits. Over 90% of MHA ED hospitalizations were zero; therefore, a ZINB model was chosen to obtain the rates of MHA hospitalization.

A similar process was followed when determining the rates of MHA encounters for the different diagnostic categories. The Poisson regression was used as an initial starting point to model the relationship between the number of visits associated with diagnostic category and methamphetamine/amphetamine test result. Due to overdispersion, a negative binomial regression model provided relatively better fit for the data. Importantly, zeros represented 80-98% of counts for health service use for schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders, substance-induced psychotic disorders, neurodevelopmental disorders, deliberate self-harm, and other mental disorders; therefore, these outcomes were zero-inflated, and a ZIP model was fit. However, the variance was greater than the mean and ZINB models yielded much more favourable dispersion parameters and AIC values for compared to the ZIP model; therefore, a ZINB model was used to obtain the rates and rate ratios (RRs) of service use associated with these categories, while a negative binomial model was used to obtain rates and RRs for substance use disorders and mood and anxiety disorders.

Although each person in the cohort was followed for 365 days, there were individuals who had shorter follow-up times due to death before the end of the follow-up period. Therefore, an offset term was included in the regression models to account for varying exposure times within the cohort. The offset term was obtained by dividing the follow-up time by 365 and taking the log of the quotient to obtain a rate denominator of 365 persondays (reported as 1 person-year).

Rates, RRs, and 95% confidence intervals were calculated for each outcome variable and for each diagnostic category of mental disorders. As part of objective 1, age-adjusted rates and RRs were obtained by including age as a covariate in the regression models. The rates presented in this thesis are for individuals who are 30 years old. Rates of MHA service use were obtained with the NLEST macro available on SAS 9.4. This macro obtained confidence intervals that were symmetric about the predicted rates, resulting in negative lower confidence limits for some rates – these were presented as 0 in the results.

## 3.3.3 Objective 2: Identifying Sex Differences in MHA Service Use

To identify sex differences in the rate of MHA service use, sex-stratified rates of MHA visits were calculated by constructing a negative binomial model (or ZINB as described above) and including an interaction term for sex and methamphetamine/amphetamine test result. As with objective 1, crude and age-adjusted rates (at age=30 years) were obtained for females and males in each exposure group. To understand the effect of sex on the relationship between methamphetamine use and rates of MHA service use, RRs for females were calculated by dividing the rates of females with a positive test by the rates of females with a negative test. An identical process was performed for obtaining a comparable RR for males. A significant interaction term between sex and test result indicated statistically significant effect modification by sex.

# 3.3.4 Objective 3: Identifying Factors Associated with MHA Service Use and Total Length of Hospitalization

This project aimed to identify factors associated with 1) MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, hospitalizations, and 2) total length of hospitalization, namely: methamphetamine/amphetamine-use (positive or negative test result), sex, age, income quintile, rurality, and prevalent mental disorder other than substance use disorder and substance-induced psychotic disorder.

The factors of interest were coded as follows:

- 1) Methamphetamine/amphetamine test result: positive=1, negative=0
- 2) Sex: female=1, male=0
- 3) Age: Continuous variable
- 4) Income quintile: represented by 4 levels of dummy variables
- 5) Rurality: rural=1, urban=0
- 6) Prevalent mental disorder: yes=1, no=0

#### Factors Associated with MHA Health Service Use

To identify factors associated with MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations, modified Poisson regression analyses were conducted for each health care setting using the PROC GENMOD procedure on SAS. The outcome variables (each of MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations) were represented as a binary variable (0=no service use within the 365-day follow-up period, 1=yes service use within the follow-up period). The modified Poisson regression model was chosen to account for binary outcomes of MHA service use, the prospective nature of the study, and variable follow-up times (due to death before the end of the 365-day follow-up period). As described previously, an offset term was included to account for variable follow-up times and was obtained by dividing the follow-up time by 365 and taking the log of the quotient to obtain a rate denominator of 365 person-days (reported as 1 person-year). Furthermore, the modified Poisson regression is not prone to convergence errors<sup>144</sup> that may arise with the log-binomial model, which is an alternative model that can also be used for binary outcomes and the estimation of rate ratios. Finally, unlike the log-binomial model, the modified Poisson regression model also produces unbiased estimates of rate ratios even in cases of model misspecification.<sup>145</sup> The "repeated" statement with the subject ID (IKN) was used within the PROC GENMOD procedure to obtain robust standard errors and an independent correlation structure was specified.

#### Factors Associated with Total LOS

The total length of stay was treated as a count variable and reported for each individual in the cohort as the sum of the length of stay of each psychiatric episode of care. To identify factors associated with total length of stay among individuals who were hospitalized, a negative binomial regression model was constructed.

The negative binomial regression model was chosen due to its flexibility to handle count data. The total length of stay for each person who provided a methamphetamine test is modelled as the sum of the number of days associated with each episode of care. Although the Poisson regression model can be used to model count data, it relies on the assumption that the conditional mean of the outcome is equal to the conditional variance. However, LOS data is typically right-skewed<sup>146,147</sup> with variance greater than the mean (i.e., data is overdispersed), making the Poisson model an unsuitable choice. Previous studies<sup>148,149</sup> have shown that the negative binomial regression model performs well when data is overdispersed, typically providing a better fit for data and providing less biased standard errors.

In addition to methamphetamine test result, sex, age, income quintile, rurality, and prevalent mental disorder, the number of hospitalizations was added to the model as a covariate to adjust for people with multiple hospitalizations contributing to their total LOS.

## 4 Results

## 4.1 Description of the Cohort

## 4.1.1 Sociodemographic Characteristics

A total of 204984 people were screened for methamphetamine/amphetamine during 2017 and 2018, and 25,702 (12.5%) had a positive test within this period. Women accounted for 41.1% (n=10554) of people with a positive test and men represented 58.9% (n=15148) of people with a positive test. Total follow-up time for the cohort was

73569607 days: 9232420 days for the methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive group and 64337187 for the methamphetamine/amphetamine -negative group.

Details on the sociodemographic characteristics of the study sample can be found in table 4.1. Those who tested positive had a mean (SD) age of 37.7 (12.9) years and median [IQR] age of 36.0 [19.0] years. This was younger compared to those who tested negative, who had a mean (SD) age of 41.8 (16.5) years and median [IQR] age of 42.0 [29.0] years.

Age group distributions can be found in Appendix F and G. A higher percentage of people who tested positive for methamphetamine/amphetamine fell within the ages of 20-39 years of age compared to those who tested negative. Conversely, a higher percentage of those who tested negative were between the ages of 55 and 74 years compared to the methamphetamine-positive group. The percentages of people between the ages of 40 and 54 were comparable between both exposure groups.

People who were tested for methamphetamine/amphetamine were also most commonly in the lowest income quintile. However, a larger percentage (40.9%, standardized difference=0.194) of methamphetamine-positive individuals fell within the lowest income quintile compared to those who tested negative (31.4%). A larger percentage of the methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative individuals than methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive patients were in quintiles 4 (13.1% versus 9.9%) and 5 (15.0% versus 11.3%) (standardized difference=0.120 and 0.102, respectively). Data on income quintile was missing for 289 methamphetamine-positive individuals and 1,056 methamphetamine-negative individuals.

The majority of people in the sample also lived in urban areas: only 16.9% and 15.8% of methamphetamine-positive and methamphetamine-negative individuals, respectively, lived in a rural area at the time of index date. However, there was no meaningful difference between groups (standardized difference=0.025). Data on rurality was missing for 269 methamphetamine-positive individuals and 859 methamphetamine-negative individuals.

### 4.1.2 Prevalent Mental Disorders and Prior Positive Tests

All categories of mental disorders were significantly more prevalent in those who tested positive for methamphetamine compared to those who tested negative. The prevalence of any mental disorder (excluding substance use-related disorders) within the past 5 years was 76.1% among the methamphetamine-positive group and 65.7% among those who were methamphetamine-negative. Mood and anxiety disorders was the most common category of prevalent mental disorders in both exposure groups, noted in 71.7% with a positive methamphetamine result and in 63.6% of those with only negative tests. Notably, among methamphetamine-positive individuals, the percentage of people with prevalent neurodevelopmental disorders was twice as high (12.2%) when compared to the methamphetamine-negative group (6.1%) (standardized difference=0.211). The percentage of people who had a history of deliberate self-harm was also nearly twice as high in the methamphetamine-positive group at 13.8%, compared to 7.1% among those who tested negative (standardized difference=0.221).

Within the past two years, 21.3% of those with a positive test in 2017 or 2018 also had a prior positive methamphetamine or amphetamine screen, which was notably higher than the 3.3% of those who tested negative within this same period (standardized difference=0.571).

Table 4.1 Baseline sociodemographic, clinical characteristics, and standardized differences of the cohort by exposure group. Standardized differences > 0.10 indicated a meaningful difference between groups. Column percentages are reported for categorical factors.

	Methamphetamine/amphetamine-Positive	Methamphetamine/amphetamine -Negative	
	Total (N=25702)	Total (N=179282)	Standardized Difference
Demographics			
Age			
Mean (SD)	37.7 (12.9)	41.8 (16.5)	0.272
Median (IQR)	36.0 (19.0)	42.0 (29.0)	0.260
Income quintile, N	(%)		
Quintile 1 (low)	10395 (40.9%)	55939 (31.4%)	0.194
Quintile 2	5704 (22.5%)	38585 (21.7%)	0.016
Quintile 3	3910 (15.4%)	32917 (18.5%)	0.084
Quintile 4	2883 (11.3%)	27406 (15.0%)	0.120
Quintile 5 (high)	2521 (9.9%)	23379 (13.1%)	0.102
Missing, N	289 (1.1%)	1056 (0.7%)	
Rural, Yes N(%)	4291 (16.9%)	28265 (15.8%)	0.025
Missing, N	269 (1.0%)	859 (0.5%)	
Prevalent mental d	isorders, Yes N (%)		
Schizophrenia Spectrum and other psychotic disorders	4191 (16.3%)	18561 (10.4%)	0.176
Substance-induced psychotic disorders	1916 (7.5%)	3836 (2.1%)	0.251
Deliberate self- harm	3543 (13.8%)	12695 (7.1%)	0.221
Mood and anxiety disorders	18273 (71.1%)	113560 (63.6%)	0.166
Substance use disorders	17373 (67.6%)	55632 (31.0%)	0.786
Neurodevelopmen tal disorders	3128 (12.2%)	10960 (6.1%)	0.211
Other mental disorders	7356 (28.6%)	40706 (22.7%)	0.136
Any prevalent mental disorder, excluding substance use and substance-induced psychotic disorders <b>Prior Positive Drug</b>	11523 (76.1%)	81096 (65.7%)	0.188
Prior positive	5464 (21.3%)	5847 (3.3%)	0.571
methamphetamine or amphetamine drug screen, Yes N (%)	דטד (21.370)	50 <del>1</del> 7 (5.570)	0.371

## 4.1.2.1 Sex Differences in Sociodemographic Characteristics

Details of women and men who were tested for methamphetamine/amphetamine are shown in table 4.2. Females comprised 41.6% of the methamphetamine-positive group and 43.6% of the methamphetamine-negative group. Within each exposure group, there was no significant difference in mean/median age or distribution of age groups between females and males.

Income within each exposure group followed similar trends as described above, with both sexes most commonly falling within the lowest income quintile: 40.2% and 42.0% of methamphetamine-positive males and females, respectively, were within the lowest quintile. However, within each exposure group, there was no significant difference between sexes at each income quintile. There were significantly more methamphetamine-positive women and men than -negative women and men in income quintile 1. This trend was reversed in higher income quintiles – compared to the methamphetamine-positive group, there were significantly more methamphetamine-negative women and men in quintile 4, and significantly more men in quintile 5.

When comparing rural residence, a larger percentage of methamphetamine-positive females (18.4%) lived in rural areas compared to methamphetamine-positive males (15.8%). Similarly, among those who tested negative, 16.8% of females lived in rural areas compared to 15.1% of males. However, these differences by sex within each exposure group were not statistically significant (standardized difference=0.072 and 0.074, respectively).

# 4.1.2.2 Prevalent Mental Disorders and Prior Positive Tests in Females and Males

The prevalence of pre-existing mental disorders varied between sexes.

More females (75.7%) than males (67.9%) with a positive test had mood and anxiety disorders – this difference was significant (standardized difference=0.173). Significantly more methamphetamine-positive females than males (80.4% versus 67.3%) also had any prevalent mental disorder (standardized difference=0.160).

Schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders, substance use disorders, substance-induced psychotic disorders, and neurological disorders were all significantly more prevalent in males with a positive test than females with a positive test. Overall, 18.9% of males had a history of schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders compared to only 12.7% of females. The majority of males (69.9%) and females (64.3%) had a history of substance use disorder (standardized difference=0.121). 8.6% of males and 5.8% of females had a history of substance-induced psychotic disorder (standardized difference=0.121). 8.6% of males and 5.8% of females had a history of substance-induced psychotic disorder (standardized difference=0.110). The prevalence of neurological disorders was 13.7% in males and 10.0% in females (standardized difference=0.113). There were no significant differences in the prevalence of deliberate self-harm and other mental disorders between females and males (standardized difference of 0.059 and 0.004, respectively).

These trends differed slightly in those who had a negative methamphetamine test. In patients who were methamphetamine-negative, deliberate self-harm was significantly higher among females (9.4%) than males (5.3%) (standardized difference=0.160). As with the methamphetamine-positive group, there was a higher prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders in women than in men (71.6% and 57.0%, respectively, standardized difference=0.308). Finally, there was a significantly higher percentage of women with any prevalent mental disorder compared to men (76.2% versus 64.6%, respectively, standardized difference=0.256). 34.7% of men and 26.3% of women had substance use disorder, which was the only category of disorders that was more prevalent in men than in women (standardized difference=0.183). There were no significant differences in the prevalence of schizophrenia spectrum disorders, substance-induced psychotic disorders, neurological disorders, or other mental disorders by sex. In both exposure groups, a larger percentage of males than females had a prior positive test.

	Methamphetamine/a	mphetamine-Positive	,	Methamphetamine/	amphetamine-Negative			
	Females (N=10554)	Males (N=15148)	Standardized differences (Between sexes with positive result)	Females (N=78183)	Males (N=101099)	Standardized differences (Between sexes with negative result)	Standardized differences (Between females: positive vs negative)	Standardized differences (Between males: positive vs negative)
Demographics								
Age	27.2 (10.0)	29.1 (12.6)	0.067	41.2 (1(0))	42.1 (1(-2))	0.050	0.2(0	0.279
Mean (SD)	37.2 (19.0)	38.1 (12.6)	0.067	41.3 (16.9)	42.1 (16.2)	0.050	0.268 0.249	0.278 0.269
Median (IQR)	35.0 (19.0)	36.0 (19.0)	0.084	41.0 (30.0)	42.0 (28.0)	0.050	0.249	0.269
Income quintile, N (	<u>%)</u> 4395 (42.0%)	6000 (40.2%)	0.041	25548 (32.7%)	30391 (30.1%)	0.056	0.186	0.201
Quintile 1 Quintile 2	2391 (22.8%)	3313 (22.2%)	0.041	<u> </u>	21724 (21.6%)	0.056	0.186	0.201
Quintile 2 Quintile 3	1510 (14.4%)	2400 (16.1%)	0.019	13977 (18.0%)	18940 (18.9%)	0.002	0.020	0.009
Quintile 3	1155 (11.0%)	1728 (11.6%)	0.043	11566 (14.9%)	15840 (15.8%)	0.022	0.115	0.125
Quintile 5	1022 (9.8%)	1499 (10.0%)	0.007	9819 (12.6%)	13560 (13.5%)	0.025	0.092	0.110
Missing, N	81 (0.8%)	208 (1.4%)	0.059	412 (0.5%)	644 (0.6%)	0.014	0.092	0.110
Rural, Yes N(%)	1931 (18.4%)	2460 (15.8%)	0.072	13082 (16.8%)	15183 (15.1%)	0.074	0.041	0.016
Missing, N	76 (0.7%)	193(1.3%)	0.056	308 (0.4%)	551 (0.5%)	0.071	0.011	0.010
Prevalent mental di		-,+(+-)		•••• (•••••)				
Schizophrenia Spectrum and other psychotic disorders	1336 (12.7%)	2855 (18.9%)	0.170	6817 (8.7%)	11744 (11.6%)	0.096	0.128	0.202
Substance-induced psychotic disorders	610 (5.8%)	1306 (8.6%)	0.110	1117 (1.4%)	2719 (2.7%)	0.089	0.235	0.259
Deliberate self- harm	1581 (15.0%)	1962 (13.0%)	0.059	7370 (9.4%)	5325 (5.3%)	0.160	0.170	0.269
Mood and anxiety disorders	7987 (75.7%)	10286 (67.9%)	0.173	55949 (71.6%)	57611 (57.0%)	0.308	0.093	0.227
Substance use disorders	6782 (64.3%)	10591 (69.9%)	0.121	20566 (26.3%)	35066 (34.7%)	0.183	0.825	0.754
Neurodevelop- mental disorders	1058 (10.0%)	2070 (13.7%)	0.113	4465 (5.7%)	6495 (6.4%)	0.030	0.161	0.243
Other mental health disorders	3010 (28.5%)	4346 (28.7%)	0.004	19463 (24.9%)	21243 (21.0%)	0.092	0.082	0.178
Any prevalent mental disorder, excluding substance use and substance- induced psychotic disorders	8490 (80.4%)	3053 (67.3%)	0.160	59560 (76.2%)	65295 (64.6%)	0.256	0.104	0.253
Prior Positive Drug	Screens							
Prior positive methamphetamine or amphetamine drug screen, Yes N (%)	2236 (21.2%)	3228 (21.3%)	0.124	2437 (3.1%)	3410 (3.4%)	0.256	0.575	0.567

Table 4.2 Baseline sociodemographic, clinical characteristics, and standardized differences of females and males in the cohort

## 4.1.3 Death Within the Cohort

There were 5338 deaths, 2.6% of the study sample died within the 365-day follow-up period (range=1-365 days), 34.6% (n=1,847) of whom were women and 65.4% (n=3,491) of whom were men. 2.7% (n=686) of people with a positive test died and 2.6% (n=4,652) of people with a negative test died within the follow-up period.

The percentages of people who died were different for women and men. 2.1% (n=223) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women and 2.1% (n=1,624) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative women died. 3.1% (n=463) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive and 3.0% (n=3,028) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative men died.

## 4.2 Objective 1: Rates of MHA Service Use

The age-adjusted rates and rate ratios of MHA service use by outcome variable (outpatient use, ED use, and hospitalizations) are displayed in table 4.4. Crude rates and rate ratios can be found in the appendix.

## 4.2.1 Outpatient Service Use

Of the 204,984 people tested for methamphetamine, 58.3% used outpatient MHA services within 365 days of index date. Looking specifically within the 25702 people who tested positive for methamphetamine, 76.8% (n=19743) people used outpatient MHA services, compared to 55.7% (n=99865) in the methamphetamine-negative group.

The number of outpatient visits for everyone in the cohort ranged from 0 to 199, with a mean (SD) of 5.9 (11.2) visits in a year, or a median [IQR] of 1 [0, 6] visits.

For people 30 years of age, the rate of MHA outpatient use was estimated as 15.0 visits per person-year (95%CI 14.7, 15.4) for people who tested positive for methamphetamine and 5.7 (95%CI 5.6, 5.7) per person-year for those who tested negative. The rate of

outpatient use was 2.65 times greater in people who tested positive for methamphetamine compared to those who tested negative (95%CI 2.59, 2.71).

## 4.2.2 Emergency Department Use

Of the entire cohort, 17.2% of people (n=35187) who had a methamphetamine/amphetamine test used the ED for MHA services within the 365 days of follow-up. Within the methamphetamine-positive group, 29.3% (n=7541) people had an MHA-related ED visit, compared to only 15.4% (n=27646) of those who tested negative.

The number of ED visits ranged from 0 to 106. Among the entire study sample, the mean, SD number of visits was 0.5 (2.1), with a median [IQR] of 0 [0, 0]. Among those who had an ED visit, the mean, SD number of visits was 2.7 (4.4), with a median [IQR] of 1, [1, 3]. The rate of MHA ED visits was 1.16 (95%CI 0.65, 1.67) per person-year for people who tested positive for methamphetamine and 0.50 (95%CI 0.002, 1.00) per person-year for those who tested negative (at 30 years of age). The rate of ED use was 2.01 times greater in people who tested positive for methamphetamine compared to those who tested negative (95%CI 1.93, 2.10).

## 4.2.3 Hospitalizations

Overall, 9.3% (n=19,121) of the cohort had an MHA-related hospitalization. Similar to the trends seen in MHA outpatient and ED use, the percentage of people with MHA hospitalizations was greater among those who had a positive methamphetamine test (14.7%, n=3781) compared to those who had a negative test (8.6%, n=15340).

The number of MHA hospitalizations ranged from 0 to 44. Among the entire study sample, the mean, SD number of hospitalization was 0.2 (0.6), with a median [IQR] of 0, [0, 0]. Among those who were hospitalized, the mean SD number of hospitalizations was 1.6 (1.4), with a median [IQR] of 1, [1, 2]. For hypothesized individuals 30 years of age, the rate of hospitalizations was 0.33 (95%CI 0, 1.38) per person-year for people who tested positive for methamphetamine and 0.17 (95%CI 0, 1.89) per person-year for those

who tested negative. The rate of hospitalizations was 1.78 times greater in people who tested positive for methamphetamine compared to those who tested negative (95%CI 1.76, 1.89).

		Outpatient vis	its		<b>ED</b> visits			Hospitalizations			
Exposure		Rate	RR		Rate	RR*		Rate	RR*		
group	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	(95%CI)	(95%CI)	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	(95%CI)	(95%CI)	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	(95%CI)	(95%CI)		
MA-positive	19,743	15.0 (14.7,	2.65	7,541	1.21 (1.17,	2.01	3,781	0.33 (0,	1.78		
-	(76.8%)	15.4)	(2.59, 2.71)	(29.3%)	1.26)	(1.93, 2.10)	(14.7%)	1.38)	(1.67, 1.89)		
MA-negative	99,865	5.7 (5.6,	ref	27,646	0.48 (0.47,	ref	15,340	0.17	ref		
	(55.7%)	5.7)		(15.4%)	0.48)		(8.6%)	(0,0.89)			

Table 4.3 Age-adjusted rates (per person-year) and rate ratios of MHA service use by methamphetamine/amphetamine test result

MA: methamphetamine/amphetamine; RR: rate ratio; ED: emergency department; N: number; CI: confidence interval

+ Percentages represent the percentage of methamphetamine-positive/-negative patients who used MHA services by setting.

\*RR presented are from the count part of the zero-inflated binomial model.

Table 4.4 Age-adjusted rates and rate ratios of health services use by diagnostic category within 365 days after index date

	Spect	hizophre rum and lotic Disc	Other	Sı	ıbstance U Disorder			tance-ind 10tic Diso		Delibo	erate Self	-harm		d and An Disorders	•		odevelopr disorders	velopmental Other M orders Disor		her Men Disorders	5
	N (%)*	Rate (95% CI)	RR* (95% CI)	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	Rate (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	Rate (95% CI)	RR* (95% CI)	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	Rate (95% CI)	RR* (95% CI)	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	Rate (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	N (%)+	Rate (95% CI)	RR* (95% CI)	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	Rate (95% CI)	RR * (95 % CI)
MA- Positive	3,022 (11.8 %)	0.73 (0, 14.1)	1.15 (1.07, 1.23)	15,36 5 (59.8 %)	13.0 (12.4, 13.5)	4.06 (3.89, 4.25)	1,566 (6.1%)	0.27 (0, 10.23)	1.79 (1.57, 2.03)	1,511 (5.9%)	0.13 (0, 2.39)	1.63 (1.45, 1.83)	10,975 (42.7 %)	2.14 (2.08, 2.20)	1.00 (0.97, 1.02)	1,314 (5.1%)	0.17 (0, 1.99)	1.05 (0.95, 1.17)	2,946 (11.5 %)	0.31 (0.30, 0.32)	1.05 (0.9 9, 1.12
MA- Negative	12,944 (7.2%)	0.43 (0, 9.89)	ref	38,21 1 (21.3 %)	3.19 (3.12, 3.26)	ref	2,037 (1.1%)	0.04 (0, 3.65)	ref	3,993 (2.2%)	0.05 (0, 1.41)	ref	73,803 (41.2 %)	2.15 (2.12, 2.17)	ref	4,541 (2.5%)	0.08 (0, 0.99)	ref	18,28 4 (10.2 %)	0.29 (0, 23.0)	ref

MA: methamphetamine/amphetamine; RR: rate ratio; ED: emergency department; N: number; CI: confidence interval

+ Percentages represent the percentage of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive/-negative patients who used health services for each diagnostic category of mental disorders.

\*RR presented are from the count part of the zero-inflated binomial model.

## 4.2.4 Diagnostic Categories of MHA Visits

The diagnostic categories assigned to MHA visits are displayed in table 4.5. Generally, the percentage of people with visits for each type of mental disorder was higher in the methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive group compared to the methamphetamine/amphetamine -negative group across all diagnostic categories. The percentage of substance use disorder-related health service use in those with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test was nearly three times higher than those who did not have a positive test (59.8% versus 21.3%, respectively). Additionally, 6.1% of people who tested positive for methamphetamine used health services for substance-induced psychotic disorder, nearly 6 times the percentage among those who tested negative (1.1%). Notably, the percentages of people who used health services for neurodevelopmental disorders and deliberate self-harm were twice as high among those who had a positive methamphetamine test compared to those who did not (5.1% versus 2.5%, and 5.9% versus 2.2%, respectively). The differences in percentages of other psychiatric complications between methamphetamine/amphetamine -positive and negative groups were not so pronounced; specifically, schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders (11.8% versus 7.2%), mood and anxiety disorders (42.7% versus 41.2%), and other mental disorders (11.5% versus 10.2%).

## 4.2.4.1 Rates of Health Service Use for Psychiatric Complications

#### Schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders

The rate of MHA service use associated with schizophrenia and spectrum disorder among methamphetamine-positive individuals was 0.73 (95%CI 0, 14.1) per person-year and 0.43 (95%CI 0, 9.89) per person-year among those who had a negative test. Those who were methamphetamine-positive had a 1.15 times greater rate (95%CI 1.07, 1.23) of MHA service use attributed to schizophrenia and spectrum disorders compared to those who only had a negative test.

#### Substance use disorders

The rate of substance use disorder-related health service use was 13.0 (95%CI 12.4, 13.5) visits/hospitalizations per person-year among people who were methamphetamine-positive and 3.19 (95%CI 3.12, 3.26) per person-year among people who were negative for methamphetamine. This difference in age-adjusted rates was significantly different, with methamphetamine-positive group having a 4.06 (95%CI 3.89, 4.25) times greater rate of service use associated with substance use disorders compared to those who did not have a positive test.

#### Substance-induced psychotic disorders

The percentages (6.1% and 1.1%) rates of service use attributable to substance-induced psychotic disorders were much higher in those who tested positive compared to those with a negative test, respectively. The rate of age-adjusted visits/hospitalizations was also 1.79 times (95%CI 1.57, 2.03) times greater among people with a positive test compared to a negative test.

#### Deliberate self-harm

In this study sample, 5.9% of people with a positive test and 2.2% with a negative test used health services for deliberate self-harm. The rate of MHA service use at 30 years old attributable to deliberate self-harm among the methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive group was 0.13 visits/hospitalizations (95%CI 0, 2.39) per person-year and 0.05 (95%CI 0, 1.41) per person-year among the methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative group. Adjusted for age, the rate of MHA service use associated with deliberate self-harm was 1.63 times greater (95%CI 1.45, 1.83) among people who tested positive for methamphetamine compared to those who only tested negative.

#### Mood and anxiety disorders

The rate of MHA service use attributable to mood and anxiety disorders was 2.14 visits/hospitalizations per person-year in people who tested positive and 2.15

visits/hospitalizations per person-year people who tested negative. There was no significant difference in the rates of mood and anxiety disorder-associated MHA service use between methamphetamine-positive individuals and methamphetamine-negative individuals (RR: 1.00, 95%CI 0.97, 1.02).

#### Neurodevelopmental disorders

The percentage of people with service use attributable to neurodevelopmental disorders was twice as high in the methamphetamine-positive group compared to the negative group (5.1% and 2.5%, respectively). However, there was no significant difference between their rates of service use (RR 1.05 95%CI 0.95, 1.17).

#### Other mental disorders

11.5% of people with a positive test and 10.2% of people with a negative test used MHA services to treat other mental disorders. There was no significant difference in the rates of service use associated with other mental disorders between methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive individuals and methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative individuals (RR=1.05, 95%CI 0.99, 1.12).

# 4.3 Objective 2: Identifying Sex Differences in MHA Service Use

The following section details the rates of MHA service use by sex, describing outpatient use, ED use, and hospitalizations. Rates and rate ratios of MHA service use by sex can be found in table 4.6, and rates by diagnostic group can be found in table 4.7.

#### 4.3.1 Outpatient Use

Overall, 77.5% of women (n=8,176) who tested positive for methamphetamine used outpatient MHA services, compared to 76.4% (n=11,567) of men. This was much higher than the proportion of methamphetamine-negative women and men who used outpatient services (59.5% n=46,621 and 52.7% n=53,244, respectively). Overall, the rate of MHA

outpatient visits was lower in both men and women who tested negative for methamphetamine compared to those who had a positive test (see table 4.6).

After stratifying by sex and adjusting for age, the rate of MHA outpatient visits in methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women who were 30 years old was 14.5 (95%CI 14.0, 15.0) visits per person-year compared to 5.7 (95%CI 5.6, 5.8) per person-year in women who tested negative. The rate of outpatient use in methamphetamine-positive women was 2.55 (95%CI 2.45, 2.64) times greater than in methamphetamine-negative women.

Similarly, methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men 30 years of age had a rate of 15.4 (95%CI 14.9, 15.8) outpatient visits per person-year compared to 5.7 (95%CI 5.6, 5.7) in men who had a negative test. The rate of visits was 2.72 times greater in men with a positive test (95%CI 2.64, 2.81). There was a significant difference by sex, where the effect of methamphetamine use on MHA service use was greater in men than in women (p<0.01).

## 4.3.2 Emergency Department Use

The proportion of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women and men (28.6% and 29.9%, respectively) who visited the ED for MHA services was approximately double the proportion of ED visits by methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative women and men (16.1% and 14.9%).

The rate of ED visits in methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women 1.89 times (95%CI 1.77, 2.02) greater than in methamphetamine/amphetamine -negative women (see table 4.6). Similarly, the rate of ED visits was 2.08 (95%CI 1.97, 2.20) times greater in methamphetamine/amphetamine -positive men compared to methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative men. There was no significant effect of sex on MHA ED use after methamphetamine/amphetamine/amphetamine exposure.

## 4.3.3 Hospitalizations

Overall, 45.1% of people with a positive test who were hospitalized were women, 54.9% were men, which was comparable to the respective proportions in the methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative group (43.1% and 56.9%, respectively). Among methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women, 14.5% (n=1,525) had an MHA hospitalization within 365 days following index date, compared to 8.2% (n=8,246) of methamphetamine-negative women. Women who tested positive were hospitalized at a rate of 0.35 hospitalizations per person-year (95%CI 0.00, 0.74), which was 1.91 (95%CI 1.73, 2.10) times higher than the rate in women with a negative test.

Similarly, 14.9% of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men (n=2,256) had an MHA hospitalization in the 365-day follow-up period compared to 8.2% of men (n=8,246) with a negative test. The rate of hospitalization among men was 1.71 times greater among men with a positive test compared to a negative test (95%CI 1.57, 1.85). There was no significant effect of sex in the rate of MHA hospitalizations.

		<b>Outpatient visit</b>	S		ED visits		Hospitalizations				
		Rate			Rate		Rate				
Exposure group	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	(95%CI)	RR (95%CI)	N (%) <sup>+</sup>	(95%CI)	RR* (95%CI)	N (%)+	(95%CI)	RR* (95%CI)		
Female											
MA-positive	8,176 (77.5%)	14.5 (14.0,	2.55 (2.45,	3,018 (28.6%)	1.05 (0.81,	1.89 (1.77,	1,525	0.35 (0.00,	1.91 (1.73,		
-		15.0)	2.64)		1.28)	2.02)	(14.5%)	0.74)	2.10)		
MA-negative	46,621 (59.6%)	5.7 (5.6, 5.8)	ref	12,596 (16.1%)	0.49 (0.27,	ref	7,094 (9.1%)	0.18 (0.00,	ref		
0	,				071)			0.38)			
Male											
MA-positive	11,567	15.4 (14.9,	2.72 (2.64,	4,523 (29.9%)	1.23 (0.97,	2.08 (1.97,	2,256 (14.9%)	0.32 (0.07,	1.70 (1.57,		
-	(76.4%)	15.8)	2.81)		1.49)	2.20)		0.56)	1.85)		
MA-negative	53,244	5.7 (5.6, 5.7)	ref	15,050	0.51 (0.25,	ref	8,246 (8.2%)	0.16 (0.00,	ref		
C C	(52.7%)			(14.9%)	0.77)		. ,	0.36)			

#### Table 4.5 Age-adjusted rates per person-year and rate ratios of MHA service use for women and men by methamphetamine test result

MA: methamphetamine/amphetamine; RR: rate ratio; ED: emergency department; N: number; CI: confidence interval

+ Percentages represent the percentage of methamphetamine-positive and -negative patients who used MHA services by setting.

\*RR presented are from the count part of the zero-inflated binomial model.

## 4.3.4 Diagnostic Categories of MHA Visits

#### Schizophrenia spectrum disorders

Among the methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive patients, 9.3% of women (n=978) and 13.5% of men (n=2,044) used MHA services for schizophrenia and spectrum disorders within 365 days after their positive test.

The rate of service use for schizophrenia and spectrum disorders was 0.54 (95%CI 0, 1.20) per person-year among methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women and 0.30 (95%CI 0, 0.65) per person-year among methamphetamine/amphetamine -negative women. Methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women had a significantly higher rate of service use for schizophrenia spectrum disorders: their use of services was 29% higher than women with a negative test (RR 1.29, 95%CI 1.15, 1.46).

For men, the rate of service use for schizophrenia and spectrum disorders was 0.84 (95%CI 0.04, 1.64) per person-year among men with a positive test and 0.53 (95%CI 0, 1.14) per person-year among men with a negative test. Overall, this difference was not statistically significant (RR: 1.07 95%CI 0.99, 1.17).

There was a greater effect of methamphetamine use on the rates of service use for schizophrenia spectrum disorders in women than in men.

#### Substance use disorder

The effect of methamphetamine on substance use disorder-related health service use was significantly greater in women than in men. Overall, 56.6% of women with a positive test used health services for substance use disorders compared to only 18.0% of women with a negative test. Similarly in men, 62.0% of men with a positive test and 23.9% with a negative test sought health services for substance use disorders within the 365-day follow-up period.

Women who had a positive test for methamphetamine had a rate of 12.1 visits/hospitalizations associated with substance use disorder per person-year (95%CI 11.4, 13.0), compared to 2.69 visits/hospitalizations per person-year for women with a negative test (95%CI 2.61, 2.76). Overall, the rate of health service use for substance use disorder was 4.52 (95%CI 4.22, 4.85) times greater in women who tested positive compared to women who tested negative.

Men who had a positive test for methamphetamine had a rate of 13.7 visits/hospitalizations associated with substance use disorders per person-year (95%CI 13.0, 14.5), compared to 3.66 visits/hospitalizations per person-year for men with a negative test (95%CI 3.56, 3.76). The rate of health service use for substance use disorder was 3.76 (95%CI 3.54, 3.98) times greater in men who tested positive compared to men who tested negative.

#### Substance-induced psychotic disorder

Overall, 5.2% (n=546) of women with a positive test and 0.8% (n=603) of women with a negative test had a visit or hospitalization for substance-induced psychotic disorder, compared to 6.7% (n=1,020) of men with a positive test and 1.4% (n=1,434) of men with a negative test.

The rate of health service use for women with a positive test for methamphetamine/amphetamine was 0.26 (95%CI 0, 1.05) per person-year and 0.03 (95%CI 0, 0.14) per person-year for women who had a negative test. Women who tested positive had a 2.10 (95%CI 1.67, 2.65) times greater rate of health service use for substance-induced psychotic disorder compared to women who tested positive.

Men who tested positive for methamphetamine/amphetamine had a rate of 0.29 visits/hospitalizations (95%CI 0, 0.72) for substance-induced psychotic disorder per person-year, which was significantly greater than the rate among men with a negative test who had 0.05 visits/hospitalizations (95%CI 0, 0.26) per person-year (RR=1.60 95%CI 1.37, 1.87).

There was no effect modification by sex on the rate of health services for substanceinduced psychotic disorder.

#### Deliberate self-harm

The percentage of people with deliberate self-harm was higher among men and women who tested positive for methamphetamine/amphetamine compared to those who tested negative. Six point two percent (n=654) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women and 5.7% (n=857) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men received treatment for deliberate self-harm in the 365 days following their positive test, compared to only 3.0% (n=2,366) and 1.6% (n=1,627) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative women and men, respectively.

For women who tested positive for methamphetamine/amphetamine, the rate of visits/hospitalizations for deliberate-self harm was 0.15 per person-year (95%CI 0, 0.64). In women with a negative test, the rate of health service use for deliberate self-harm was 0.07 (95%CI 0, 0.33) per person-year.

The rate of service use for deliberate self-harm among men with a positive test was 0.12 (95%CI 0, 0.39) visits/hospitalizations per person-year and 0.03 visits/hospitalizations per person-year (95%CI 0, 0.16) among men with a negative test. Methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men had a 2.28 times greater rate of health service use associated with deliberate self-harm compared to those with a negative test (95%CI 1.90, 2.73).

Comparing the two RRs shows a significant difference, with a greater effect of methamphetamine on MHA service use for deliberate-self harm in men than in women.

#### Mood and anxiety disorders

Overall, 46.5% (n=4,809) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women and 48.2% (n=37,681) of methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative women used health services for mood and anxiety disorders. The rate of MHA service use among methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women was 2.46 (95%CI 2.36, 2.56), compared

to 2.65 (95%CI 2.65, 2.69) per person-year among women with a negative test. The rate of health service was significantly lower in methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women compared to women who tested negative (RR=0.93, 95%CI 0.89, 0.97).

Conversely, a larger percentage of men with a positive test (48.2%, n=37681) than negative test (35.7%, n=36122) used health services for mood and anxiety disorders. The rate of mood and anxiety disorder-related service use in these men was 1.91 visits/hospitalizations (95%CI 1.85, 1.98) per person-year, compared to 1.75 (95%CI 1.73, 1.78) in men who only had a negative test (RR=1.09 95%CI 1.05, 1.13). There was a significantly greater effect of methamphetamine use on mood and anxiety-related health service use in men compared to women.

#### Neurodevelopmental disorder

Overall, health service use for neurodevelopmental disorders was more common in men than in women irrespective of test result.

Of the women who tested positive, 3.8% (n=399) of women also used mental health services for neurodevelopmental disorders, compared to 2.3% of women (n=1281) with a negative test. The rate of health service use among methamphetamine/amphetaminepositive women was 0.12 (95%CI 0, 0.38) visits/hospitalizations per person-year compared to 0.06 (95%CI 0, 0.20) among methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative women. This difference was not statistically significant (RR=1.14 95%CI 0.94, 1.36).

Among men who tested negative, 6.0% (n=915) who tested positive used health services for neurodevelopmental disorders compared to 2.7% of men (n=2720) with a negative test. Methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men used health services at a rate of 0.21 (95%CI 0, 0.63) visits/hospitalizations per person-year, compared to 0.09 (95%CI 0, 0.30) among those who were negative. This difference was not statistically significant (RR=1.01 95%CI 0.89, 1.14)

There was no effect modification by sex on the rate of health service use for neurodevelopmental disorders.

#### Other mental disorders

Similar percentages of women and men with a positive test reported use of MHA services for other mental disorders: 11.4% of women (n=1198) with a positive test and 12.0% of women (n=9340) with a negative test used health services for other mental disorders. Overall, the rate of MHA service use for other mental disorders was higher among women than in men. The rate of other mental disorders was 0.39 (95%CI 0.28, 0.49) visits/hospitalizations per person-year in women with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test and 0.37 (95%CI 0.28, 0.47) per person-year in women with a negative test. Women who were methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive used health services for other mental health disorders at a 1.04 times higher rate than women with a negative test; however, this difference was not statistically significant (95%CI 0.95, 1.12).

Among men, 11.5% of those (n=1748) with a positive test and 8.9% of those (n=8944) with a negative test had documented health service use for other mental disorders. Methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men used health services for treatment for other mental disorders at a rate of 0.26 (95%CI 0.19, 0.33) per person-year while the rate among methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative men was smaller at 0.22 (95%CI 0.17, 0.28) per person-year (RR=1.17 95%CI 1.08, 1.25).

There was effect modification by sex, where the effect of methamphetamine on MHA use for other mental disorders was greater in men than in women.

Table 4.6 Age-adjusted rates (per person-year) and rate ratios of psychiatric complications in women and men by
methamphetamine test result

Exposure group         N (%)*           Female         MA-           MA-         978           positive         (9.3%)           MA-         4444           negative         (5.7%)	Rate (95%C I) 0.54 (0, 1.20)	RR* (95% CI)	N (%)+ 5968	Rate (95%C I)	RR (95%C I)	N (%)*	Rate (95%C I)	RR* (95%C I)	N (%)*	Rate (95%C I)	RR* (95%C I)	N (%)*	Rate (95%C I)	RR (95%C I)	N (%)*	Rate (95%C I)	RR* (95%C I)	N (%)*	Rate (95%C I)	RR* (95% CI)
MA- 978 positive (9.3%) MA- 4444			5968	12.1	4.50															
positive (9.3%) MA- 4444			5968	12.1	4.50															
MA- 4444	1.20)	(1 15			4.52	546	0.26	2.10	654	0.15	1.53	4809	2.46	0.93	399	0.12	1.14	1198	0.39	1.04
		(1.15, 1.46)	(56.6% )	(11.4, 13.0)	(4.22, 4.85)	(5.2%)	(0, 1.05)	(1.67, 2.65)	(6.2%)	(0, 0.64)	(1.30, 1.80)	(45.6%	(2.36, 2.56)	(0.89, 0.97)	(3.8%)	(0, 0.38)	(0.95, 1.36)	(11.4% )	(0.28, 0.49)	(0.95, 1.12)
negative (5.7%)	0.30 (0,	ref	14033	2.69	ref	603	0.03	ref	2366	0.07	ref	37,681	2.65	ref	1,281	0.06	ref	9340	0.37	ref
	0.65)		(18.0%	(2.61, 2.76)		(0.8%)	(0, 0.14)		(3.0%)	(0, 0.33)		(48.2%	(2.61, 2.69)		(2.3%)	(0, 0.20)		(12.0%)	(0.28, 0.47)	
Male			<i>,</i>	,						<i>.</i>		<i>,</i>	,			,		,	,	
MA- 2044	0.84	1.07	9397	13.7	3.76	1020	0.29	1.60	857	0.12	2.28	6166	1.91	1.09	915	0.21	1.01	1748	0.26	1.17
positive (13.5%	(0.04,	(0.99,	(62.0%	(13.0,	(3.54,	(6.7%)	(0,	(1.37,	(5.7%)	(0,	(1.90,	(40.7%	(1.85,	(1.05,	(6.0%)	(0,	(0.89,	(11.5%	(0.19,	(1.08,
)	1.64)	1.17)	)	14.5)	3.98)		0.72)	1.87)		0.39)	2.73)	)	1.98)	1.13)		0.63)	1.14)	)	0.33)	1.25)
MA- 8,00	0.53	ref	24178	3.66	ref	1434	0.05	ref	1627	0.03	ref	36122	1.75	ref	2,720	0.09	ref	8944	0.22	ref
negative (8.4%)	(0.00, 1.14)		(23.9%	(3.56, 3.76)		(1.4%)	(0, 0.26)		(1.6%)	(0, 0.16)		(35.7%	(1.73, 1.78)		(2.7%)	(0, 0.30)		(8.9%)	(0.17, 0.28)	

MA: methamphetamine/amphetamine; RR: rate ratio; ED: emergency department; N: number; CI: confidence interval

+ Percentages represent the percentage of methamphetamine-positive/-negative patients who used MHA services by setting: for example, 9.3% of women

(n=978) with a positive test used health services for schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders.

\*RR presented are from the count part of the zero-inflated binomial model.

# 4.4 Objective 3: Identifying Factors Associated with MHA Service Use and Total LOS

### 4.4.1 Factors Associated with MHA Service Use

Factors associated with MHA service use among people with a positive test are presented in table 4.8.

### MHA outpatient use

Sex was not associated with outpatient service use (RR 1.00, 95%CI 0.98, 1.00). Age was significantly associated with outpatient service use, with the risk of outpatient service use decreasing by 1% with every 1-year increase in age (RR: 0.99, 95%CI 0.99, 0.99, p<.0001). The risk of outpatient MHA visits also decreased by 3% to 5% as income quintile increased from the quintile 1 to quintile 5. Rural residence was associated with an 11% lower risk of outpatient MHA service use compared to urban residence (RR 0.89 95%CI 0.87, 0.91). The presence of a prevalent mental health disorder significantly increased the risk of outpatient MHA service use by 30% compared to people who did not have a prevalent mental disorder (RR 1.30 95%CI 1.28, 1.33).

### MHA ED use

Women had a 9% lower risk of MHA ED use compared to men who had a positive test (RR 0.99 95%CI 0.88, 0.95). The risk of ED use also decreased by 2% with every 1-year increase in age (RR: 0.98 95%CI 0.98, 0.98). Although the risk of ED use was approximately 4-5% lower in quintiles 2 to 5 compared to the lowest income quintile, this difference was not statistically significant, and income was not associated with ED use. Similarly, although rural residents had a 4% lower risk of ED use compared to urban residents, this difference was not statistically significant. Having a prevalent mental disorder, however, significantly increased the risk of an MHA ED visit by 2.11 times (95%CI 1.98, 2.26) compared to those with a positive test who had no mental disorders.

### MHA hospitalizations

Compared to men, women with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test had an 8% lower risk of an MHA hospitalization. Similar to the results seen in outpatient and ED use, the risk of hospitalization decreased by 1% with every 1-year increase in age (RR= 0.99 95% CI 0.99, 0.99). Income quintile was not associated with hospitalization. The risk of hospitalization was 8% lower for rural residents compared to urban residents; however, this was not statistically significant. Finally, as with outpatient and ED settings, having a prevalent mental disorder led to a 3.18 time increase in the risk of hospitalization.

 Table 4.7 Relative risks of MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations for

 people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test

	<b>Outpatient Visits</b>	<b>ED</b> Visits	Hospitalizations
Variable	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)
Sex (ref=M)	1.00 (0.98,1.01)	0.91 (0.88, 0.95)	0.92 (0.87, 0.98)
Age	0.99 (0.99, 0.99)	0.98 (0.98, 0.98)	0.99 (0.98, 0.99)
Income 2 vs 1	0.97 (0.95, 0.98)	0.96 (0.91, 1.00)	0.97 (0.89, 1.05)
Income 3 vs 1	0.96 (0.95, 0.98)	0.95 (0.90, 1.00)	0.98 (0.90, 1.07)
Income 4 vs 1	0.97 (0.95, 0.99)	0.95 (0.90, 1.02)	0.93 (0.84, 1.03)
Income 5 vs 1	0.95 (0.93, 0.97)	0.95 (0.89, 1.02)	1.05 (0.95, 1.16)
Rurality (ref=N)	0.89 (0.87, 0.91)	0.96 (0.91, 1.01)	0.92 (0.85, 1.00)
Prevalent mental disorder (ref=0)	1.30 (1.28, 1.33)	2.11 (1.98, 2.26)	3.18 (2.84, 3.56)

M: male; N: no; RR: relative risk; ED: emergency department; CI: confidence interval

### 4.4.2 Factors Associated with Total LOS

Overall, 19121 people in the entire cohort were hospitalized. Among those who had an MHA hospitalization, the total LOS varied from 0 to 364 days, with a mean (SD) of 24.7 (42.1) days and a median [IQR] of 10 [3, 27] days. Of everyone who was hospitalized, 18012 people were hospitalized and discharged before the end of the 365-day follow-up period. A total of 1109 people were hospitalized and were not discharged by the end of the follow-up period, and their LOS was truncated to the end of the 365-day follow-up period.

Focusing specifically on people with a positive test, the mean (SD) of the total LOS was 24.6 (42.7) days, and the median [IQR] was 9 [3, 27] days. Among people who had a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test, sex and income were not significantly associated with total LOS. Age was significantly associated with total LOS: for every 1-year increase in age, the LOS increased by 1%, this difference was statistically significant (95%CI 1.01, 1.01). Rurality was associated with a significantly shorter total LOS compared to urban residents: the total LOS of rural residents was 74% of that of urban residents (RR 0.74, 95%CI 0.66, 0.83). Patients with a prevalent mental disorder also had a 46% longer total LOS by 47% compared to patients who did not have a prevalent mental disorder (RR 1.47, 95%CI 1.26, 1.70).

 Table 4.8 Relative risks of factors associated with total length of MHA

 hospitalization among people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test

Variable	RR (95%CI)
Sex (ref=M)	1.05 (0.97, 1.14)
Age	1.01 (1.01, 1.01)
Income 2 vs 1	1.02 (0.91, 1.13)
Income 3 vs 1	1.05 (0.93, 1.18)
Income 4 vs 1	0.97 (0.84, 1.11)
Income 5 vs 1	1.01 (0.88, 1.16)
Rurality (ref=N)	0.74 (0.66, 0.83)
Prevalent mental disorder (ref=0)	1.47 (1.26, 1.70)
Number of hospitalizations	1.30 (1.27, 1.34)

M: male; N: no; RR: relative risk; CI: confidence interval

# 5 Discussion

This chapter summarizes the findings of this project and their interpretation. Section 5.1 describes the results and compares them to findings in the existing literature. Section 5.2 outlines the study's strengths, 5.3 outlines its limitations, 5.4 describes implications and future directions, and section 5.5 provides an overall conclusion of this project.

# 5.1 Summary and Interpretation of Findings

This project aimed to answer the following research questions:

3) What was the rate of mental health service use – including outpatient visits, ED visits, hospitalizations, and diagnostic categories – within 12 months following a positive methamphetamine screen?

2 Was there effect modification by sex on the rate of mental health service use following a positive methamphetamine screen?

3) What were the sociodemographic and clinical factors associated with outpatient visits, ED visits, inpatient admissions, and total length of inpatient stay following a positive methamphetamine screen?

The following sections summarize the findings to these questions and compare it with the evidence in the literature.

# 5.1.1 Sociodemographic Characteristics

### <u>Sex</u>

Men made up the majority (58.4%) of the study sample with a positive test, while women made up 41.6%. Other studies investigating drug use also found similar trends, with males representing the majority of methamphetamine users.<sup>18,25,27,33,34,83</sup> However, this project estimated that 41.6% of methamphetamine users were women, which was higher than in other studies. For example, women made up an estimated 11% of Canadian methamphetamine users according to the 2019 Canadian Centre on Substance use and Addiction telephone survey, and 35% of users according to Canadian surveys and trials recruiting from Canadian harm reduction centres.<sup>34,150</sup> Similarly, American survey data

from 2021 NSDUH reported that women represented 36.5% of people with past-year methamphetamine use.<sup>27</sup> Therefore, women may be underrepresented in survey data on regarding drug use in the population, and further research can be done to understand the prevalence of use among women compared to men.

### <u>Age</u>

On average, people with a methamphetamine/amphetamine positive test were younger than those with a negative test, with mean age of 37.7 years and 41.8 years, respectively. The mean age of those with a positive test was slightly higher than what is commonly reported in the literature (mean/median age of 30-40 years).<sup>81-85</sup> In our sample, most people with a positive test fell within the ages of 20 to 39.

Although authors of other research studies<sup>81,82,151</sup> report that female methamphetamine users are often significantly younger than their male counterparts, there was no notable difference in age between females and males of either exposure group in this study sample. The reasons for this difference are unclear; however, it may be due to the nature of the way the study sample was created. Other studies of methamphetamine users are typically 1) surveys of convenience samples or 2) retrospective/prospective chart review or health administrative study of people presenting to health care settings and include patients of similar age ranges as in our study (i.e. include individuals from the pediatric and adult populations). However, our study identified people with probable methamphetamine use through urine and serum drug screens rather than through selfreport or through health care visits with an ICD-10 code indicating a methamphetaminerelated visit. Although we do not have the indications for testing in this study, one possible reason for this difference in findings is that the indication for drug testing is the same across age groups regardless of sex, and therefore, no difference was seen between ages in this sample. Another reason may be due to differences in geographic regions of studies: to our knowledge, this was the first provincial, population-level study in Ontario. Women and men in Ontario who use methamphetamine/amphetamine may be of similar ages compared to those in other regions.

#### Income quintile

The majority of people (40.9%) with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test in the study sample fell within the lowest income quintile, which was greater than the percentage of people in the methamphetamine/amphetamine-negative group (31.4%). This finding was consistent with the literature, where studies have found that users are more often in a low versus higher socioeconomic status group.<sup>3,152,153</sup>

### <u>Rurality</u>

The majority of people (82.1%) of people with a positive test in this study lived in urban areas, which reflects the fact that about 86.2% of the Ontario population lived in urban areas (based on 2016 estimates from census data).<sup>154</sup> This suggests that our study has a larger percentage of users living in rural areas than would be expected as per the population distribution. Few studies reported rurality among methamphetamine users; however, Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> reported comparable findings in their study, with 79% of methamphetamine users in Manitoba residing in urban areas.

Other studies<sup>155–158</sup> in the United States and one in Canada report higher rates of methamphetamine use among rural communities compared to urban metropolitan areas. Additionally, a study<sup>159</sup> of rural and urban drug users in the United States reported that rural deaths from methamphetamine increased between 1999 and 2019, and that people in rural areas who use methamphetamine are at higher risk of death compared to methamphetamine users from urban areas. Therefore, more research can be done to understand the relationship between methamphetamine use in rural and urban areas to understand their health service needs.

### Prevalent mental disorders

Prevalent mental disorders were more common among people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test than in those with a negative test across all diagnostic categories, which supports findings in the literature of higher prevalence of psychiatric comorbidities in methamphetamine users (and substance users, overall).<sup>59,160,161</sup>

When comparing prevalent mental disorders by sex, schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders, substance-induced psychotic disorder, substance use disorders, and neurodevelopmental disorders were all more common in methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men than women.

Few studies look at sex differences in schizophrenia among drug users and the symptoms of drug use can mimic schizophrenia, which makes our findings difficult to compare to the literature. Generally, the prevalence of schizophrenia is similar among men and women but incidence is higher among men.<sup>162</sup> In a 2018 review by Hunt et al.<sup>163</sup>, 42% of people with schizophrenia had substance use disorder and the prevalence of substance use was 26% higher in men with schizophrenia than in women.

Prevalent neurodevelopmental disorders in this study sample were higher in methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men than women. The category in this study included conditions such as conduct disorder and attachment disorders. Studies of the relationship between methamphetamine use and adolescent behaviour (typically including conduct disorder, ADHD, and oppositional personality disorder) supported the findings in this project and reported that youth who use methamphetamine or have methamphetamine use disorder were more likely to have conduct disorder, hostile/antisocial behaviour (but not disorder diagnosis), and ADHD compared to youth who use other drugs.<sup>164–167</sup>

Mood and anxiety disorders were more common in women with a positive test than in men, which is also supported by other studies reporting psychiatric comorbidities among methamphetamine users.<sup>19,168,169</sup> There were no sex differences in the prevalence of deliberate self-harm or other mental disorders between men and women who had a positive test. Studies<sup>60,170</sup> of deliberate self-harm and components of the "other" mental disorder category (eg PTSD, eating disorders) are typically reported to be higher among women than men methamphetamine users.

### 5.1.2 Objective 1: Rate of MHA Service Use

### 5.1.2.1 Outpatient Use

Over 75% of people with a positive test used outpatient MHA services compared to 55.7% among those with a negative test only. The rate of outpatient MHA service use was 2.65 times greater among people with a methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive test compared to those with a negative test.

Some studies<sup>85,87,88</sup> reported use of and referrals to outpatient counselling, community health, and psychologist services in methamphetamine users as varying between 23-36% - much smaller than the ~75% estimate in our study. This difference could be due to MHA care access: these studies were based in Australia which has both private and public MHA psychiatrists and primary care providers,<sup>171,172</sup> whereas Ontario MHA psychiatrists and primary care largely publicly funded.

There is limited information in the literature focusing on the rates of MHA outpatient service use by methamphetamine users for comparison to our findings. Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> reported that the rate of physician visits (not limited to MHA visits) among methamphetamine users in Manitoba was 8.7-10.4 visits/person-year, which was about 1.5-2 times higher than their estimate for non-users (5 visits per person-year), comparable but slightly smaller estimates than estimated in our study sample (15.0 vs 5.7 visits/person-year, respectively).

The high prevalence of MHA outpatient service use by people with a positive test in the current study highlights the need for further research into understanding the needs of methamphetamine users who use outpatient clinics. Dunn et al.<sup>173</sup> conducted a qualitative study of primary care physicians to understand common practices and concerns in treating people with methamphetamine addictions. Authors of this study reported difficulties in screening patients for methamphetamine use, in sending referrals to physicians in addiction medicine, in identifying ways to get in and maintain contact with patients who were housing insecure, and a lack of knowledge of effective treatments for methamphetamine addiction and related health problems. Therefore, more research can

be done to understand the outpatient healthcare needs of people who use methamphetamine and ways to support physicians who may encounter this patient population frequently.

### 5.1.2.2 ED Use

The percentage of people with a positive test who had a MHA ED visit was nearly twice as high compared to those who only had a negative test (29.3% vs 15.4%, respectively). The rate of ED use among people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test was 2.01 times greater than those with a negative test.

Overall, studies have reported that ED use due by methamphetamine users has increased in recent years.<sup>83,2,12,90,86,91</sup> For example, an Ontario study by Crispo et al.<sup>2</sup> reported that there was a 15-times increase in amphetamine-related ED visits from 2003 to 2020, with 75% of patients reporting an ED revisit within 6 months of their first visit. Similarly, in their retrospective chart review of amphetamine-related ED visits to a Toronto hospital, Tardelli et al.<sup>11</sup> found that 30-40% of visits between 2017 and 2019 had a co-occurring mental disorder. Another health administrative study by Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> reported that rates of ED use (not limited to MHA services) in Manitoba within one year after their first documented methamphetamine-related visit was 5.8-6.4 visits/person-year and 0.35 visits/person-year among the general population (an approximately 15 times greater rate among those with a popular test). This difference in rates compared to the findings of our project could be due a difference in reference populations: this project consisted of people who were screened for methamphetamine/amphetamine, whereas Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> compared rates to a general population of Manitoba. The mental state of those screened for methamphetamine/amphetamine may not be reflective of the general population, leading to a smaller ratio of ED use in this study.

### 5.1.2.3 MHA Hospitalizations

In our study, 14.7% of people who had a positive test for methamphetamine/amphetamine had an MHA hospitalization within 365 days after index date. The rate of MHA hospitalizations was 1.78 times greater among those who had a positive test compared to those who had a negative test.

Recent studies<sup>11,12,14–16</sup> have reported an overall increase in the rates of psychiatric admissions by methamphetamine users. However, compared to the findings in this project, some studies reported a greater percentage of methamphetamine users who had a psychiatric admission. Tardelli et al.<sup>11</sup> conducted a chart review and reported that in a Toronto hospital, the percentage of amphetamine-related inpatient admissions with a co-occurring mental disorder ranged from nearly 63% of all amphetamine-related admissions to about 70% between 2017 and 2019. For example, Richards et al.<sup>12</sup> reported that at a publicly funded academic hospital in Davis, California, 35% of methamphetamine users (identified through positive urine screens) in the ED had a psychiatric hold/transfer between May and August 2016. However, this estimate did not involve voluntary admissions.

However, two American studies<sup>94,97</sup> reported that there was no difference in the rates of MHA hospitalizations for psychiatric disorders between methamphetamine users and non-users. Both of these studies were American and looked solely at psychiatric admissions from the ED. Additionally, both studies had a similar demographic of methamphetamine users and non-users as in this project: the average person in the studies was 31-36 years of age and significantly more users presented with mental health problems. However, the different results seen in hospitalization trends could be because both studies looked at health service use approximately 20 years ago (2004-2006). Additionally, both studies were only based out of urban centres, whereas the study sample in the current project included health centres from across Ontario, including rural areas. Both studies identified non-users differently: one of the studies identified non-users through patients with a negative urine screen who visited the ED on the same day as someone with a positive screen, and the other identified non-users through physicians' notes in medical records indicating that a visit was not methamphetamine related. These differences in setting, time period, and participant selection may have contributed to the differences in results seen in this project. More research is needed to understand the impact of methamphetamine use on MHA hospitalizations.

### 5.1.2.4 Health Care Use by Diagnostic Category

Overall, the results of this project suggest that the rates of schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders, substance use disorders, substance-induced psychotic disorders, and deliberate self-harm were significantly higher in people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test compared to people with a negative test.

However, there were no significant differences between the two groups in the rates of MHA service use associated with mood and anxiety disorders, neurodevelopmental disorders, or other mental disorders.

#### Schizophrenia Spectrum and Other Psychotic Disorders

In our study sample, 11.8% of people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test used health services for schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders. This estimate is within the range cited by other studies, which suggest that primary psychotic disorders may affect 4.9% to 15.0%<sup>3,57,58</sup> of methamphetamine users. However, estimating the proportion of people with primary psychotic disorders in methamphetamine users is difficult due to challenges in differentiating symptoms from methamphetamine-induced psychosis. For example, other studies<sup>174–176</sup> of people with methamphetamine/amphetamine-induced psychosis have reported that anywhere from 5.0% to 38% of people had been diagnosed with primary schizophrenia in the 5 years after follow-up.

Few studies report the rate of schizophrenia or psychotic disorder diagnoses or health service use. Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> reported that the rate of psychotic disorders in their cohort of methamphetamine users was 44 times that of non-users, which was much greater than in this project, where we found a 1.15 times greater rate of use. The comparator group in their study was the general population of Manitoba without a methamphetamine-related health care visit, whereas in our project, the comparator was anyone with a negative methamphetamine/amphetamine test – the mental state and drug use history of these two comparators is likely different, which would have led to the difference in results between studies. Another study by Zito et al.<sup>104</sup> found that people who had methamphetamine use

disorder with schizophrenia used acute inpatient and ED services at 4 times the rate of people who did not have methamphetamine use disorder with schizophrenia.

### Substance Use Disorders

In the current study sample, nearly 60% of people with a positive test used health services for substance use disorders, which was greater than in Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> comparable study, which reported that 45% of methamphetamine users used health services for substance use disorder within the first year of contact with the health system. The rate of MHA service use in our study for substance use disorders was over 4 times higher in people with a positive test than those with a negative test. Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> reported that the rate of substance use disorder diagnosis in Manitoba within one-year after first contact was 18 times greater in methamphetamine users compared to non-users. The definition of substance use in their study was comparable to ours:

"At least one hospitalization with a diagnosis for alcohol or drug-induced psychosis, alcohol or drug dependence, or nondependent abuse of drugs; or At least one physician visit with a diagnosis for alcohol or drug-induced psychosis, alcohol or drug dependence, or nondependent abuse of drugs."

Therefore, the reason for this difference may be due to a difference in comparator populations: the entire general population of Manitoba without a methamphetaminerelated health contact was used as a comparator in the study by Nickel et al., whereas our study compared the MHA service use of people who had a methamphetamine/amphetamine drug screen. Therefore, the probable differences in mental state and drug use history between these comparator groups likely led to differences in the results of substance-use disorder related service use between these two studies.

#### Substance-Induced Psychotic Disorders

In the current study sample, 6.1% of people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test used health services for substance-induced psychotic disorders within 365 days of their first positive test within the ascertainment window compared to 1.1% of people with a negative test. The rate of associated visits/hospitalizations was 1.79 times greater among people with a positive test compared to those with a negative test.

The definition of substance-induced psychotic disorder in this project was not limited to methamphetamine, but included cocaine, opioids, and cannabis, among other substances. Generally, an estimated 26-46% of methamphetamine users experience methamphetamine-induced psychotic disorder or psychosis.<sup>52</sup> Psychosis is also a leading symptom among methamphetamine users upon presentation to the ED and hospitalization,<sup>71,74,78,79</sup> however, as described previously, differentiating between primary psychotic and substance-induced psychotic disorders remains difficult.

### **Deliberate Self-Harm**

Overall, 5.9% of people with a positive test in the study sample used health services for deliberate self-harm. The rate of health service use for deliberate self-harm was significantly higher among people with a positive test compared to a negative test (RR 1.63). One meta-analysis found that methamphetamine use is associated with 4 times higher odds of suicidality.<sup>177</sup> A study by Marshall et al.<sup>178</sup> reported that of 149 injection drug users who used methamphetamine in Vancouver, 8.0% reported a suicide attempt (2.51 attempts per 100 person-years) which was higher than reported in this project. Studies<sup>48,169</sup> also generally support that deliberate self-harm is higher among methamphetamine users compared to people who do not use methamphetamine. Another study by Darke et al.<sup>179</sup> reported that between 2009 and 2015, 18.2% of all deaths among methamphetamine users in Australia were due to suicide, highlighting the risk of death by deliberate self-harm among methamphetamine users.

#### Mood and Anxiety Disorders

In our study cohort, 42.7% of people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test used health services for mood or anxiety disorders. Although this proportion was difficult to compare to findings in the literature (which typically report the prevalence of mood

and anxiety disorders as separate categories and are defined differently across studies), other studies typically reported smaller percentages of methamphetamine users with mood and anxiety disorders. For example, Akindipe et al.<sup>57</sup> conducted an interview of 100 methamphetamine users and found that 16% had a mood disorder and 7% had an anxiety disorder. Lisa et al.<sup>59</sup> reported comparable figures from their interviews: 14% of methamphetamine users had depression and 11.8% had anxiety. Similarly, Glasner-Edwards<sup>52</sup> reported that 15% of methamphetamine users interviewed their study had depression and 23% had anxiety (which included diagnoses of generalized anxiety disorder, PTSD, and OCD). A health administrative study in Manitoba by Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> that was similar in design to this thesis project found that 35% of people with methamphetamine-related health service use also had a mood and anxiety disorder-related health care visit.

Although there was no significant difference between the rates of mood and anxiety disorders between people with a positive and negative methamphetamine/amphetamine test in this study, this was not supported by other studies in the literature. For example, a Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> reported that found that methamphetamine users in Manitoba had twice the rate of mood and anxiety disorders compared to people in the province who did not use methamphetamine. This difference is likely due to a difference in the population the authors used as a comparator: the entire population of Manitoba without a methamphetamine-related contact was used as a comparator and reference population. However, in this thesis project, methamphetamine non-users were defined as people who only had a negative methamphetamine test within the ascertainment window. The indication for drug testing was unknown, but it could be due to a history of or ongoing substance use. Therefore, people with a negative test are likely not comparable to the general population.

#### Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Overall, 5.1% of people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test used health services for neurodevelopmental disorders. There was no significant difference between

the rates of service use for neurodevelopmental disorders for people with a positive test and people with a negative test.

Neurodevelopmental disorders like ADHD are reported to be significantly more common among people who use methamphetamine than people who do not use methamphetamine.<sup>180</sup> Furthermore, prenatal methamphetamine exposure is associated with neurodevelopmental disorders.<sup>181–183</sup> To our knowledge, no other studies report health service use for neurodevelopmental disorders among methamphetamine users.

### Other Mental Disorders

In the current study, 11.5% of people with a positive test had other mental disorders compared to 10.2% with a negative test (including but not limited to personality disorders, post-traumatic stress disorders, and eating disorders). There was no difference in the rates of other mental disorders between people with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test and people with a negative test.

The findings in our study were difficult to compare to findings in the literature because other studies report findings for these disorders separately as their own categories. However, Nickel et al.<sup>3</sup> reported that 8% of methamphetamine users in Manitoba in their cohort used health services for personality disorders at a rate 20 times higher than the general population. Once again, this difference in RR could be due to differences in the comparator in this project versus in the study by Nickel et al. (i.e., a comparison group where individuals may be using other substances versus a general population of health service users across Manitoba who did not have a methamphetamine-related health care visit).

### 5.1.3 Objective 2: Sex Differences in MHA Service Use

### 5.1.3.1 Outpatient Use

Overall, over three quarters of women and men with a positive test used outpatient MHA services. In contrast, slightly over half of women and men with a negative test used

outpatient MHA services. No other population-level studies, to our knowledge, compared the use of MHA outpatient services in males and females who use methamphetamine.

In this study sample, the effect of methamphetamine use on outpatient MHA service use was significantly greater in men than in women.

### 5.1.3.2 ED Use

In this study, 28.6% of women with a positive test and 29.9% of men with a positive test had an MHA ED visit. There was no effect modification by sex on the rate of ED visits among methamphetamine users.

### 5.1.3.3 MHA Hospitalizations

14.5% of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive women and 14.9% of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men were hospitalized, compared to 9.1% and 8.2% of women and men with a negative test, respectively.

Sex was not an effect modifier on the rate of MHA hospitalizations following a positive methamphetamine test.

### 5.1.3.4 Health Care Use by Diagnostic Category

This study presented novel findings regarding effect modification by sex on the rates of MHA service use (in each diagnostic category) by methamphetamine users.

Sex was an effect modifier on the rate of MHA service use for certain diagnostic categories following a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test. The effects of methamphetamine use on rates of MHA service use for substance use disorders and schizophrenia spectrum disorders were each significantly greater in women, and effect on service use for mood and anxiety disorders, deliberate self-harm, and neurodevelopmental disorders were each significantly greater in men.

Sex was not an effect modifier on the relationship between methamphetamine use and rate of health service use for substance-induced psychotic disorders or other mental disorders.

Because this is the first study to our knowledge that investigates sex as an effect modifier on the rates of health service use among methamphetamine users, the following paragraphs draw comparisons to the literature regarding only the percentage of people with visits within each diagnostic category.

### Schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders

A larger percentage of men (13.5%) than women (9.3%) with positive methamphetamine/amphetamine tests used health services for schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders.

### Substance use disorders

MHA service use for substance use disorders were more common in males (62.0%) with a positive test than in females (56.6%) with a positive test. Substance use disorders are typically more common among men than in women.<sup>27,184–186</sup>

### Substance-induced psychotic disorders

As with substance use disorders and schizophrenia spectrum disorders, health service use for substance-induced psychotic disorders were more common in methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men than in women (6.7% versus 5.2%, respectively).

#### Deliberate self-harm

A larger percentage of women (6.2%) than men (5.7%) with a positive test used health services for deliberate self-harm. This finding was supported in the literature, which

typically reports that more women than men who use methamphetamine experience thoughts of self-harm and suicidality, especially with younger age groups.<sup>82,100,120,168,170</sup> However, more male methamphetamine users die by suicide than females.<sup>179</sup>

### Mood and Anxiety Disorders

In the study sample, 45.6% of women with a positive test had a documented visit for mood and anxiety disorders compared to 40.7% of men with a positive methamphetamine/amphetamine test. Similar findings are reported in other surveys and health administrative studies, where more women typically report mood and anxiety disorders compared to men.<sup>48,187–189</sup>

### Neurodevelopmental disorders

Overall, 6.0% of methamphetamine/amphetamine-positive men used MHA services for neurodevelopmental disorders compared to only 3.8% of women with a positive test. There is limited literature on the health service use related to neurodevelopment disorders in women and men who use methamphetamine. One study<sup>190</sup> reported that among adult methamphetamine users, more women than men had ADHD.

### Other mental disorders

Similar percentages of women (11.4%) and men (11.5%) with a positive test used MHA services for other mental disorders. These findings contradict what is reported in the literature: typically, studies report that more women who use methamphetamine have PTSD, OCD, and eating disorders such as bulimia compared to men who use methamphetamine.<sup>61,191,192</sup>

# 5.1.4 Objective 3: Factors Associated with MHA Service Use and Total LOS

### 5.1.4.1 Factors associated with MHA Service Use

Overall, having a prevalent mental disorder led to a significantly increased risk of each of MHA outpatient visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations. In contrast, each one-year increase in age led to a 1-2% reduced risk of MHA service use.

### MHA Outpatient Use

There are no studies to our knowledge that report on factors associated with outpatient MHA use in methamphetamine users. Looking specifically at outpatient visits, sex was not associated with outpatient service use among people with a positive test. Being in income quintiles 2 to 5 were associated with a lower risk of outpatient use compared to individuals in income quintile 1. Living in a rural area was associated with a significantly lower risk of MHA outpatient use compared to residence in an urban area. This could be due to study design: in order to enter this cohort, each individual had to have an interaction with the health care system, and because health services are generally more prevalent and easily accessible in urban areas,<sup>193,194</sup> there may have been more methamphetamine users from urban areas more easily able to access health services compared to rural counterparts.

#### MHA ED Visits

Opposing trends were seen with respect to ED visits, where men had a significantly higher risk of an MHA ED visit compared to women, which was supported by the literature. For example, in their study of methamphetamine users in Toronto, Rahimi et al.<sup>195</sup> reported that men were more likely than women to have an ED visit. Males who used methamphetamine being more likely to use the ED was also supported by other studies in the literature.<sup>84,85,94</sup> However, these studies were not limited to only MHA visits to the ED, but included ED visits due to other complications as well.

Interestingly, the current study found no relationship between rurality and ED visits among methamphetamine users. To our knowledge, there are no other studies in the literature that describe ED use among rural methamphetamine users for comparison to our results. However, a 2021 study<sup>196</sup> of mental health service use in Ontario found that generally, rural residents were likely to have their first MHA point of care be at a psychiatric ED.

In this study, income quintile was not associated with MHA ED visits. No other studies to our knowledge reported the association of income as a factor of interest in MHA ED use among methamphetamine users, specifically. One Ottawa study of people who use drugs found that low income/income assistance was associated with ED use.<sup>197</sup> Additionally, frequent ED users for MHA services most often live in low-income areas.<sup>198</sup>

### MHA Hospitalizations

Comparable trends to ED visits were seen with respect to MHA hospitalizations in our study: men had a significantly higher risk of an MHA hospitalization compared to women with a positive test, and there was no association between income quintile or rurality and MHA hospitalization.

When comparing these findings to the literature, the trends are less clear. For example, in their 2007 American case-control study of psychiatric service use, Pasic et al.<sup>94</sup> reported that being male was associated with higher risk of psychiatric admissions among methamphetamine users, whereas Leamon et al.<sup>107</sup> and Rahimi et al.<sup>195</sup> reported that women were more likely to be admitted. Conversely, in McKetin et al.'s<sup>87</sup> 2018 study of methamphetamine-related health care use in Australia, there was no association between sex and psychiatric admissions. Therefore, more research is needed to understand the association between sex and MHA hospitalization.

Similarly, there is limited literature on the association between income and psychiatric admission in methamphetamine users. In general, low household income is associated with higher rates of psychiatric admission.<sup>199</sup> McKetin et al.<sup>87</sup> reported that low income

was associated with psychiatric admission in methamphetamine users, and other population-level studies<sup>200,201</sup> focusing on any amphetamine-related hospitalizations have also identified that low income is associated with hospitalization.

Finally, few studies have examined the association between rural and urban methamphetamine users and psychiatric admissions specifically. However, other studies<sup>193,194</sup> note the barriers in accessing psychiatric health care in rural areas. One Ontario study<sup>202</sup> found substance use hospitalizations were higher in rural youth compared to urban youth. More research can be done to understand how rurality affects health service use in methamphetamine users.

### 5.1.4.2 Factors associated with total LOS

Living in a rural area was associated with a significantly shorter total LOS among those with a positive test who had an MHA hospitalization. However, having a prevalent mental disorder and increased age were associated with a longer total LOS. Income quintile had no significant effect on individuals' total LOS.

Notably, sex was not associated with total LOS among people with a positive test. Once again, there is limited literature that reports sex and LOS of a psychiatric hospitalization for comparison. However, Iwanami et al.<sup>116</sup> reported in their study that men were more at risk of an MHA hospitalization compared to women who used methamphetamine.

Limited information is available in the literature regarding the total LOS of psychiatric hospitalizations among methamphetamine users and factors associated with LOS. However, one 2019 American study<sup>203</sup> that compared any hospitalization of drug users to non-drug users found that drug users had a significantly longer LOS (5.5 days vs 4.5 days, p<0.001). Winkelman et al.<sup>200</sup> also found that people with an amphetamine-related hospitalization had a significantly longer stay compared to both who used opioids and nondrug users. However, more research is needed focusing specifically on methamphetamine users to clearly identify trends and factors associated with psychiatric LOS.

# 5.2 Study Strengths

One strength of this study is the use of ICES databases which 1) capture health information of all insured residents from across Ontario and 2) provide consistency in data used in this project. To our knowledge, this is the largest study in Ontario that reports MHA service use among methamphetamine users and is also the largest study that focuses specifically on identifying any sex differences in methamphetamine and MHA service use. Furthermore, ICES has standardized definitions for MHA-related visits, which provides consistency in identifying MHA diagnoses. The use of ICES databases provide consistency in collection and reporting of data from residents visiting or admitted to health centres from across Ontario.

Additionally, the use of the NMS enabled us to exclude people who use prescription amphetamines, greatly reducing the chance of false positive tests in the study cohort.

Another strength of this study is that we were able to access important sociodemographic and clinical information (age, sex, income quintile, rurality, prior positive clinical tests, and MHA clinical history) and ascertain any associations between these variables, methamphetamine use, and MHA service use.

Another strength of this study is the use of urine and serum drug screens to identify recent methamphetamine use. Although studies<sup>204–207</sup> have demonstrated the validity, reliability, and specificity of self-reported drug use, there are conflicting reports on the sensitivity of self-reported drug use. Self-reported drug use estimates are also susceptible to bias; the use of drug screens avoids recall bias that is present when relying on self-reported estimates of drug use. Furthermore, social desirability bias can also lead to under-reporting of self-reported drug use and underestimation of true drug use. Memory problems are another factor that could lead to over-reporting of self-reported drug use.<sup>208</sup> The use of urine screen results in the OLIS database helps avoid these biases and allows consistency in the way probable methamphetamine users within Ontario were identified for inclusion into the cohort. As of December 31, 2017, 61.7% of geographical regions in Ontario that covered 8.5 million residents included were captured by OLIS, which

represented over 60% of Ontario residents at the time, and included both rural and urban regions in the province.<sup>209,210</sup> Although not all Ontario residents were captured, this remains the largest cohort study to our knowledge that focuses solely on MHA service use among people who use methamphetamine.

# 5.3 Study Limitations

One limitation of this study is that it was impacted by ascertainment bias. The study sample consisted of people who were selected by health care providers for methamphetamine/amphetamine testing. People who were selected for testing may have had greater access to health care than those who were not selected for testing, ultimately leading could have led to greater rates of detection of MHA use among those who underwent a drug screen test compared to those who did not.

This study was also limited by its restriction of methamphetamine/amphetamine test results to only 2 years (2017-2018). In the years prior to 2017, the number of laboratories reporting test results to OLIS increased each year before stabilizing in 2017 and 2018. However, due to COVID-19 restrictions limiting health care access and use,<sup>133–135</sup> and exacerbating mental health issues<sup>211,212</sup>, test results reported to OLIS from 2019 onwards were not used for this study. Future studies should include more years of data to understand trends in methamphetamine use over time.

Another limitation of this study is the possibility of false positive drug screens. For example, Pope et al. conducted a 6-year review of over 15,000 amphetamine urinalysis results and found that false positives made up 3.9-9.9% of positive amphetamine screens.<sup>213</sup> To reduce the possibility of false positive screens in this project, people with filled prescriptions for certain amphetamine derivatives were excluded from the cohort; however, a range of other medications (including over-the-counter drugs) can still lead to a positive drug screen, including pseudoephedrine (commonly found in cold medications), bupropion, metformin, and fluoxetine, and there is no way to identify or exclude individuals who may have been using these medications at the time of their positive test.

Additionally, a limitation of this study was that the methamphetamine/amphetaminenegative group included former methamphetamine users and people who have never used methamphetamine. There may be important differences between these individuals within the group with respect to their medical history, including history of/current illicit drug use and prevalent mental disorders that are not reflected in this study.

This study was also limited by the lack of test results for other illicit substances. Polysubstance use is common among methamphetamine users, including concomitant opiate, cocaine, or marijuana use.<sup>152,214,215</sup> The use of any one or a combination of these substances may lead to users seeking MHA services. Because we did not know if individuals with a positive test were also using other substances, we cannot attribute their MHA service use to solely methamphetamine.

Finally, this study was limited the lack of data available on gender. For example, only sex is collected by the RPDB; however, studies suggest that methamphetamine use is more prevalent among transgender individuals compared to cisgender individuals, and also more prevalent among transgender women compared to both cisgender individuals and transgender men.<sup>216–218</sup> In transgender women, findings from other studies suggest that methamphetamine use.<sup>219,220</sup> Therefore, to gain a more comprehensive understanding of factors that impact MHA service use by methamphetamine users, future studies should aim to look at the effect of gender on methamphetamine use and MHA health service use.

# 5.4 Implications and Future Directions

This project has used health administrative data to describe the sociodemographic characteristics, prevalent mental disorders, and rates of MHA service use among methamphetamine users in Ontario. To our knowledge, this is the first population-level study that uses health administrative data to identify effect modification by sex on the relationship between methamphetamine and rates of MHA service use.

The results of this project have shown that the rates of MHA service use are significantly higher in people who use methamphetamine compared to those who do not. This study

identified that outpatient MHA service by methamphetamine users may be much higher than estimates in other studies. Future studies can aim to examine the diagnostic categories that are most associated with outpatient visits at these clinics to inform MHA service planning for methamphetamine users. This study also identified that rural residents may be overrepresented among methamphetamine users and that rurality may be associated with reduced risk of MHA outpatient service use and shorter LOS when hospitalized. However, there may not be any difference in use of EDs and hospitalizations between rural and urban methamphetamine users. Noting other literature that report rising rural methamphetamine use (and general illicit drug use), future studies can aim to understand the health outcomes of rural versus urban methamphetamine users.

This project also highlighted sex as an effect modifier on the relationship between methamphetamine exposure and MHA outpatient use, schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders, substance use disorders, deliberate self-harm, mood and anxiety disorders, and other mental disorders. Women who use methamphetamine may be at reduced risk of MHA ED visits and hospitalizations compared to men, while there may be no difference between the risk of MHA outpatient visits in men and women. Future studies can aim to understand the MHA outcomes of women and men at EDs and psychiatric hospitals, respectively, to understand which conditions impact admission and LOS and guide health system planning.

# 5.5 Acknowledgements

This study was supported by ICES, which is funded by an annual grant from the Ontario Ministry of Health (MOH) and the Ministry of Long-Term Care (MLTC). This study also received funding from Health Canada and the St Joseph's Hospital Foundation, London, Ontario. This document used data adapted from the Statistics Canada Postal CodeOM Conversion File, which is based on data licensed from Canada Post Corporation, and/or data adapted from the Ontario Ministry of Health Postal Code Conversion File, which contains data copied under license from ©Canada Post Corporation and Statistics Canada. Parts of this material are based on data and/or information compiled and provided by: CIHI and the Ontario Ministry of Health. The analyses, conclusions, opinions and statements expressed herein are solely those of the authors and do not reflect those of the funding or data sources; no endorsement is intended or should be inferred. We thank IQVIA Solutions Canada Inc. for use of their Drug Information File.

# References

- Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group. Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms (2015–2017). Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction; 2020. https://csuch.ca/publications/CSUCH-Canadian-Substance-Use-Costs-Harms-Report-2020-en.pdf
- Crispo JAG, Liu L, Bach P, et al. Amphetamine-Related Emergency Department Visits in Ontario, Canada, 2003-2020. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2023;68(11):838-849. doi:10.1177/07067437231158933
- Nickel NC, Chartier M, McDonald N, et al. Methamphetamine Use in Manitoba: A Linked Administrative Data Study. Published online 2020. https://umanitoba.ca/manitoba-centre-for-health-policy/sites/manitoba-centre-forhealth-policy/files/2021-11/methamphetamine-use-in-manitoba-a-linkedadministrative-data-study.pdf
- Han B, Compton WM, Jones CM, Einstein EB, Volkow ND. Methamphetamine Use, Methamphetamine Use Disorder, and Associated Overdose Deaths Among US Adults. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2021;78(12):1329-1342. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.2588
- Kevil CG, Goeders NE, Woolard MD, et al. Methamphetamine Use and Cardiovascular Disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2019;39(9):1739-1746. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312461
- Yasaei R, Saadabadi A. Methamphetamine. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing;
   2023. Accessed June 11, 2023. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK535356/
- Drug Users MRSA. Accessed June 20, 2023. https://www.nyc.gov/site/doh/health/health-topics/mrsa-drug-users.page

- meth-mouth.pdf. Accessed June 11, 2023. https://www.maine.gov/dhhs/mecdc/population-health/odh/documents/methmouth.pdf
- McKetin R, Dawe S, Burns RA, et al. The profile of psychiatric symptoms exacerbated by methamphetamine use. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2016;161:104-109. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.01.018
- Marshall BDL, Werb D. Health outcomes associated with methamphetamine use among young people: a systematic review. *Addict Abingdon Engl.* 2010;105(6):991-1002. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.02932.x
- Tardelli VS, Johnstone S, Xu B, et al. Marked Increase in Amphetamine-Related Emergency Department Visits and Inpatient Admissions in Toronto, Canada, 2014-2021. Can J Psychiatry Rev Can Psychiatr. 2023;68(4):249-256. doi:10.1177/07067437221125302
- Richards JR, Hamidi S, Grant CD, et al. Methamphetamine Use and Emergency Department Utilization: 20 Years Later. *J Addict*. 2017;2017:4050932. doi:10.1155/2017/4050932
- Adrian M, Van Truong M, Osazuwa T. Measuring levels of comorbidity in drug user\* emergency patients treated in Ontario hospitals. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2007;42(2-3):199-224. doi:10.1080/10826080601141909
- Nathani J, Morris RW, Glozier N, Sara G. Amphetamine use and psychiatric admissions: a 10-year perspective. *Australas Psychiatry Bull R Aust N Z Coll Psychiatr.* 2021;29(6):655-658. doi:10.1177/10398562211014227
- Sara G, Burgess P, Malhi G, Whiteford H. Amphetamine availability and admissions for psychosis in New South Wales, 2001-2009. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. 2011;45(4):317-324. doi:10.3109/00048674.2010.547455
- 16. Callaghan RC, Cunningham JK, Victor JC, Liu LM. Impact of Canadian federal methamphetamine precursor and essential chemical regulations on

methamphetamine-related acute-care hospital admissions. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2009;105(3):185-193. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2009.06.024

- Plüddemann A, Myers BJ, Parry CDH. Surge in treatment admissions related to methamphetamine use in Cape Town, South Africa: implications for public health. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2008;27(2):185-189. doi:10.1080/09595230701829363
- Dluzen DE, Liu B. Gender differences in methamphetamine use and responses: A review. *Gend Med.* 2008;5(1):24-35. doi:10.1016/S1550-8579(08)80005-8
- Brecht ML, O'Brien A, Von Mayrhauser C, Anglin MD. Methamphetamine use behaviors and gender differences. *Addict Behav.* 2004;29(1):89-106. doi:10.1016/S0306-4603(03)00082-0
- 20. Methamphetamine drug profile | www.emcdda.europa.eu. Accessed June 20, 2023. https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/drug-profiles/methamphetamine\_en
- Rothman RB, Baumann MH. Monoamine transporters and psychostimulant drugs. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2003;479(1-3):23-40. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2003.08.054
- Kish SJ. Pharmacologic mechanisms of crystal meth. CMAJ Can Med Assoc J. 2008;178(13):1679-1682. doi:10.1503/cmaj.071675
- Pro G, Hayes C, Montgomery BEE, Zaller N. Demographic and geographic shifts in the preferred route of methamphetamine administration among treatment cases in the US, 2010–2019. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2022;237:109535. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2022.109535
- 24. WDR22\_Booklet\_4.pdf. Accessed July 3, 2023. https://www.unodc.org/res/wdr2022/MS/WDR22\_Booklet\_4.pdf
- 25. Canada H. Canadian Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CADS): summary of results for 2019. Published December 20, 2021. Accessed June 23, 2023. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/canadian-alcohol-drugssurvey/2019-summary.html

- Tarasuk J, Zhang J, Lemyre A, Cholette F, Bryson M, Paquette D. National findings from the Tracks survey of people who inject drugs in Canada, Phase 4, 2017–2019. *Can Commun Dis Rep.* 2020;46(5):138-148. doi:10.14745/ccdr.v46i05a07
- 27. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. *Results from the 2021 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Detailed Tables, SAMHSA, CBHSQ.* U.S. Department of Health & Human Services; 2021. Accessed June 25, 2023. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt39441/NSDUHDetailedTa bs2021/NSDUHDetailedTabs2021/NSDUHDetTabsSect1pe2021.htm
- 28. Opioid- and stimulant-related harms Canada.ca. Accessed July 3, 2023. https://health-infobase.canada.ca/substance-related-harms/opioids-stimulants/
- 29. Canadian Community Epidemiology Network on Drug Use (CCENDU) Working Group. *Changes in Stimulant Use and Related Harms: Focus on Methamphetamine and Cocaine*. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction.; 2019.
- Velázquez T, Remrey L. Methamphetamine Use, Overdose Deaths, and Arrests Soared From 2015 to 2019. Pew Trusts. Published August 16, 2022. Accessed June 11, 2023. https://pew.org/3QKyaFH
- Park JN, Rashidi E, Foti K, Zoorob M, Sherman S, Alexander GC. Fentanyl and fentanyl analogs in the illicit stimulant supply: Results from U.S. drug seizure data, 2011–2016. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2021;218:108416. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108416
- 32. Payer DE, Young MM, Maloney-Hall B, et al. Adulterants, Contaminants and Co-Occurring Substances in Drugs on the Illegal Market in Canada. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction; 2020. Accessed June 23, 2023. https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2020-04/CCSA-CCENDU-Adulterants-Contaminants-Co-occurring-Substances-in-Drugs-Canada-Report-2020-en.pdf
- 33. Papamihali K, Collins D, Karamouzian M, Purssell R, Graham B, Buxton J. Crystal methamphetamine use in British Columbia, Canada: A cross-sectional study of

people who access harm reduction services. *PloS One*. 2021;16(5):e0252090. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0252090

- 34. Forchuk C, Serrato J, Scott L. People with lived and living experience of methamphetamine use and admission to hospital: what harm reduction do they suggest needs to be addressed? *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can Res Policy Pract.* 2023;43(6):338-347. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.43.7.04
- 35. Bach P, Hayashi K, Milloy MJ, et al. Characterising the increasing prevalence of crystal methamphetamine use in Vancouver, Canada, from 2006-2017: A genderbased analysis. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2020;39(7):932-940. doi:10.1111/dar.13126
- 36. Is Adderall the Same as "Meth" (Methamphetamine)? Healthline. Published January 20, 2023. Accessed July 23, 2023. https://www.healthline.com/health/adhd/how-do-adderall-and-meth-methamphetamine-differ
- Hendricks EJ. Off-label drugs for weight management. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes Targets Ther*. 2017;10:223-234. doi:10.2147/DMSO.S95299
- Morgenthaler TI, Kapur VK, Brown T, et al. Practice parameters for the treatment of narcolepsy and other hypersomnias of central origin. *Sleep*. 2007;30(12):1705-1711. doi:10.1093/sleep/30.12.1705
- Huang MC, Yang SY, Lin SK, et al. Risk of Cardiovascular Diseases and Stroke Events in Methamphetamine Users: A 10-Year Follow-Up Study. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2016;77(10):1396-1403. doi:10.4088/JCP.15m09872
- 40. Westover AN, McBride S, Haley RW. Stroke in young adults who abuse amphetamines or cocaine: a population-based study of hospitalized patients. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2007;64(4):495-502. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.64.4.495
- Swor DE, Maas MB, Walia SS, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of methamphetamine-associated intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurology*. 2019;93(1):e1e7. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000007666

- Gonzales R, Marinelli-Casey P, Hillhouse M, et al. Hepatitis A and B infection among methamphetamine-dependent users. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. 2008;35(3):351-352. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2008.05.001
- 43. El-Sharif A, Ashour HM. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA) colonization and infection in intravenous and inhalational opiate drug abusers. *Exp Biol Med Maywood NJ*. 2008;233(7):874-880. doi:10.3181/0711-RM-294
- 44. Taylor MM, Aynalem G, Smith LV, Montoya J, Kerndt P. Methamphetamine use and sexual risk behaviours among men who have sex with men diagnosed with early syphilis in Los Angeles County. *Int J STD AIDS*. 2007;18(2):93-97. doi:10.1258/095646207779949709
- 45. Mansergh G, Purcell DW, Stall R, et al. CDC Consultation on Methamphetamine Use and Sexual Risk Behavior for HIV/STD Infection: Summary and Suggestions. *Public Health Rep.* 2006;121(2):127-132.
- 46. Khan M, Berger A, Hemberg J, O'Neill A, Dyer TP, Smyrk K. Non-injection and Injection Drug Use and STI/HIV Risk in the United States: The Degree to which Sexual Risk Behaviors versus Sex with an STI-Infected Partner Account for Infection Transmission among Drug Users. *AIDS Behav.* 2013;17(3):1185-1194. doi:10.1007/s10461-012-0276-0
- 47. Lee HH, Sudhakara P, Desai S, Miranda K, Martinez LR. Understanding the Basis of METH Mouth Using a Rodent Model of Methamphetamine Injection, Sugar Consumption, and Streptococcus mutans Infection. *mBio*. 2021;12(2):e03534-20. doi:10.1128/mBio.03534-20
- Zweben JE, Cohen JB, Christian D, et al. Psychiatric Symptoms in Methamphetamine Users. *Am J Addict*. 2004;13(2):181-190. doi:10.1080/10550490490436055

- Moallem NR, Courtney KE, Ray LA. The relationship between impulsivity and methamphetamine use severity in a community sample. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2018;187:1-7. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.01.034
- Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th Ed.). American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- Hasin DS, O'Brien CP, Auriacombe M, et al. DSM-5 Criteria for Substance Use Disorders: Recommendations and Rationale. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2013;170(8):834-851. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12060782
- 52. Glasner-Edwards S, Mooney LJ. Methamphetamine Psychosis: Epidemiology and Management. *CNS Drugs*. 2014;28(12):1115-1126. doi:10.1007/s40263-014-0209-8
- 53. Zarrabi H, Khalkhali M, Hamidi A, Ahmadi R, Zavarmousavi M. Clinical features, course and treatment of methamphetamine-induced psychosis in psychiatric inpatients. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2016;16(1):44. doi:10.1186/s12888-016-0745-5
- 54. Wang LJ, Lin SK, Chen YC, et al. Differences in Clinical Features of Methamphetamine Users with Persistent Psychosis and Patients with Schizophrenia. *Psychopathology*. 2016;49(2):108-115. doi:10.1159/000445065
- Arunogiri S, Foulds JA, McKetin R, Lubman DI. A systematic review of risk factors for methamphetamine-associated psychosis. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. 2018;52(6):514-529. doi:10.1177/0004867417748750
- 56. Ding Y, Lin H, Zhou L, Yan H, He N. Adverse childhood experiences and interaction with methamphetamine use frequency in the risk of methamphetamine-associated psychosis. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2014;142:295-300. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.06.042
- 57. Akindipe T, Wilson D, Stein DJ. Psychiatric disorders in individuals with methamphetamine dependence: prevalence and risk factors. *Metab Brain Dis*. 2014;29(2):351-357. doi:10.1007/s11011-014-9496-5

- Glasner-Edwards S, Mooney LJ, Marinelli-Casey P, Hillhouse M, Ang A, Rawson RA. Psychopathology in methamphetamine-dependent adults 3 years after treatment. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2010;29(1):12-20. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00081.x
- 59. Lisa P, Felicia K, Laura H, et al. Associations between methamphetamine use, psychiatric comorbidities and treatment outcome in two inpatient rehabilitation centers. *Psychiatry Res.* 2019;280:112505. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112505
- 60. Polcin DL, Buscemi R, Nayak M, Korcha R, Galloway G. Gender Differences in Psychiatric Symptoms among Methamphetamine Dependent Residents in Sober Living Houses. *Addict Disord Their Treat*. 2012;11(2):53-63. doi:10.1097/ADT.0b013e3182213ef1
- Franke AG, Neumann S, Proebstl L, et al. Psychiatric Comorbidity and Psychopathology of Methamphetamine Users—Are There Gender Differences? *Int J Ment Health Addict*. Published online January 26, 2022. doi:10.1007/s11469-021-00743-4
- Cservenka A, Ray LA. Self-reported attentional and motor impulsivity are related to age at first methamphetamine use. *Addict Behav*. 2017;65:7-12. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.09.008
- Kogachi S, Chang L, Alicata D, Cunningham E, Ernst T. Sex differences in impulsivity and brain morphometry in methamphetamine users. *Brain Struct Funct*. 2017;222(1):215-227. doi:10.1007/s00429-016-1212-2
- 64. Acheson LS, Ezard N, Lintzeris N, et al. Lisdexamfetamine for the treatment of acute methamphetamine withdrawal: A pilot feasibility and safety trial. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2022;241:109692. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2022.109692
- 65. Leelahanaj T, Kongsakon R, Netrakom P. A 4-week, double-blind comparison of olanzapine with haloperidol in the treatment of amphetamine psychosis. *J Med Assoc Thail Chotmaihet Thangphaet*. 2005;88 Suppl 3:S43-52.

- 66. Verachai V, Rukngan W, Chawanakrasaesin K, et al. Treatment of methamphetamine-induced psychosis: a double-blind randomized controlled trial comparing haloperidol and quetiapine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2014;231(16):3099-3108. doi:10.1007/s00213-014-3485-6
- Fluyau D, Mitra P, Lorthe K. Antipsychotics for Amphetamine Psychosis. A Systematic Review. *Front Psychiatry*. 2019;10. Accessed June 24, 2023. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00740
- Colfax GN, Santos GM, Das M, et al. Mirtazapine to reduce methamphetamine use: a randomized controlled trial. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2011;68(11):1168-1175. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.124
- 69. Heinzerling KG, Swanson AN, Hall TM, Yi Y, Wu Y, Shoptaw SJ. Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of bupropion in methamphetamine-dependent participants with less than daily methamphetamine use. *Addict Abingdon Engl.* 2014;109(11):1878-1886. doi:10.1111/add.12636
- Trivedi MH, Walker R, Ling W, et al. Bupropion and Naltrexone in Methamphetamine Use Disorder. *N Engl J Med.* 2021;384(2):140-153. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2020214
- 71. What treatments are effective for people who misuse methamphetamine? National Institute on Drug Abuse. Published --. Accessed June 24, 2023. https://nida.nih.gov/publications/research-reports/methamphetamine/what-treatmentsare-effective-people-who-misuse-methamphetamine
- 72. National Institute on Drug Abuse. Principles of Drug Addiction Treatment: A Research-Based Guide: Third Edition: (686332012-001). Published online 2012. doi:10.1037/e686332012-001
- 73. Eghbali H, Zare M, Bakhtiari A, Monirpoor N, Ganjali A. The Effectiveness of Matrix Interventions in Improving Methadone Treatment. *Int J High Risk Behav Addict*. 2013;1(4):159-165. doi:10.5812/ijhrba.8906

- 74. The Matrix Model for Substance Abuse Therapy | Matrix Model for Addiction -Sunshine Behavioral Health. Published July 28, 2020. Accessed July 3, 2023. https://www.sunshinebehavioralhealth.com/treatment/matrix-model-for-substanceabuse-therapy/
- Russell K, Dryden DM, Liang Y, et al. Risk factors for methamphetamine use in youth: a systematic review. *BMC Pediatr*. 2008;8(1):48. doi:10.1186/1471-2431-8-48
- 76. Sattah MV, Supawitkul S, Dondero TJ, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors for methamphetamine use in northern Thai youth: results of an audio-computer-assisted self-interviewing survey with urine testing. *Addiction*. 2002;97(7):801-808. doi:10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00131.x
- 77. Boden JM, Foulds JA, Cantal C, et al. Predictors of methamphetamine use in a longitudinal birth cohort. *Addict Behav*. 2023;144:107714. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2023.107714
- Radatz DL, Vandenberg AL, Sample LL. Predictors of Methamphetamine Use Among Adolescents: Findings From a Midwestern Sample. *J Drug Issues*. 2015;45(2):100-117. doi:10.1177/0022042614559840
- 79. Rusch ML, Lozada R, Pollini RA, et al. Polydrug Use among IDUs in Tijuana, Mexico: Correlates of Methamphetamine Use and Route of Administration by Gender. J Urban Health. 2009;86(5):760-775. doi:10.1007/s11524-009-9377-0
- 80. Garofalo R, Mustanski BS, McKirnan DJ, Herrick A, Donenberg GR. Methamphetamine and Young Men Who Have Sex With Men: Understanding Patterns and Correlates of Use and the Association With HIV-Related Sexual Risk. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2007;161(6):591-596. doi:10.1001/archpedi.161.6.591
- 81. Bunting PJ, Fulde GWO, Forster SL. Comparison of crystalline methamphetamine ("ice") users and other patients with toxicology-related problems presenting to a hospital emergency department. *Med J Aust.* 2007;187(10):564-566. doi:10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.tb01417.x

- 82. McFaull SR, Champagne A, Thompson W, Bang F. Injuries and poisonings associated with methamphetamine use: sentinel surveillance, the electronic Canadian Hospitals Injury Reporting and Prevention Program (eCHIRPP), 2011-2019. *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can Res Policy Pract*. 2020;40(4):126-129. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.40.4.04
- 83. Schultz BR, Lu BY, Onoye JM, Toohey TP. High Resource Utilization of Psychiatric Emergency Services by Methamphetamine Users. *Hawaii J Med Public Health J Asia Pac Med Public Health*. 2018;77(12):312-314.
- 84. Murphy CE, Wang RC, Coralic Z, Lai AR, Raven M. Association Between Methamphetamine Use and Psychiatric Hospitalization, Chemical Restraint, and Emergency Department Length of Stay. *Acad Emerg Med Off J Soc Acad Emerg Med*. 2020;27(11):1116-1125. doi:10.1111/acem.14094
- 85. Sara G, Lappin J, Dobbins T, Dunlop AJ, Degenhardt L. Escalating patterns of emergency health care prior to first admission with amphetamine psychosis: A window of opportunity? *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2017;180:171-177. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.08.009
- 86. Lee WC, Chang HM, Huang MC, et al. Increased medical utilization and psychiatric comorbidity following a new diagnosis of methamphetamine use disorder. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*. 2022;48(2):245-254. doi:10.1080/00952990.2021.1979990
- 87. McKetin R, Degenhardt L, Shanahan M, Baker AL, Lee NK, Lubman DI. Health service utilisation attributable to methamphetamine use in Australia: Patterns, predictors and national impact. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2018;37(2):196-204. doi:10.1111/dar.12518
- 88. Chivaurah BM, Lienert D, Coates D. Amphetamine-type-substance-related presentations to the Emergency Department Mental Health Team of a local health district in Australia. *Australas Psychiatry Bull R Aust N Z Coll Psychiatr*. 2019;27(4):369-373. doi:10.1177/1039856219848836

- Lee WC, Chang HM, Huang MC, et al. Healthcare utilization and psychiatric and physical comorbidities before suicide mortality in patients with methamphetamine use disorder: A nationwide case-control study. *Addict Behav.* 2022;126:107192. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2021.107192
- 90. Miller J, Atala R, Sarangarm D, et al. Methamphetamine Abuse Trends in Psychiatric Emergency Services: A Retrospective Analysis Using Big Data. *Community Ment Health J.* 2020;56(5):959-962. doi:10.1007/s10597-020-00563-1
- 91. Suen LW, Davy-Mendez T, LeSaint KT, Riley ED, Coffin PO. Emergency department visits and trends related to cocaine, psychostimulants, and opioids in the United States, 2008-2018. *BMC Emerg Med*. 2022;22(1):19. doi:10.1186/s12873-022-00573-0
- 92. Harnett JT, Dargan PI, Dines AM, et al. Increasing emergency department attendances in central London with methamphetamine toxicity and associated harms. *Emerg Med J EMJ*. 2022;39(6):463-466. doi:10.1136/emermed-2020-209550
- 93. Monahan C, Coleman M. Ice in the Outback: the epidemiology of amphetamine-type stimulant-related hospital admissions and presentations to the emergency department in Hedland, Western Australia. *Australas Psychiatry Bull R Aust N Z Coll Psychiatr.* 2018;26(4):417-421. doi:10.1177/1039856218762307
- 94. Pasic J, Russo JE, Ries RK, Roy-Byrne PP. Methamphetamine users in the psychiatric emergency services: a case-control study. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*. 2007;33(5):675-686. doi:10.1080/00952990701522732
- 95. Toles M, Jiang CS, Goebert D, Lettich L. Methamphetamine in Emergency Psychiatry. *Addict Disord Their Treat*. 2006;5(4):191-199. doi:10.1097/01.adt.0000210076.53993.05
- 96. Cloutier RL, Hendrickson RG, Fu RR, Blake B. Methamphetamine-related psychiatric visits to an urban academic emergency department: an observational study. *J Emerg Med.* 2013;45(1):136-142. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2012.11.094

- Hendrickson RG, Cloutier R, McConnell KJ. Methamphetamine-related emergency department utilization and cost. *Acad Emerg Med Off J Soc Acad Emerg Med*. 2008;15(1):23-31. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2007.00006.x
- 98. Indig D, Copeland J, Conigrave KM, Arcuri A. Characteristics and comorbidity of drug and alcohol-related emergency department presentations detected by nursing triage text. *Addict Abingdon Engl.* 2010;105(5):897-906. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02857.x
- 99. Romann V, Illgen M, Derungs A, et al. Presentations with reported methamphetamine use to an urban emergency department in Switzerland. *Swiss Med Wkly*. 2021;151:w30099. doi:10.4414/smw.2021.w30099
- Auten JD, Matteucci MJ, Gaspary MJ, Combs DJ, Clark RF. Psychiatric implications of adolescent methamphetamine exposures. *Pediatr Emerg Care*. 2012;28(1):26-29. doi:10.1097/PEC.0b013e31823ed6ca
- 101. Unadkat A, Subasinghe S, Harvey RJ, Castle DJ. Methamphetamine use in patients presenting to emergency departments and psychiatric inpatient facilities: what are the service implications? *Australas Psychiatry Bull R Aust N Z Coll Psychiatr.* 2019;27(1):14-17. doi:10.1177/1039856218810155
- 102. Lin CH, Chen JJ, Chan CH. Comparison of Psychiatric and Clinical Profiles Between People Who Use Synthetic Cathinones and Methamphetamine: A Matched Case-Control Study. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2023;43(2):122-130. doi:10.1097/JCP.00000000001649
- 103. Fatovich DM, Davis G, Bartu A. Morbidity associated with amphetamine-related presentations to an emergency department: A record linkage study. *Emerg Med Australas EMA*. 2012;24(5):553-559. doi:10.1111/j.1742-6723.2012.01590.x
- 104. Zito MF, Fei Z, Zhu Y, Clingan SE, Marder SR, Mooney LJ. Psychosis among individuals with methamphetamine use disorder is associated with elevated rates of

hospitalizations and emergency department visits across an academic health care system. *J Subst Use Addict Treat*. 2023;151:209033. doi:10.1016/j.josat.2023.209033

- 105. Chen T, Spiller HA, Badeti J, Funk AR, Zhu M, Smith GA. Methamphetamine exposures reported to United States poison control centers, 2000-2019. *Clin Toxicol Phila Pa.* 2021;59(8):705-714. doi:10.1080/15563650.2020.1861287
- Roxburgh A, Degenhardt L. Characteristics of drug-related hospital separations in Australia. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2008;92(1-3):149-155. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2007.07.020
- 107. Leamon MH, Gibson DR, Canning RD, Benjamin L. Hospitalization of patients with cocaine and amphetamine use disorders from a psychiatric emergency service. *Psychiatr Serv Wash DC*. 2002;53(11):1461-1466. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.53.11.1461
- 108. Alniak I, Ulusoy, Sevinc, Cebeci, Berkay Arda. The use of methamphetamine in the probation population. *Dusunen Adam J Psychiatry Neurol Sci.* 2022;35:2-12. doi:10.14744/DAJPNS.2022.00166
- Brecht ML, von Mayrhauser C. Differences between Ecstasy-using and nonusing methamphetamine users. *J Psychoactive Drugs*. 2002;34(2):215-223. doi:10.1080/02791072.2002.10399956
- Baberg HT, Nelesen RA, Dimsdale JE. Amphetamine use: return of an old scourge in a consultation psychiatry setting. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1996;153(6):789-793. doi:10.1176/ajp.153.6.789
- Herbst C, O'Connell M, Melton BL, Moeller KE. Initiation of Antipsychotic Treatment for Amphetamine Induced Psychosis and Its Impact on Length of Stay. J Pharm Pract. Published online June 22, 2022:8971900221110453. doi:10.1177/08971900221110453
- 112. Medhus S, Mordal J, Holm B, Mørland J, Bramness JG. A comparison of symptoms and drug use between patients with methamphetamine associated

psychoses and patients diagnosed with schizophrenia in two acute psychiatric wards. *Psychiatry Res.* 2013;206(1):17-21. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2012.09.023

- 113. Thomas E, Lategan H, Verster C, Kidd M, Weich L. Methamphetamine-induced psychosis: Clinical features, treatment modalities and outcomes. *South Afr J Psychiatry SAJP J Soc Psychiatr South Afr*. 2016;22(1):980. doi:10.4102/sajpsychiatry.v22i1.980
- Ali R, Marsden J, Srisurapanont M, Sunga A, Baigent M, Monteiro M.
   Methamphetamine Psychosis in Australia, Philippines, and Thailand:
   Recommendations for Acute Care and Clinical Inpatient Management. *Addict Disord Their Treat*. 2010;9(4):143-149. doi:10.1097/ADT.0b013e3181cf58f2
- 115. Fasihpour B, Molavi S, Shariat SV. Clinical features of inpatients with methamphetamine-induced psychosis. *J Ment Health Abingdon Engl.* 2013;22(4):341-349. doi:10.3109/09638237.2012.745184
- 116. Iwanami A, Sugiyama A, Kuroki N, et al. Patients with methamphetamine psychosis admitted to a psychiatric hospital in Japan. A preliminary report. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. 1994;89(6):428-432. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.1994.tb01541.x
- 117. Rawson R, Huber A, Brethen P, et al. Methamphetamine and cocaine users: differences in characteristics and treatment retention. *J Psychoactive Drugs*. 2000;32(2):233-238. doi:10.1080/02791072.2000.10400234
- 118. Behle N, Kamp F, Proebstl L, et al. Treatment outcome, cognitive function, and psychopathology in methamphetamine users compared to other substance users. *World J Psychiatry*. 2022;12(7):944-957. doi:10.5498/wjp.v12.i7.944
- Copeland AL, Sorensen JL. Differences between methamphetamine users and cocaine users in treatment. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2001;62(1):91-95. doi:10.1016/s0376-8716(00)00164-2

- Hser YI, Evans E, Huang YC. Treatment outcomes among women and men methamphetamine abusers in California. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. 2005;28(1):77-85. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2004.10.009
- 121. Christian DR, Huber A, Brecht ML, et al. Methamphetamine users entering treatment: characteristics of the methamphetamine treatment project sample. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2007;42(14):2207-2222. doi:10.1080/10826080701209341
- 122. Rawson RA, Gonzales R, Obert JL, McCann MJ, Brethen P. Methamphetamine use among treatment-seeking adolescents in Southern California: participant characteristics and treatment response. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. 2005;29(2):67-74. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2005.04.001
- 123. Gonzales R, Ang A, McCann MJ, Rawson RA. An emerging problem: methamphetamine abuse among treatment seeking youth. *Subst Abuse*. 2008;29(2):71-80. doi:10.1080/08897070802093312
- Registered Persons Database (RPDB) Ontario Data Catalogue. Accessed October 3, 2023. https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/registered-persons-database-rpdb
- 125. OHDP Researchers Datasets. OHDP. Accessed October 3, 2023. https://ohdp.ca/datasets/
- 126. Iskander C, McArthur E, Nash DM, et al. Identifying Ontario geographic regions to assess adults who present to hospital with laboratory-defined conditions: a descriptive study. *CMAJ Open.* 2019;7(4):E624-E629. doi:10.9778/cmajo.20190065
- 127. Government of Ontario M of H and LTC. Narcotics Monitoring System Health Care Professionals - MOHLTC. Accessed October 2, 2023. https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/drugs/ons/monitoring\_system.aspx
- 128. Ontario Mental Health Reporting System Metadata | CIHI. Accessed June 6, 2023. https://www.cihi.ca/en/ontario-mental-health-reporting-system-metadata

- 129. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Discharge Abstract Database (DAD) metadata | CIHI. Accessed October 2, 2023. https://www.cihi.ca/en/dischargeabstract-database-dad-metadata
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. Data Quality Documentation, Discharge Abstract Database — Current-Year Information, 2018–2019.
- 131. Canadian Institute for Health Information. National Ambulatory Care Reporting System (NACRS) metadata | CIHI. Accessed October 3, 2023. https://www.cihi.ca/en/national-ambulatory-care-reporting-system-nacrs-metadata
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. Data Quality Documentation, National Ambulatory Care Reporting System — Current-Year Information, 2018–2019.
- Saunders NR, Toulany A, Deb B, et al. Acute mental health service use following onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in Ontario, Canada: a trend analysis. *CMAJ Open*. 2021;9(4):E988-E997. doi:10.9778/cmajo.20210100
- 134. Pujolar G, Oliver-Anglès A, Vargas I, Vázquez ML. Changes in Access to Health Services during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Scoping Review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* 2022;19(3):1749. doi:10.3390/ijerph19031749
- 135. Frank K. Difficulties accessing health care in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic: Comparing individuals with and without chronic conditions. *Health Rep.* 2022;33(11):16-26. doi:10.25318/82-003-x202201100002-eng
- Lamberts H, Hofmans-Okkes I. Episode of care: a core concept in family practice. *J Fam Pract.* 1996;42(2):161-167.
- 137. Government of Canada SC. Classification of age categories by five-year age groups. Statistics Canada. Published November 23, 2009. Accessed April 9, 2024. https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p3VD.pl?Function=getVD&TVD=61988

- Austin PC. Using the Standardized Difference to Compare the Prevalence of a Binary Variable Between Two Groups in Observational Research. *Commun Stat -Simul Comput.* 2009;38(6):1228-1234. doi:10.1080/03610910902859574
- Elhai JD, Calhoun PS, Ford JD. Statistical procedures for analyzing mental health services data. *Psychiatry Res.* 2008;160(2):129-136. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2007.07.003
- 140. Lee JH, Han G, Fulp WJ, Giuliano AR. Analysis of overdispersed count data: application to the Human Papillomavirus Infection in Men (HIM) Study. *Epidemiol Infect*. 2012;140(6):1087-1094. doi:10.1017/S095026881100166X
- 141. Lachin JM. Biostatistical Methods: The Assessment of Relative Risks. 2nd ed. Wiley; 2011.
- Portet S. A primer on model selection using the Akaike Information Criterion. Infect Dis Model. 2020;5:111-128. doi:10.1016/j.idm.2019.12.010
- 143. Lee KH, Pedroza C, Avritscher EBC, Mosquera RA, Tyson JE. Evaluation of negative binomial and zero-inflated negative binomial models for the analysis of zero-inflated count data: application to the telemedicine for children with medical complexity trial. *Trials*. 2023;24(1):613. doi:10.1186/s13063-023-07648-8
- Zou G. A Modified Poisson Regression Approach to Prospective Studies with Binary Data. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2004;159(7):702-706. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh090
- 145. Chen W, Qian L, Shi J, Franklin M. Comparing performance between logbinomial and robust Poisson regression models for estimating risk ratios under model misspecification. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2018;18(1):63. doi:10.1186/s12874-018-0519-5
- 146. Loop MS, Van Dyke MK, Chen L, et al. Comparison of Length of Stay, 30-Day Mortality, and 30-Day Readmission Rates in Medicare Patients With Heart Failure and With Reduced Versus Preserved Ejection Fraction. *Am J Cardiol.* 2016;118(1):79-85. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.04.015

- Andrei AC. Modeling Hospital Length of Stay Data: Pitfalls and Opportunities. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2016;101(6):2426. doi:10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.12.064
- 148. Fernandez GA, Vatcheva KP. A comparison of statistical methods for modeling count data with an application to hospital length of stay. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2022;22(1):211. doi:10.1186/s12874-022-01685-8
- 149. Weaver CG, Ravani P, Oliver MJ, Austin PC, Quinn RR. Analyzing hospitalization data: potential limitations of Poisson regression. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2015;30(8):1244-1249. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfv071
- 150. Papamihali K, Collins D, Karamouzian M, Purssell R, Graham B, Buxton J. Crystal methamphetamine use in British Columbia, Canada: A cross-sectional study of people who access harm reduction services. *PLOS ONE*. 2021;16(5):e0252090. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0252090
- 151. Saw YM, Saw TN, Yasuoka J, et al. Gender difference in early initiation of methamphetamine use among current methamphetamine users in Muse, Northern Shan State, Myanmar. *Harm Reduct J*. 2017;14(1):21. doi:10.1186/s12954-017-0147-0
- 152. Han B, Compton WM, Jones CM, Einstein EB, Volkow ND. Methamphetamine Use, Methamphetamine Use Disorder, and Associated Overdose Deaths Among US Adults. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2021;78(12):1329-1342. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.2588
- 153. Korte JE, Hiott FB, Brady KT, Malcolm RJ, See RE. Distinctive characteristics of methamphetamine users presenting at public clinics: Steep rise in South Carolina, United States, 2000–2005. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2011;115(1):9-15. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.09.023
- Government of Canada SC. Population and Dwelling Count Highlight Tables,
   2016 Census. Statistics Canada. Published February 8, 2017. Accessed April 28,

2024. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hlt-fst/pd-pl/Table.cfm?Lang=Eng&T=703&SR=1&S=87&O=A&RPP=25

- 155. Havens JR, Knudsen HK, Strickland JC, et al. Recent Increase in Methamphetamine Use in a Cohort of Rural People Who Use Drugs: Further Evidence for the Emergence of Twin Epidemics. *Front Psychiatry*. 2022;12. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2021.805002
- 156. Gfroerer JC, Larson SL, Colliver JD. Drug use patterns and trends in rural communities. J Rural Health Off J Am Rural Health Assoc Natl Rural Health Care Assoc. 2007;23 Suppl:10-15. doi:10.1111/j.1748-0361.2007.00118.x
- Ellis MS, Kasper ZA, Cicero TJ. Twin epidemics: The surging rise of methamphetamine use in chronic opioid users. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2018;193:14-20. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.08.029
- 158. Urban and Rural Student Substance Use (Technical Report). Tech Rep.
- Hedegaard H. Urban–Rural Differences in Drug Overdose Death Rates, 1999– 2019. 2021;(403).
- 160. Kalechstein AD, Newton TF, Longshore D, Anglin MD, Van Gorp WG, Gawin FH. Psychiatric Comorbidity of Methamphetamine Dependence in a Forensic Sample. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*. 2000;12(4):480-484. doi:10.1176/jnp.12.4.480
- Schuckit MA. Comorbidity between substance use disorders and psychiatric conditions. *Addiction*. 2006;101(s1):76-88. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01592.x
- Aleman A, Kahn RS, Selten JP. Sex Differences in the Risk of Schizophrenia: Evidence From Meta-analysis. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2003;60(6):565. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.60.6.565
- 163. Hunt GE, Large MM, Cleary M, Lai HMX, Saunders JB. Prevalence of comorbid substance use in schizophrenia spectrum disorders in community and clinical

settings, 1990–2017: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2018;191:234-258. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.07.011

- 164. Cuzen NL, Koopowitz SM, Ferrett HL, Stein DJ, Yurgelun-Todd D. Methamphetamine and cannabis abuse in adolescence: a quasi-experimental study on specific and long-term neurocognitive effects. *BMJ Open.* 2015;5(1):e005833e005833. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005833
- 165. Kaye S, Lewandowski A, Bowman J, Doyle MF. Crystal methamphetamine use among young people entering custody: Prevalence, correlates and comorbidity. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2021;40(7):1266-1274. doi:10.1111/dar.13210
- 166. Yen C, Yang Y, Chong M. Correlates of methamphetamine use for Taiwanese adolescents. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*. 2006;60(2):160-167. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2006.01481.x
- 167. King G, Alicata D, Cloak C, Chang L. Psychiatric symptoms and HPA axis function in adolescent methamphetamine users. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol Off J Soc NeuroImmune Pharmacol*. 2010;5(4):582-591. doi:10.1007/s11481-010-9206-y
- Zweben JE, Cohen JB, Christian D, et al. Psychiatric Symptoms in Methamphetamine Users. *Am J Addict*. 2004;13(2):181-190. doi:10.1080/10550490490436055
- 169. Glasner-Edwards S, Mooney LJ, Marinelli-Casey P, et al. Risk factors for suicide attempts in methamphetamine-dependent patients. *Am J Addict*. 2008;17(1):24-27. doi:10.1080/10550490701756070
- 170. Glasner-Edwards S, Mooney LJ, Marinelli-Casey P, Ang A, Rawson R. Bulimia Nervosa Among Methamphetamine Dependent Adults: Association With Outcomes 3 Years After Treatment. *Eat Disord*. 2011;19(3):259-269. doi:10.1080/10640266.2011.566149

- 171. Bartram M. Income-based inequities in access to mental health services in Canada. *Can J Public Health Rev Can Santé Publique*. 2019;110(4):395-403. doi:10.17269/s41997-019-00204-5
- 172. Philippon DJ, Marchildon GP, Ludlow K, Boyling C, Braithwaite J. The comparative performance of the Canadian and Australian health systems. *Healthc Manage Forum*. 2018;31(6):239-244. doi:10.1177/0840470418788378
- 173. Dunn J, Yuan M, Ramírez F, et al. Addressing Methamphetamine Use in Primary Care: Provider Perspectives. *J Addict Med.* 2023;17(1):60-66. doi:10.1097/ADM.00000000001035
- 174. Deng X, Huang Z, Li X, et al. Long-term follow-up of patients treated for psychotic symptoms that persist after stopping illicit drug use. *Shanghai Arch Psychiatry*. 2012;24(5):271-278. doi:10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2012.05.004
- 175. Alderson HL, Semple DM, Blayney C, Queirazza F, Chekuri V, Lawrie SM. Risk of transition to schizophrenia following first admission with substance-induced psychotic disorder: a population-based longitudinal cohort study. *Psychol Med.* 2017;47(14):2548-2555. doi:10.1017/S0033291717001118
- 176. Kittirattanapaiboon P, Mahatnirunkul S, Booncharoen H, Thummawomg P, Dumrongchai U, Chutha W. Long-term outcomes in methamphetamine psychosis patients after first hospitalisation. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2010;29(4):456-461. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3362.2010.00196.x
- 177. McKetin R, Leung J, Stockings E, et al. Mental health outcomes associated with the use of amphetamines: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *eClinicalMedicine*. 2019;16:81-97. doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2019.09.014
- 178. Marshall BD, Galea S, Wood E, Kerr T. Injection Methamphetamine Use is Associated with an Increased Risk of Attempted Suicide: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2011;119(1-2):134-137. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2011.05.012

- 179. Darke S, Kaye S, Duflou J, Lappin J. Completed Suicide Among Methamphetamine Users: A National Study. *Suicide Life Threat Behav*. 2019;49(1):328-337. doi:10.1111/sltb.12442
- 180. Obermeit LC, Cattie JE, Bolden KA, et al. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder among chronic methamphetamine users: Frequency, persistence, and adverse effects on everyday functioning. *Addict Behav.* 2013;38(12):2874-2878. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.08.010
- 181. Dyk J van, Ramanjam V, Church P, Koren G, Donald K. Maternal methamphetamine use in pregnancy and long-term neurodevelopmental and behavioral deficits in children. *J Popul Ther Clin Pharmacol J Ther Popul Pharmacol Clin*. 2014;21(2):e185-196.
- 182. Kiblawi ZN, Smith LM, LaGasse LL, et al. The effect of prenatal methamphetamine exposure on attention as assessed by continuous performance tests: results from the Infant Development, Environment, and Lifestyle study. *J Dev Behav Pediatr JDBP*. 2013;34(1):31-37. doi:10.1097/DBP.0b013e318277a1c5
- 183. Kiblawi ZN, Smith LM, Diaz SD, et al. Prenatal methamphetamine exposure and neonatal and infant neurobehavioral outcome: results from the IDEAL study. *Subst Abuse*. 2014;35(1):68-73. doi:10.1080/08897077.2013.814614
- 184. Pearson C, Janz T, Ali J. Mental and substance use disorders in Canada.
- 185. Degenhardt L, Bharat C, Glantz MD, et al. The epidemiology of drug use disorders cross-nationally: Findings from the WHO's World Mental Health Surveys. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2019;71:103-112. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.03.002
- McHugh RK, Votaw VR, Sugarman DE, Greenfield SF. Sex and gender differences in substance use disorders. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2018;66:12-23. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2017.10.012

- Su H, Zhang J, Ren W, et al. Anxiety level and correlates in methamphetaminedependent patients during acute withdrawal. *Medicine (Baltimore)*.
   2017;96(15):e6434. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000006434
- Duncan Z, Kippen R, Sutton K, et al. Correlates of anxiety and depression in a community cohort of people who smoke methamphetamine. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. 2022;56(8):964-973. doi:10.1177/00048674211048152
- 189. Lin SK, Ball D, Hsiao CC, Chiang YL, Ree SC, Chen CK. Psychiatric comorbidity and gender differences of persons incarcerated for methamphetamine abuse in Taiwan. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* 2004;58(2):206-212. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2003.01218.x
- 190. Mihan R, Shahrivar Z, Mahmoudi-Gharaei J, Shakiba A, Hosseini M. Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in Adults Using Methamphetamine: Does It Affect Comorbidity, Quality of Life, and Global Functioning? *Iran J Psychiatry*. 2018;13(2):111-118.
- 191. Glasner-Edwards S, Mooney LJ, Marinelli-Casey P, Hillhouse M, Ang A, Rawson RA. Psychopathology in methamphetamine-dependent adults 3 years after treatment. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2010;29(1):12-20. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00081.x
- 192. Polcin DL, Buscemi R, Nayak M, Korcha R, Galloway G. Gender Differences in Psychiatric Symptoms among Methamphetamine Dependent Residents in Sober Living Houses. *Addict Disord Their Treat*. 2012;11(2):53-63. doi:10.1097/ADT.0b013e3182213ef1
- 193. Sibley LM, Weiner JP. An evaluation of access to health care services along the rural-urban continuum in Canada. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2011;11(1):20. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-11-20

- 194. Subedi R, Greenberg TL, Roshanafshar S. Does geography matter in mortality? An analysis of potentially avoidable mortality by remoteness index in Canada. *Health Rep.* 2019;30(5):3-15. doi:10.25318/82-003-x201900500001-eng
- 195. Rahimi A, Kozloff N, Wong AHC, Gicas KM. Clinical Characterization of Methamphetamine-related Emergency Department Use in a Canadian Psychiatric Hospital. *Can J Addict*. 2023;14(4):30. doi:10.1097/CXA.000000000000190
- 196. Kurdyak P, Gandhi S, Holder L, et al. Incidence of Access to Ambulatory Mental Health Care Prior to a Psychiatric Emergency Department Visit Among Adults in Ontario, 2010-2018. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2021;4(4):e215902. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.5902
- 197. Kendall CE, Boucher LM, Mark AE, et al. A cohort study examining emergency department visits and hospital admissions among people who use drugs in Ottawa, Canada. *Harm Reduct J.* 2017;14(1):16. doi:10.1186/s12954-017-0143-4
- 198. Paltser G, Lawand C, Dudevich A, Christy D, Chen XK, Gorzkiewicz CC and V. Measuring Access to Home and Community Care and to Mental Health and Addictions Services in Canada. *Healthc Q.* 2020;22(4). Accessed April 18, 2024. https://www.longwoods.com/content/26090/healthcare-quarterly/measuring-accessto-home-and-community-care-and-to-mental-health-and-addictions-services-incanada
- 199. Suokas K, Koivisto AM, Hakulinen C, et al. Association of Income With the Incidence Rates of First Psychiatric Hospital Admissions in Finland, 1996-2014. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2020;77(3):274-284. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3647
- 200. Winkelman TNA, Admon LK, Jennings L, Shippee ND, Richardson CR, Bart G. Evaluation of Amphetamine-Related Hospitalizations and Associated Clinical Outcomes and Costs in the United States. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2018;1(6):e183758. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.3758

- 201. Liu LJW, Crispo JAG, Bach P, et al. Amphetamine-related care in the USA, 2003–2014: cross-sectional analyses examining inpatient trends and factors associated with hospitalisation outcomes. *BMJ Open*. 2022;12(9):e059898. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-059898
- Hospital Stays for Harm Caused by Substance Use Among Youth Age 10 to 24, September 2019.
- 203. Ndanga M, Srinivasan S. Analysis of Hospitalization Length of Stay and Total Charges for Patients with Drug Abuse Comorbidity. *Cureus*. 11(12):e6516. doi:10.7759/cureus.6516
- 204. Chen WJ, Fang CC, Shyu RS, Lin KC. Underreporting of illicit drug use by patients at emergency departments as revealed by two-tiered urinalysis. *Addict Behav.* 2006;31(12):2304-2308. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2006.02.015
- 205. Khalili P, Nadimi AE, Baradaran HR, et al. Validity of self-reported substance use: research setting versus primary health care setting. *Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy*. 2021;16(1):66. doi:10.1186/s13011-021-00398-3
- 206. Napper LE, Fisher DG, Johnson ME, Wood MM. The reliability and validity of drug users' self reports of amphetamine use among primarily heroin and cocaine users. *Addict Behav.* 2010;35(4):350-354. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2009.12.006
- 207. Rowe C, Vittinghoff E, Colfax G, Coffin PO, Santos GM. Correlates of Validity of Self-Reported Methamphetamine Use among a Sample of Dependent Adults. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2018;53(10):1742-1755. doi:10.1080/10826084.2018.1432649
- 208. Johnson T, Fendrich M. Modeling Sources of Self-report Bias in a Survey of Drug Use Epidemiology. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2005;15(5):381-389. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2004.09.004
- 209. Iskander C, McArthur E, Nash DM, et al. Identifying Ontario geographic regions to assess adults who present to hospital with laboratory-defined conditions: a descriptive study. *CMAJ Open*. 2019;7(4):E624-E629. doi:10.9778/cmajo.20190065

- 210. Government of Canada SC. Census Profile, 2016 Census Ontario [Province] and Canada [Country]. Published February 8, 2017. Accessed April 20, 2024. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dppd/prof/details/Page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=PR&Code1=35&Geo2=&Code2=&Data= Count&SearchText=Ontario&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&GeoLev el=PR&GeoCode=35
- 211. Pongou R, Ahinkorah BO, Maltais S, Mabeu MC, Agarwal A, Yaya S.
  Psychological distress during the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada. *PLOS ONE*.
  2022;17(11):e0277238. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0277238
- 212. Robillard R, Daros AR, Phillips JL, et al. Emerging New Psychiatric Symptoms and the Worsening of Pre-existing Mental Disorders during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Canadian Multisite Study: Nouveaux symptômes psychiatriques émergents et détérioration des troubles mentaux préexistants durant la pandémie de la COVID-19: une étude canadienne multisite. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2021;66(9):815-826. doi:10.1177/0706743720986786
- Pope JD, Drummer OH, Schneider HG. False-Positive Amphetamines in Urine Drug Screens: A 6-Year Review. *J Anal Toxicol*. 2023;47(3):263-270. doi:10.1093/jat/bkac089
- Timko C, Han X, Woodhead E, Shelley A, Cucciare MA. Polysubstance Use by Stimulant Users: Health Outcomes Over Three Years. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*. 2018;79(5):799-807. doi:10.15288/jsad.2018.79.799
- 215. Yen Li M, Alba GA, Mitton J, Bearnot B. Care-engaged individuals with polysubstance use in Northeastern US are undertreated for methamphetamine use disorder: a retrospective cohort study. *Addict Sci Clin Pract*. 2021;16(1):57. doi:10.1186/s13722-021-00267-1
- De Pedro KT, Gilreath TD, Jackson C, Esqueda MC. Substance Use Among Transgender Students in California Public Middle and High Schools. *J Sch Health*. 2017;87(5):303-309. doi:10.1111/josh.12499

- 217. Newcomb ME, Hill R, Buehler K, Ryan DT, Whitton SW, Mustanski B. High Burden of Mental Health Problems, Substance Use, Violence, and Related Psychosocial Factors in Transgender, Non-Binary, and Gender Diverse Youth and Young Adults. *Arch Sex Behav.* 2020;49(2):645-659. doi:10.1007/s10508-019-01533-9
- Connolly D, Gilchrist G. Prevalence and correlates of substance use among transgender adults: A systematic review. *Addict Behav.* 2020;111:106544. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106544
- 219. Baguso GN, Santiago-Rodriguez E, Gyamerah AO, et al. Mental Distress and Use of Stimulants: Analysis of a Longitudinal Cohort of Transgender Women. *LGBT Health*. 2023;10(3):228-236. doi:10.1089/lgbt.2021.0192
- 220. Mburu G, Tuot S, Mun P, Chhoun P, Chann N, Yi S. Prevalence and correlates of amphetamine-type stimulant use among transgender women in Cambodia. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2019;74:136-143. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.09.010

## Appendices

<b>Appendix A: Codes used</b>	to identify people with	a methamphetamine/amphetamine test.	
11	<i>v</i> 1 1	1 1	

CODE TYPE	Category	Codes	Description	Type of Test
		16369-1	16369-1 [Amphetamines:ACnc:Pt:Urine:Ord:Confirm]	Categorical
		19059-5	19059-5 [Amphetamines cutoff:MCnc:Pt:Urine:Qn]	Continuous
		19261-7	19261-7 [Amphetamines:ACnc:Pt:Urine:Ord:Screen]	Categorical
		19262-5	19262-5 [AMPHETAMINES TESTED FOR:PRID:PT:URINE:NOM:SCREEN]	Categorical
		19343-3	19343-3 [Amphetamine:PrThr:Pt:Urine:Ord:Screen]	Categorical
	Amphetamine	19346-6	19346-6 [Amphetamine:MCnc:Pt:Urine:Qn]	Continuous
		19347-4	19347-4 [Amphetamine cutoff:MCnc:Pt:Urine:Qn:Screen]	Continuous
		3349-8	3349-8 [AMPHETAMINES:ACNC:PT:URINE:ORD]	Categorical
		43983-6	43983-6 [AMPHETAMINES:ACNC:PT:URINE:ORD:SCREEN>500 NG/ML]	Categorical
LOINC		8150-5	8150-5 [AMPHETAMINES:MCNC:PT:URINE:QN]	Continuous
	Amphetamine (serum)	3348-0	3348-0 [Amphetamines:PrThr:Pt:Ser/Plas:Ord]	Categorical
		19554-5	19554-5 [Methamphetamine:PrThr:Pt:Urine:Ord:Screen]	Categorical
		19555-2	19555-2 [Methamphetamine:ACnc:Pt:Urine:Ord:Confirm]	Categorical
	Methamphetamine	3779-6	3779-6 [Methamphetamine:PrThr:Pt:Urine:Ord]	Categorical
		3780-4	3780-4 [METHAMPHETAMINE:MCNC:PT:URINE:QN]	Continuous
		XON12906-4	XON12906-4 [Methamphetamines:ACnc:Pt:Urine:Ord:Screen>500 ng/mL]	Categorical
	Amphetamine / or +	16367-5	16367-5 [Amphetamine/Methamphetamine:MCrto:Pt:Urine:Ord]	Categorical
	Methamphetamine	40419-4	40419-4 [Amphetamine+Methamphetamine:PrThr:Pt:Urine:Ord]	Categorical

CODE TYPE	DCLASS	Codes	Description	Effective Date
DIN	EXC_VYV		Description	
DIN		02322951	Vyvanse	16/04/2012
		02322978	Vyvanse	16/04/2012
		02347156	Vyvanse	16/04/2012
		02347164	Vyvanse	16/04/2012
		02347172	Vyvanse	16/04/2012
		02439603	Vyvanse	31/07/2015
		02458071	Vyvanse	21/06/2017
		02490226	Vyvanse	13/09/2019
		02490234	Vyvanse	13/09/2019
		02490242	Vyvanse	13/09/2019
		02490250	Vyvanse	13/09/2019
		02490269	Vyvanse	13/09/2019
		02490277	Vyvanse	13/09/2019
	EXC_ADD	02248808	Adderall XR	16/04/2012
		02248809	Adderall XR	16/04/2012
		02248810	Adderall XR	16/04/2012
		02248811	Adderall XR	16/04/2012
		02248812	Adderall XR	16/04/2012
		02248813	Adderall XR	16/04/2012
	EXC_DEX	01924516	Dexedrine	16/04/2012
		01924559	Dexedrine Spansules	16/04/2012
		01924567	Dexedrine Spansules	16/04/2012
	EXC_AMP	02439239	Act Amphetamine XR	29/10/2015
		02439247	Act Amphetamine XR	29/10/2015
		02439255	Act Amphetamine XR	29/10/2015
		02439263	Act Amphetamine XR	29/10/2015
		02439271	Act Amphetamine XR	29/10/2015
		02439298	Act Amphetamine XR	29/10/2015
		02440369	PMS-Amphetamines XR	28/03/2017
		02440377	PMS-Amphetamines XR	28/03/2017
		02440385	PMS-Amphetamines XR	28/03/2017
		02440393	PMS-Amphetamines XR	28/03/2017
		02440407	PMS-Amphetamines XR	28/03/2017

Appendix B: Codes used to identify and exclude people with stimulant prescription medications.

02440415	PMS-Amphetamines XR	28/03/2017
02443236	Apo-Dextroamphetamine	18/12/2015
02445492	Apo-Amphetamine XR	31/07/2019
02445506	Apo-Amphetamine XR	31/07/2019
02445514	Apo-Amphetamine XR	31/07/2019
02445522	Apo-Amphetamine XR	31/07/2019
02445530	Apo-Amphetamine XR	31/07/2019
02445549	Apo-Amphetamine XR	31/07/2019
02448319	Act Dextroamphetamine SR	30/04/2018
02448327	Act Dextroamphetamine SR	30/04/2018
02457288	Sandoz Amphetamine XR	28/02/2017
02457296	Sandoz Amphetamine XR	28/02/2017
02457318	Sandoz Amphetamine XR	28/02/2017
02457326	Sandoz Amphetamine XR	28/02/2017
02457334	Sandoz Amphetamine XR	28/02/2017
02457342	Sandoz Amphetamine XR	28/02/2017

CODE TYPE	Codes	Description
ICD10	F80	Specific developmental disorders of speech and language
	F81	Specific developmental disorders of scholastic skills
	F82	Specific developmental disorder of motor function
	F83	Mixed specific developmental disorders
	F84	Pervasive developmental disorders
	F88	Other disorders of psychological development
	F89	Unspecified disorder of psychological development
	F90	Hyperkinetic disorders
	F91	Conduct disorders
	F92	Mixed disorders of conduct and emotions
	F933	Sibling rivalry disorder
	F938	Other childhood emotional disorders
	F939	Childhood emotional disorder NOS
DSM-IV	299	Pervasive developmental disorders
	3072	Tic disorders
	3073	Stereotypic movement disorder
	31381	Oppositional defiant disorder
	31389	Reactive attachment disorder of infancy or early childhood
	3139	Disorder of infancy, childhood, or adolescence NOS
	314	Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder
	315	Learning and communication disorders
DSM-5	299	Pervasive developmental disorders
	3072	Tic disorders
	3073	Stereotypic movement disorder
	31381	Oppositional defiant disorder
	31389	Reactive attachment disorder of infancy or early childhood
	3139	Disorder of infancy, childhood, or adolescence NOS

### Appendix C: ICD-10 and DSM codes used to define neurodevelopmental disorders.

	314	Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder
	315	Learning and communication disorders
ICD-10-CM	F80	Specific developmental disorders of speech and language
	F81	Specific developmental disorders of scholastic skills
	F82	Specific developmental disorder of motor function
	F83	Mixed specific developmental disorders
	F84	Pervasive developmental disorders
	F88	Other disorders of psychological development
	F89	Unspecified disorder of psychological development
	F90	Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder
	F91	Conduct disorders
	F933	Sibling rivalry disorder
	F938	Other childhood emotional disorders
	F939	Childhood emotional disorder NOS

# Appendix D. ICD-10 and DCM codes used to define substance-induced psychotic

CODE TYPE	Codes	Description
	F105	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol, psychotic disorder
	F107	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
	F115	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of opioids, psychotic disorder
	F117	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of opioids, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
	F125	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cannabinoids, psychotic disorder
	F127	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cannabinoids, residual and late- onset psychotic disorder
	F135	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics, psychotic disorder
	F137	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
	F145	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine, psychotic disorder
	F147	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of cocaine, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
	F155	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants including caffeine, psychotic disorder
F157caffeine, residual and late-onset psychotic disorderMental and behavioural disorders due to use of hallucinogens, psycF165disorder		Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of other stimulants including caffeine, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
		Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of hallucinogens, psychotic disorder
		Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of hallucinogens, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
	F175	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of tobacco, psychotic disorder
	F177	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of tobacco, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
	F185	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents, psychotic disorder
	F187	Mental and behavioural disorders due to use of volatile solvents, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
	F195	Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of psychoactive substances, psychotic disorder
ICD- 10	F197	Mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple drug use and use of psychoactive substances, residual and late-onset psychotic disorder
	2913	Alcohol-induced psychotic disorder, with hallucinations
DSM-	2915	Alcohol-induced psychotic disorder, with delusions
IV	2921	Substance-induced psychotic disorder

\_\_\_\_

DSM-	2919	Alcohol-induced psychotic disorder
V	2929	Substance-induced psychotic disorder
OHIP		
DX	292	Drug psychosis
	F1015	Alcohol abuse with alcohol-induced psychotic disorder
	F1025	Alcohol dependence with alcohol-induced psychotic disorder
	F1095	Alcohol use, unspecified with alcohol-induced psychotic disorder
	F1115	Opioid abuse with opioid-induced psychotic disorder
	F1125	Opioid dependence with opioid-induced psychotic disorder
	F1195	Opioid use, unspecified with opioid-induced psychotic disorder
	F1215	Cannabis abuse with psychotic disorder
	F1225	Cannabis dependence with psychotic disorder
	F1295	Cannabis use, unspecified with psychotic disorder
	F1315	Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic abuse with sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic- induced psychotic disorder
	F1325	Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic dependence with sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic-induced psychotic disorder
	F1395	Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic use, unspecified with sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic-induced psychotic disorder
	F1415	Cocaine abuse with cocaine-induced psychotic disorder
	F1425	Cocaine dependence with cocaine-induced psychotic disorder
	F1495	Cocaine use, unspecified with cocaine-induced psychotic disorder
	F1515	Other stimulant abuse with stimulant-induced psychotic disorder
	F1525	Other stimulant dependence with stimulant-induced psychotic disorder
	F1595	Other stimulant use, unspecified with stimulant-induced psychotic disorder
	F1615	Hallucinogen abuse with hallucinogen-induced psychotic disorder
	F1625	Hallucinogen dependence with hallucinogen-induced psychotic disorder
	F1695	Hallucinogen use, unspecified with hallucinogen-induced psychotic disorder
	F1815	Inhalant abuse with inhalant-induced psychotic disorder
	F1825	Inhalant dependence with inhalant-induced psychotic disorder
	F1895	Inhalant use, unspecified with inhalant-induced psychotic disorder
	F1915	Other psychoactive substance abuse with psychoactive substance-induced psychotic disorder
	F1925	Other psychoactive substance dependence with psychoactive substance- induced psychotic disorder
ICD- 10-CM	F1995	Other psychoactive substance use, unspecified with psychoactive substance- induced psychotic disorder

CODE	Codes	
TYPE	F07	Description           Personality and behavioral disorders due to known physiological
	1.07	condition
	F21	Schizotypal disorder
	F50	Eating disorders
	F51	Nonorganic sleep disorders
	F60	Specific personality disorders
	F64	Gender identity disorders
	F65	Disorders of sexual preference
	F66	Other sexual disorders
	F68	Other disorders of adult personality and behaviour
	F69	Unspecified disorder of adult personality and behaviour
	F45	Somatoform disorders
	F43	Reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders
	F941	Reactive attachment disorder of childhood
	F942	Disinhibited attachment disorder of childhood
	F985	Stuttering [stammering]
	F986	Cluttering
	F950	Transient tic disorder
	F951	Chronic motor or vocal tic disorder
	F952	Combined vocal and multiple motor tic disorder [de la Tourette]
	F958	Other tic disorders
	F959	Tic disorder, unspecified
	F984	Stereotyped movement disorders
	F982	Feeding disorder of infancy and childhood
	F983	Pica of infancy and childhood
	F980	Nonorganic enuresis
	F981	Nonorganic encopresis
	F988	Other specified behavioural and emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence
ICD-10	F989	Unspecified behavioural and emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence
DSM-5	301	Personality disorders

Appendix E: ICD-10 and DSM codes used to define "other mental disorders" category.

	3010	Paranoid personality disorder
	3012	Schizoid/schizotypal personality disorder
	3014	Obsessive-compulsive personality disorder
	3015	Histrionic personality disorder
	3016	Dependent personality disorder
	3017	Antisocial personality disorder
	30181	Narcissistic personality disorder
	30182	Avoidant personality disorder
	30183	Borderline personality disorder
	30189	Other personality disorders
	3019	Personality disorder not otherwise specified
	302	Sexual disorders
	307	Feeding & eating disorders of infancy/childhood, tic disorders, elimination disorders, stereotypic movement disorder, eating disorders, primary sleep disorders
	3101	Personality change due to general medical condition
	3083	Acute stress disorder
	309	Adjustment disorders
	3090	Adjustment disorder with depressed mood
	30924	Adjustment disorder with anxiety
	30928	Adjustment disorder with mixed anxiety and depressed mood
	3093	Adjustment disorder with disturbance of conduct
	3094	Adjustment disorder with mixed disturbance of emotions and conduct
	30981	Posttraumatic stress disorder
	30989	Other specified trauma- and stressor-related disorder
	3099	Adjustment disorder unspecified
	31389	Reactive attachment disorder
	F07	Personality and behavioral disorders due to known physiological condition
	F21	Schizotypal disorder
	F50	Eating disorders
	F51	Nonorganic sleep disorders
	F60	Specific personality disorders
	F64	Gender identity disorders
	F65	Disorders of sexual preference
	F66	Other sexual disorders
ICD-10-	F68	Other disorders of adult personality and behaviour
CM	F69	Unspecified disorder of adult personality and behaviour

	F45	Somatoform disorders
	F43	Reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders
	F941	Reactive attachment disorder of childhood
	F942	Disinhibited attachment disorder of childhood
	F985	Stuttering [stammering]
	F986	Cluttering
	F950	Transient tic disorder
	F951	Chronic motor or vocal tic disorder
	F952	Combined vocal and multiple motor tic disorder [de la Tourette]
	F958	Other tic disorders
	F959	Tic disorder, unspecified
	F984	Stereotyped movement disorders
	F982	Feeding disorder of infancy and childhood
	F983	Pica of infancy and childhood
	F980	Nonorganic enuresis
	F981	Nonorganic encopresis
	F988	Other specified behavioural and emotional disorders with onset usually
		occurring in childhood and adolescence
	F989	Unspecified behavioural and emotional disorders with onset usually occurring in childhood and adolescence
	301	Personality disorders
	3010	Paranoid personality disorder
	3012	Schizoid/schizotypal personality disorder
	3014	Obsessive-compulsive personality disorder
	3015	Histrionic personality disorder
	3016	Dependent personality disorder
	3017	Antisocial personality disorder
	30181	Narcissistic personality disorder
	30182	Avoidant personality disorder
	30183	Borderline personality disorder
	3019	Personality disorder not otherwise specified
	302	Sexual disorders
	3101	Personality change due to general medical condition
	307	Feeding & eating disorders of infancy/childhood, tic disorders, elimination disorders, stereotypic movement disorder, eating disorders, primary sleep disorders
	3083	Acute stress disorder
DSM-IV	309	Adjustment disorders
DO141-1 4	507	

3090	Adjustment disorder with depressed mood
30924	Adjustment disorder with anxiety
30928	Adjustment disorder with mixed anxiety and depressed mood
3093	Adjustment disorder with disturbance of conduct
3094	Adjustment disorder with mixed disturbance of emotions and conduct
30981	Posttraumatic stress disorder
3099	Adjustment disorder unspecified
31389	Reactive attachment disorder

	Methamphetamine/ Amphetamine-Positive	Methamphetamine/ Amphetamine-Negativ	ve
	Total (N=25,702)	Total (N=179,282)	Standardized Difference
Age group, I	N (%)		
12-14	77 (0.3%)	2,810 (1.6%)	0.132
15-19	1,198 (4.7%)	15,768 (8.8%)	0.166
20-24	2,609 (10.2%)	17,430 (9.7%)	0.014
25-29	3,886 (15.1%)	16,895 (9.4%)	0.174
30-34	4,246 (16.5%)	15,308 (8.2%)	0.243
35-39	3,605 (15.0%)	14,648 (8.2%)	0.187
40-44	987 (9.4%)	13,850 (7.7%)	0.084
45-49	2,234 (8.7%)	14,951 (8.3%)	0.013
50-54	2,063 (8.0%)	18,500 (10.3%)	0.079
55-59	1,521 (5.9%)	18,673 (10.4%)	0.165
60-64	898 (3.5%)	14,410 (8.0%)	0.196
65-69	480 (1.9%)	9,795 (5.5%)	0.192
70-74	283 (1.1%)	6,244 (3.5%)	0.160

Appendix F Distribution of ages by methamphetamine/amphetamine test result

	Methamphetam	Methamphetamine/Amphetamine-Positive			Methamphetamine/Amphetamine-Negative			
	Females (N=10,554)	Males (N=15,148)	Standardized differences (Between sexes)	Females (N=78,183)	Males (N=101,099)	Standardized differences (Between sexes)	Standardized differences (Between females)	Standardized differences (Between males)
Demographics								
Age group, N (%)								
12-14	40 (0.4%)	37 (0.2%)	0.024	1,652 (2.1%)	1,158 (1.2%)	0.076	0.157	0.109
15-19	568 (5.4%)	630 (4.2%)	0.057	7,959 (10.2%)	7,809 (7.7%)	0.086	0.180	0.151
20-24	1,198 (11.4%)	1,411 (9.3%)	0.067	7,723 (9.9%)	9,707 (9.6%)	0.009	0.048	0.010
25-29	1,666 (15.8%)	2,220 (14.7%)	0.031	7,153 (9.2%)	9,742 (9.6%)	0.017	0.202	0.154
30-34	1,713 (16.2%)	2,533 (16.7)	0.013	6,303 (7.7%)	9,005 (8.6%)	0.030	0.252	0.235
35-39	1,413 (13.4%)	2,192 (14.5%)	0.031	6,122 (7.8%)	8,526 (8.4%)	0.022	0.181	0.190
40-44	2,602 (10.1%)	1,615 (10.7%)	0.044	5,833 (7.5%)	8,017 (7.9%)	0.018	0.068	0.094
45-49	868 (8.2%)	1,366 (9.0%)	0.028	6,400 (8.2%)	8,551 (8.5%)	0.010	0.001	0.020
50-54	792 (7.5%)	1,271 (8.3%)	0.033	7,823 (10.0%)	10,677 (10.6%)	0.018	0.089	0.074
55-59	596 (5.7%)	925 (6.1%)	0.020	7,777 (10.0%)	10,896 (10.8%)	0.027	0.161	0.169
60-64	355 (3.4%)	543 (3.6%)	0.012	6,177 (7.9%)	8,233 (8.1%)	0.009	0.198	0.195
65-69	224 (2.1%)	256 (1.7%)	0.032	4,334 (5.5%)	5,461 (5.4%)	0.006	0.179	0.202
70-74	134 (1.3%)	149 (1.0%)	0.027	2,927 (3.7%)	3,317 (3.3%)	0.025	0.159	0.160

Appendix G Distribution of ages by sex for each exposure group.

## Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Priyadarshini (Priya) Thandrasisla			
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2016-2021 BMSc			
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2021-2024 MSc Epidemiology and Biostatistics Candidate			
Honours and Awards:	Western Admission Scholarship 2016			
	Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2021-2023			
Related Work Experience	Research Analyst ICES Central May 2024-Present			
	Clinical Trials Research Assistant Parkwood Institute 2022-Present			
	Research Assistant Parkwood Institute 2022-2023			
	Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario 2023			

#### **Poster Presentations:**

Thandrasisla, P., Adams, J., Spence, C., Gupta, A., Skinner, S., Shojaie, E., & Silverman, M. Infective Endocarditis in Women Who Inject Drugs. London Health Research Day. June 2023. London, Ontario.

Thandrasisla, P., Adams, J., Spence, C., Gupta, A., Skinner, S., Shojaie, E., & Silverman, M. Infective Endocarditis in Women Who Inject Drugs. Internal Medicine Resident Research Day. May 2023. London, Ontario.